

Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences



Faculty of Applied Ecology, Agricultural Sciences and Biotechnology

Natalia Kozak

Mercury accumulation in fish and lake food webs

From molecules to ecosystems

PhD Applied Ecology and Biotechnology 2023



Natalia Kozak

Mercury accumulation in fish and lake food webs – from molecules to ecosystems



Printed by: Flisa Trykkeri A/S

Place of publication: Elverum

© Natalia Kozak (2023)

Faculty of Applied Ecology, Agricultural Sciences and Biotechnology, Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences (INN), Department of Forestry and Wildlife Management, Evenstad, Norway

This material is protected by copyright law. Without explicit authorization, reproduction is only allowed in so far it is permitted by law or by agreement with a collecting society.

PhD Thesis in Applied Ecology and Biotechnology no. (33)

ISBN printed version: 978-82-8380-422-5

ISBN digital version: 978-82-8380-423-2

ISSN printed version: 2703-819X

ISSN digital version: 2703-8181

Abstract

Mercury is a toxic heavy metal bioaccumulating in fish and aquatic food webs that is prone to elevated accumulation due to various ecological factors. Thus, mercury monitoring in diverse types of lake ecosystems is needed to evaluate negative impacts on the biota and to assess human fish food sources. This thesis focused on different fish species and food webs from diverse subarctic lakes to distinguish key molecular, biological, and environmental factors potentially explaining total mercury content (THg). The relationship between mercury and amino acids, growth dilution, bioaccumulation at the base of the food web, and biomagnification were considered. To address these issues, food webs from nineteen lakes located on climate and productivity gradient of a watercourse on the border of Sweden and Finland were studied. In addition to THg, several biological (e.g. body size, age, stomach content), molecular (C:N ratio, amino acids) and environmental variables (e.g. air temperature, nutrients, catchment and lake properties) were sampled. Three General Linear Models (GLM) were used to test how different factors may explain THg in biota on individual, population and community levels. The first objective focused on detecting amino acids that potentially affect mercury bioaccumulation. Secondly, mercury growth dilution was evaluated using a novel metric of Mercury Growth Ratio (MGR). Lastly, mercury biomagnification and content at the base of the food web were explored in different lake ecosystems.

From 16 examined amino acids only proline significantly decreased with increasing THg. Moreover, the GLM indicated cysteine low content can enhance THg bioaccumulation in fish. Mercury growth dilution was evident in six fish species and the most efficient dilution was observed in mesotrophic lakes with high habitat and prey availability in relation to total fish abundance. Cold, oligotrophic lakes showed higher mercury biomagnification mainly due to their less complex food webs in ecosystems with large catchments. Contrary, THg at the base of food web and in top predator increased in more complex food webs in eutrophic lakes showed that biological factors explained 80% of all model variation, whereas a smaller amount was explained by environmental (14%) and molecular (6%) factors. Increasing fish age, high trophic level, slow growth, and low lipid food source (low C:N ratio), were decisive variables increasing mercury content in fish. In general, intermediate environmental conditions represented the best habitat supporting mercury growth dilution and biodilution.

Keywords: amino acids, bioaccumulation, biomagnification in food webs, climateproductivity gradient, growth dilution, subarctic lakes, total mercury

i

Sammendrag

Kvikksølv er et giftig tungmetall som bioakkumulerer i fisk og akvatiske næringsnett og som ofte gir forhøyet akkumulering på grunn av ulike økologiske faktorer. Det trengs derfor overvåkning av kvikksølv i ulike innsjø-økosystemer for å evaluere negative påvirkninger på biota og for å vurdere fisk som matkilde til mennesker. Denne avhandlingen fokuserte på ulike fiskearter og næringsnett fra subarktiske innsjøer for å karakterisere nøkkelfaktorer på molekylært, biologisk og miljøfaktornivå som kunne forklare totalt kvikksølv innhold (THg). Her ble forholdet mellom kvikksølv og aminosyrer, vekst-fortynning, bioakkumulering ved basis av næringsnettet og biomagnifisering betraktet. For å vurdere disse forholdene ble det studert nitten innsjøer langs en klima- og produktivitsgradient i et vassdrag på grensen mellom Sverige og Finland. I tillegg til THg ble det innsamlet biologiske data (f. eks. kroppsstørrelse, alder, mage innhold), og data på molekylært nivå (C:N ratio, aminosyrer), samt miljøvariable (f.eks. luft-temperatur, næringsstoffer, nedslagsfelt og innsjøforhold). Tre generelle lineære modeller (GLM) ble benyttet for å teste hvordan ulike faktorer kunne forklare THg i biota på individuelt, populasjon og samfunnsnivå. Først ble det fokusert på å detektere aminosyrer som potensielt kunne påvirke kvikksølvets bioakkumulering. Sekundært så ble kvikksølvets vekstfortynnig evaluert ved bruk av en ny utregning gitt som Kvikksølv Vekst Ratio (MGR). Til slutt ble det undersøkt biomagnifisering av kvikksølv og innhold ved basis av næringsnettet i ulike innsjø-økosystemer.

Av de 16 undersøkte aminosyrene var det bare prolin som signifikant sank med økende THg. GLM indikerte at et lavt cystein innhold kan øke THg bioakkumulering i fisk. Kvikksølv vekst fortynning ble funnet i seks fiskearter der den mest effektive fortynningen var i mesotrofe innsjøer med store habitat og byttedyr tilgjengeligheter i forhold til total fiskemengde. Kalde, oligotrofe innsjøer hadde høyere kvikksølv biomagnifisering hovedsaklig grunnet mindre komplekse næringsnett i økosystemer med store nedslagsfelt. I kontrast, THg ved basis av næringsnettet og i topp predatorer økte i mere komplekse næringsnett i eutrofe innsjøer til tross for kvikksølv biofortynning i innsjøens totale biomasse. De oppsummerende resultatene i denne avhandlingen viste at biologiske faktorer forklarte 80% av all modell variasjon, mens mindre ble forklart av miljømessige (14%) og molekylære faktorer (6%). Økende fiskealder, høyt trofisk nivå, sen vekst og næringskilder med lavt lipid-innhold (lav C:N ratio), var viktige variable når det gjaldt å forklare økende kvikksølvinnhold i fisk. En generell betraktning er at intermediære miljømessige forhold representerer det beste habitatet for kvikksølv vekst fortynning.

Nøkkelord: aminosyrer, bioakkumulering, biomagnifisering i næringsnett, klimaproduktivitet gradient, subarktiske innsjøer, totalt kvikksølv, vekstfortynning

Preface

This PhD thesis was based on database build-up in multiple projects, master, and doctoral programmes since 2009 in collaboration with the University of Helsinki, Kilpisjärvi Biological Station, Lammi Biological Station, and the University of Jyväskylä. The broad topic on changes in mercury levels in fish required supervision from specialists in fish studies, ecology, biochemistry, and toxicology. This thesis was written with guidance, numerous discussions, and inspiration from all supervisors:

Main supervisor:

PhD Kimmo K. Kahilainen affiliated with INN, Department of Forestry and Wildlife Management and the University of Helsinki, Lammi Biological Station, Finland.

Co-supervisors:

- **PhD Kjartan Østbye** affiliated with INN, Department of Forestry and Wildlife Management and University of Oslo, Department of Biosciences, Norway
- **PhD Sami J. Taipale** affiliated with the University of Jyväskylä, Department of Biological and Environmental Science, Finland.

The Author

Natalia Kozak nk.natalia.kozak@gmail.com

Table of contents

Abst	tract	•••••	i						
Sam	mend	rag							
Prefacev									
List	List of figures ix								
List	List of papers								
1.	Introduction								
	1.1 Mercury		cury1						
	1.2	Mer	cury in the environment 2						
	1.2	.1	Mercury cycle						
	1.2.2		Environmental factors affecting changes in mercury kinetics 4						
	1.3	Mer	cury in biota5						
	1.3.1		From the environment to primary producers 5						
	1.3.2		Bioaccumulation and biomagnification6						
	1.3.3		Mercury pathways in fish						
	1.3	.4	Effect of life history traits and diet on mercury9						
	1.4	Ecos	system processes determining mercury fate11						
2.	Objec	tives							
3.	Material and methods								
	3.1	Stuc	dy area						
	3.2	Sam	pling						
	3.2	.1	Fish						
	3.2	.2	Lower trophic levels (Paper III)						
	3.3	Labo	pratory analysis						
	3.3	.1	Mercury						
	3.3.2		Stable isotopes						
	3.3	.3	Amino acids (Paper I)						
	3.4	Stat	istical analysis and metrics 20						
	3.4.1		Environmental factors						
	3.4.2		THg age and weight correction21						
	3.4.3		Trophic level (Paper I, III)						
	3.4.4		Growth rate (Paper I, II)						
	3.4.5		THg baseline and TMS (Paper III)						

	3.4	l.6	General Linear Models	24		
4.	Results and discussion					
	4.1	Me	rcury in biota from Fennoscandia and subarctic	26		
	4.2 Amino acids relation to mercury in pike (Paper I)		ino acids relation to mercury in pike (Paper I)	26		
	4.2.1 Mercury attraction		Mercury attraction to specific amino acids	27		
	4.2.2		Climate and productivity impact on amino acids and mercury	27		
	4.2.3		Molecular impact on THg in pike against other factors	28		
	4.3	Gro	wth dilution of mercury in fish (Paper II)	29		
	4.3	8.1	Mercury growth dilution	29		
	4.3.2 Best condition4.3.3 Factors affecti		Best conditions for mercury growth dilution	30		
			Factors affecting mercury growth ratio	30		
	4.4 Mercury biomagnification in food webs (Paper III)		rcury biomagnification in food webs (Paper III)	31		
	4.4	l.1	Mercury biomagnification in food webs	31		
	4.4	1.2	The base and top of the food web	32		
	4.4	l.3	Environmental factors	33		
5.	General discussion			34		
	5.1 Environmental factors vs biological factors			34		
	5.2 Mercury reduction in biota			36		
5.3 One Health		38				
6.	Conclusions					
7.	. Caveats and future directions41					
Acknowledgements						
Ref	erence	s		43		
Dissertation articles						
	Paper I 59					
	Paper II					
	Paper III					

List of figures

Figure 2 Mercury biosorption types (1-4) and bioaccumulation process in algae. Hg = mercury ion, HPro = hydroxyproline protein, Cys = cysteine, Fe = iron ion, H⁺ = hydrogen ion, MeHg = methylmercury, UV = solar radiation. Upper index roman numerals indicate oxidation state.

Figure 4 Total mercury (THg) and inorganic mercury (Hg^{I/II}) pathways in freshwater fish. Arrows from left to right represent mercury diffusive (skin), respiratory (gills), and dietary intake and diffusive, urinary, reproductive, digestive, and respiratory elimination. Organs numbers are ordered relatively from high to low mercury content based on Kasper et al. (2009), Kwaśniak and Falkowska (2012), Wang and Wang (2015), Peng et al. (2016), and Man et al. (2019).

Figure 6 Northern Fennoscandia indicating (a) the location of Tornio-Muonio watercourse on the border of Sweden and Finland (b). Studied tributary lakes are numbered (1–19) corresponding to climate-productivity gradient. Constant lines indicate the occurrence of coniferous treelines, asterisks indicate meteorological stations with values of mean temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm) of open water season (June–September) in 1981–2010, and arrows indicate flowing direction of the watercourse [modified from Hayden et al. (2017)].

Figure 7 Principal components biplots of loadings marked with arrows and scores representing lakes marked with numbered dots of (a) climate-productivity gradient (PC1), catchment properties (PC2) and (b) lake morphometrics (PC3). The lake number corresponds to PC1, first indicating oligotrophic cold lakes in the north and ending in the southern eutrophic lakes. Altitude (Alt), precipitation (Precip), air temperature (Temp), total nitrogen (totN), total phosphorus (totP), forested area (Forest), tree volume in a forested area (Tree), sparse vegetation (Sp.veg), compensation depth in a lake (z.comp), ditch length (Ditch), catchment area (CA), peatland area (PA), the ratio of catchment and lake areas (CA:LA), lake area (LA), lake volume (LV), and lake mean depth (z.mean).

 Figure 10 Mercury a) biomagnification in three selected food webs, b) biomagnification along different lengths of lacustrine food chains (FCL), c) content in top predatory fish, pike, in various climate and productivity properties, and d) relation of basal THg and algae THg content. Increasing value of climate-productivity gradient (PC1) indicates warmer and more productive lakes. The lake number corresponds to the lake order on the map (Fig. 6). 31

List of tables

 Table 2 List of collected fish species from study lakes. All are native species, except peled whitefish.

 17

Table 3 Combined GLM results from all three papers. Plus and minus sign represents positive or negative correlation of given factor in the model, respectively. Significant, strong factors are bolded. Abbreviations: THg – total mercury content (age corrected), MGR – Mercury Growth Ratio, TMS – Trophic Magnification Slope, THg baseline – minimal total mercury content assimilated in primary produces from the environment, TL – trophic level, FCL – Food Chain Length, PC1 – climate-productivity gradient, PC2 – catchment properties, PC3 – lake morphometrics, $P_{C:N}$ – top predator C:N ratio as lipid content proxy, P_{age} – top predator age, δ_{BMI} – density of benthic macroinvertebrates, CPUE_{TOT} – relative total abundance of fish, L_{∞} – asymptotic length, Cys – cysteine content.

List of papers

Paper I

Kozak N., Kahilainen K. K., Pakkanen H. K., Hayden B., Østbye K., Taipale S. J. (2023) Mercury and amino acid content relations in northern pike (*Esox lucius*) in subarctic lakes along climate-productivity gradient. *Manuscript, submitted ER-23-2156.*

Paper II

Kozak N., Østbye K., Hayden B., Nyberg K., Taipale S. J., Kahilainen K. K. (2023) Mercury growth dilution in different fish species along climate-productivity gradient of subarctic lakes. *Manuscript, submitted EES-23-1613.*

Paper III

Kozak N., Ahonen S. A., Keva O., Østbye K., Taipale S. J., Hayden B., Kahilainen K. K. (2021) Environmental and biological factors are joint drivers of mercury biomagnification in subarctic lake food webs along a climate and productivity gradient. *Science of the Total Environment 779*, 146261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146261

1. Introduction

1.1 Mercury

Mercury (Hg) is a toxic metal naturally occurring in the environment, mainly close to volcanic rocks and hot-spring deposits in the form of mineral ore cinnabar (HgS). Since 5000 BC, humans have valued cinnabar for its aesthetics and found its use as a pigment for decorative or protective purposes and as a preservative for human bones (Martín-Gil et al. 1995). With time, humans learned to obtain elemental mercury via distillation and found its further use. Mercury is a unique metal with a liquid form at room temperature resulting in mercury getting its first name from the Latin *hydrargyrum* (Hg), which means «silver water» (from Greek *hydros*, water and *argyros*, silver). Additionally, mercury does not adhere, has expanding volume properties, creates amalgams or liquid alloys with other metals, and has good electrical conductivity (Hepler and Olofsson 1975). Thus, throughout human history, mercury has been used extensively in alchemy, chemistry, medicine, assassinations, mining, industry, experimental science, and technology (Parsons and Percival 2005).

This has lead to mercury beeing highly valued. However, mercury in any form has a toxic effect on humans and animals (Table 1). Elemental mercury (Hg⁰) has the least toxic effect (lethal dose LD₁₀ = 1429 mg kg⁻¹ body weight) because of its low solubility in water (Langford and Ferner 1999). Solubility of inorganic mercury (Hg¹ and Hg¹¹) in water increases with a higher oxidation state, thus mercury salts may differ in toxicity level (LD for Hg¹¹ can be as small as 7 mg kg⁻¹). However, the most toxic form is organic methylmercury (MeHg) because of its solubility in lipids. Depending on the mercury form and dose, it triggers different body responses in humans in the nervous, digestive, and immune systems, as well as in the lungs, kidneys, eyes, and skin (WHO 2007). Elemental and inorganic mercury poisoning mainly occurs when inhaled over several years, while organic mercury is accumulated via digestive system and can be found mainly in seafood and fish.

Throughout history, mercury levels were measured in the environment, however little action was taken to reduce anthropogenic mercury emission until a disaster occurred. From 1932 to 1968, a chemical company developing plastic, drugs, and perfume dumped 27 tons of organic

mercury waste into Minamata Bay in Japan. As a result, seafood accumulated high mercury concentrations and poisoned birds, cats, and humans, causing dysfunction of the nervous system, illness and deaths, later defined as Minamata disease. Many national mercury monitoring programs were initiated after the Minamata case and after decades of monitoring, Minamata Convention was adapted in 2013 with major aim to reduce mercury anthropogenic release sources to the environment globally (UNEP 2019). The Minamata Convention on Mercury document with text and annexes can be found at mercuryconvention.org.

Table 1. Mercury species, main sources of exposure, health effects and oral lethal dose (LD) in humans. LD₁₀ is a lethal dose for 10% population, while LD is an estimated lethal dose from miners' historical medical records for inorganic mercury and mercury measurements in human hair from victims of Minamata disease for organic mercury.

Hg form	Main sources	Health effects	Lethal dose (references)
Elemental	Fossil fuel combustion,	Tremors, emotional changes,	LD ₁₀ = 1429 mg kg ⁻¹ ,
Hg ⁰	gold mining, industrial	insomnia, weakness, muscle	ca. 100 g for a 70 kg adult
	environment, dental	atrophy, headaches, sensation	(Parsons and Percival
	amalgams, technology.	disorder, changes in nerve	2005)
		responses, and lung damage.	
Inorganic	Natural occurrence in	Impair digestive system and	Hg ^{II} LD = 7 mg kg ⁻¹ ,
Hg ^I and Hg ^{II}	volcanic rocks, industry,	neurological system. Can cause skin	ca. 0.5 g for a 70 kg adult
	chemicals, cosmetics.	rash and kidney dysfunction.	(Park and Zheng 2012)
Organic	Seafood, fish.	Impaired neurological system and	LD = 2 mg kg ⁻¹ ,
MeHg		development, cognitive thinking,	ca. 0.15 g for a 70 kg adult
		language, memory, attention, and	(Hong et al. 2012)
		fine motor and visual-spatial skills.	

1.2 Mercury in the environment

1.2.1 Mercury cycle

Mercury has its natural sources in the environment, both on a continuous low level by weathering processes and periodic mass release via volcanic eruptions creating a natural background level in the environment (UNEP 2013). However, many anthropogenic mercury sources formed since the gold rush and the industrial revolution as regional leakage of mercury waste to water or by-products gaseous emission to the atmosphere, and further transported by air masses worldwide (Streets et al. 2011). Nowadays, numerous



Figure 1 Mercury cycle in the environment. Hg⁰ elemental mercury, Hg^{I-II} inorganic mercury, and MeHg organic mercury (modified from MacKenzieEJewell, self-published work).

anthropogenic sources of mercury are recognized in the industry, including fossil fuel combustion and mining, which are estimated to cover about 31% of total annual mercury emissions to the atmosphere (UNEP 2018). On the other hand, only 6% of total annual mercury emission is estimated to originate from natural sources, whereas the remaining 63% is a result of re-emission and re-mobilization of mercury cycling in the environment from biomass burning and ocean evasion (Outridge et al. 2018)(Fig.1).

Mercury pollution is a global issue due to long-range mercury transport by air masses, where high toxic concentrations can be found in the atmosphere, soil, water, and organisms of wild and barren habitats, such as near the northern and southern poles (AMAP 2011, Obrist et al. 2017). Elemental and inorganic mercury are the main forms emitted to the atmosphere, then deposited in surface waters and soil, where a significant part is subject to vegetation uptake. Mercury changes its oxidation state in specific conditions and by bacteria in waters, air, wetlands, and soil (O'Driscoll et al. 2005). Furthermore, mercury changes its inorganic form to organic in anoxic conditions or/and by bacteria in the methylation process (Gilmour and Henry 1991, Gilmour et al. 1992, Kerin et al. 2006). Mercury in lakes finds its additional sources from river input and catchment runoff, mainly during spring snowmelt and all year round with

precipitation. Mainly organic and inorganic mercury enter surface waters, however catchment runoff from wetlands may be enriched in methylated mercury (Porvari et al. 2003). Part of inorganic mercury is sedimented at the bottom of lakes and oceans, where it can be resuspended back to the water column or buried in soil and later in the deep mineral reservoir, primarily as a cinnabar mineral.

1.2.2 Environmental factors affecting changes in mercury kinetics

Mercury cycle kinetics highly depend on multiple factors, such as mercury leakage and emission rates, as well as physicochemical conditions determining mercury deposition and methylation (AMAP 2021). In the lacustrine environment, the primary mercury source comes from the catchment area and air deposition. Mercury input from both sources can be altered by climate change (Obrist et al. 2018). Increased air temperature increases precipitation, enhancing mercury flux from the atmosphere to lake and catchment area (Sanei et al. 2010). Furthermore, increased temperature favour oxygen depletion in lakes, enhancing mercury methylation (Rask et al. 2010). In the subarctic region, climate warming melts the surface ice layer on lakes, shortening winter season and opening the surface for mercury deposition (Brown and Duguay 2010).

Catchment properties, such as area, terrain (mountain, forest, wetland, plains) and anthropogenic activity, play a significant role in mercury leakage and speciation (Porvari and Verta 2003). Anthropogenic activities, such as deforestation or ditching, are hotspots for mercury, dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and nutrients from soil reservoirs (Eklöf et al. 2018, Lepistö et al. 2021). Newly exposed inorganic mercury can be transformed into organic form in many processes that involve specific conditions (i.e. anoxic conditions and low pH), bacterial activity and increased dissolved organic carbon (DOC) (Watras et al. 1998, Branfireun et al. 2020). Such specific conditions can be found in wetland areas and at the bottom of lakes (Compeau and Bartha 1984, Gilmour and Henry 1991, Gilmour et al. 1992). Additionally, intensive leakage of nutrients (e.g. total nitrogen) may enhance bacterial activity and mercury methylation (Branfireun and Roulet 2002). The highest methylation rates were generally observed in acidic wetlands, therefore catchments with large peatland share are prone to release proportionally more methylmercury than inorganic mercury (Sanei et al. 2010, Tjerngren et al. 2012). Naturally, the size of catchment and its proportion to lake area can

4

determine the pollution level in the whole lake or specific habitats (Sonesten 2001). The environmental factors that regulate mercury methylation and demethylation processes further regulate mercury uptake by biota.

1.3 Mercury in biota

1.3.1 From the environment to primary producers

All forms of mercury are present in the aquatic environment and primary producers can absorb all forms through two processes: metal biosorption or bioaccumulation (Henriques et al. 2015). Biosorption process is regulated by physicochemical pathways where mostly elemental and inorganic mercury can be passively attached on the surface (adsorption) or inside (absorption) organic cell wall (Chojnacka 2010) (Fig. 2). Other biosorption types involve ion exchange, where, e.g. mercury Hg^I competes with hydrogen ion (H⁺) (Chiarle et al. 2000) or Hg^{II} succumbs photochemical reduction (Deng et al. 2008). Bioaccumulation process uses a different mechanism, where mercury is actively absorbed by metabolic pathways inside the cell. Both processes concentrate inorganic and organic forms of mercury in plants and algae.

Amino acids are biomolecules which play an essential role in mercury biosorption and bioaccumulation in algae. The most significant impact was observed in amino acids containing thiol group in its structure (i.e. cysteine, methionine), that binds with methylmercury (Rabenstein and Fairhurst 1975, Merrifield et al. 2004). MeHg attachment to amino acids is



Figure 2 Mercury biosorption types (1-4) and bioaccumulation process in algae. Hg = mercury ion, HPro = hydroxyproline protein, Cys = cysteine, Fe = iron ion, H⁺ = hydrogen ion, MeHg = methylmercury, UV = solar radiation. Upper index roman numerals indicate oxidation state.

mainly passive (through biosorption), however some algal species actively absorb organic mercury (Lee and Fisher 2016). Additionally, Zhao et al. (2021) found that some algae species in a symbiotic system with methylating bacteria had increased methylmercury content in the form of methylmercury-cysteine complex (MeHg-Cys complex). Compared to cysteine, proline does not contain thiol group in its structure, however its unique structure with imine group (a carbon-nitrogen double bond) allows mercury adsorption (Gómez et al. 1989). Hydroxyproline-proteins occur in the cell wall structure of algae (Gotelli and Cleland 1968), therefore proline is a potential biosorbent of inorganic mercury, while high proline content inside plants cell can have a detoxification effect (Kumar et al. 2017). Moreover, high proline content in plants was found as a defensive response of organisms due to heavy metal stress (Kapoor et al. 2021).

1.3.2 Bioaccumulation and biomagnification

Mercury bioaccumulation occurs when uptake and deposit of mercury content in an organism exceeds its elimination (i.e. through respiration and excretion) over time, i.e. with increasing size and age (Fig. 3a) (Morel et al. 1998, Dang and Wang 2012). Aquatic organisms are prone to mercury bioaccumulation due to favourable conditions enhancing mercury methylation and uptake by algae (UNEP 2018). In contrast, mercury methylation in the terrestrial ecosystem is enhanced only in specific areas, such as wetlands, therefore MeHg uptake is low (Porvari et al. 2003, Gworek et al. 2020). Mercury is mainly transferred to consumers on higher trophic levels via diet (Hall et al. 1997, Watras et al. 1998). In this process, mercury content increases with each trophic level and is called biomagnification (Fig. 3b) (Morel et al. 1998, Lavoie et al. 2013). Though mercury content increases in consumers, the ratio of mercury species varies. Methylmercury is a bioavailable form of mercury due to its high lipid solubility (Langford and Ferner 1999), therefore it is the main mercury species that biomagnifes in food webs. May et al. (1987) estimated that inorganic mercury constitutes 85% of total mercury in algae, while only 15% is organic mercury. The ratio changes already in the first consumer level (in mussels), where organic mercury composition can increase up to 55%, while in fish, it reaches 73–99% depending on the fish species and trophic level (May et al. 1987). The shift in mercury composition among trophic levels is caused due to methylmercury bioavailability and efficient accumulation in organic cells (Watras and Bloom 1992). The changes in the ratio of organic and inorganic mercury are dynamic and depend on many aspects such as species, food sources, environmental conditions, and metabolism (Polak-Juszczak 2018). Thus, many studies specialize in total mercury (THg) analysis to better assess mercury impact on organisms in the environment as well as to standardize mercury analysis in the food web.

There are several approaches to estimate mercury bioaccumulation and biomagnification that are derived from mercury content in organisms and linear regression models (Fig. 3) (Borgå et al. 2012, Conder et al. 2012, Poste et al. 2015). Bioaccumulation is expressed as a difference in mercury content at the beginning and the end of measured time. In environmental studies, a zero value of mercury content is assumed at the beginning of organism life, therefore measured mercury content of captured organism at the capture time (age of the organism) is an estimate of bioaccumulation. Consequently, it is only natural for older and larger organisms to bioaccumulate more mercury, as the period of mercury bioaccumulation (organism lifespan) is longer.

Mercury biomagnification can be expressed as a slope of a linear function of mercury content (usually log-transformed) and trophic level (or stable isotope of nitrogen [δ^{15} N]) of organisms that is called Trophic Magnification Slope (TMS). Here, steeper slopes indicate greater biomagnification from the base of the food web to top predators (Cabana and Rasmussen



Figure 3 Estimates of mercury a) bioaccumulation and b) biomagnification. Black-font estimates represent log-transformed variables, while blue-font estimates are back-transformed (van der Velden et al. 2013).

7

1994). Another estimate is Trophic Magnification Factor (TMF), which indicates mercury increase between trophic levels (Borgå et al. 2012). From the same function, the intercept is the estimate of minimum mercury content assimilated by primary producers (i.e. algae) from the environment. Therefore, it can also be an estimate of minimum mercury concentration in the water column (van der Velden et al. 2013).

1.3.3 Mercury pathways in fish

Freshwater fish mainly bioaccumulate total mercury through dietary intake, however inorganic mercury can also accumulate in skin through diffusive intake and in gills through respiratory intake (Wang 2012) (Fig. 4). Due to the small compound size mercury species (both organic and inorganic) are freely movable in the organism's body while the main bounding compounds for methylmercury are amino acids (Clarkson et al. 2007). Several studies found the main mechanisms of methylmercury transport to cells, where methylmercury dissolves in the presence of lipids, changing to an active form in the digestive system, which allows diffusion to the blood circulation and binding to the thiol group of specific amino acids, such as cysteine and methionine (Aschner and Clarkson 1989, Halbach 1990, Merrifield et al. 2004, Yee et al. 2013). The formed methylmercury-cysteine complex mimics large neutral amino acid transporters, such as methionine, enabling the neurotoxic complex to act as a substrate and cross the blood-brain barrier and accumulate in the brain (Kerper et al. 1992, Simmons-Willis et al. 2002). Methylmercury-cysteine complex and free methylmercury are transported to various organs (e.g. liver, kidney, muscle or gonad), blocking amino acid function and causing organ dysfunction (Ajsuvakova et al. 2020). Fish muscles are the main accumulation point for total mercury, which mainly constitutes methylmercury (Bloom 1992). Depending on fish species and diet, the order of highly contaminated organs may vary, however, in general, high mercury content is usually found in the muscle, kidney, and liver (e.g. Kasper et al. 2009, Man et al. 2019).

There are several mercury detoxification pathways in fish (Fig. 4). The main mercury intake is via the diet, therefore the main elimination pathway is through the digestive system (Trudel and Rasmussen 1997). Intensified mercury elimination is found in fish with high cysteine content (Mok et al. 2014), where mercury forms a complex molecule with cysteine and further can be hydrolyzed to methylmercury–glutathione complex and eliminated through the



①Muscle ②Kidney ③Liver ④Skin ⑤Gill ⑥Intestine ⑦Gonad ⑧Fat

Figure 4 Total mercury (THg) and inorganic mercury (Hg^{I/II}) pathways in freshwater fish. Arrows from left to right represent mercury diffusive (skin), respiratory (gills), and dietary intake and diffusive, urinary, reproductive, digestive, and respiratory elimination. Organs numbers are ordered relatively from high to low mercury content based on Kasper et al. (2009), Kwaśniak and Falkowska (2012), Wang and Wang (2015), Peng et al. (2016), and Man et al. (2019).

digestive and urinary system (Rabenstein and Fairhurst 1975, Clarkson et al. 2007). Furthermore, methylmercury can undergo demethylation in the liver and intestine, reducing toxic impact in fish (Wang et al. 2017). Additionally, total mercury bioaccumulates in small amounts in gonads reducing mercury content in fish during spawning (Madenjian et al. 2014). Inorganic mercury is eliminated mainly via ion exchange processes by the respiratory and urinary systems, as well as through diffusion through the skin (Carroll and Warwick 2017). Despite all detoxification mechanisms, the mercury intake highly exceeds its elimination, and the assimilated content is distributed throughout the body (Peng et al. 2016). Lockhart et al. (1972) estimated that only about 30% of methylmercury was reduced annually in predatory fish, indicating significant mercury bioaccumulation over time.

1.3.4 Effect of life history traits and diet on mercury

Age is an essential indicator of mercury bioaccumulation (Coelho et al. 2013). Generally, the older the organism, the higher the mercury content bioaccumulated in tissues. Naturally, with

age, fish grow in size, building up their body structure. Mercury content in fish is strongly related to body size and muscle structure (Kiessling et al. 2006, Johnston et al. 2022). Larger fish, such as predatory northern pike (*Esox lucius*), tend to accumulate more mercury than small fish, such as omnivore roach (*Rutilus rutilus*). However, mercury relation to body size varies in different fish species (Kahilainen et al. 2017, Rask et al. 2021). For example, generalist whitefish may reach >60 cm in total length in optimal conditions (Hayden et al. 2013) and contain a smaller amount of mercury than roach, while generalist perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) may reach >40 cm in total length and have similar mercury content to pike (Rask et al. 2021, Moslemi-Aqdam et al. 2022). This difference is mainly caused by prey selection, prey Hg content and availability (Johnston et al. 2022), however growth rate plays an equally important role (Essington et al. 2001, Graeb et al. 2004). Furthermore, body size can be determined by sex, where females often display larger size than males (Madenjian et al. 2012, Estlander et al. 2017).

Fish body size is regulated by growth rate, which is fast in the early life stages but stagnates rapidly after reaching maturity (Essington et al. 2001). The growth rate depends on the surplus energy the organism can obtain from a food source (Barneche and Allen 2018). The basic energy consumption of an adult fish is used for respiration, swimming, digestive system processes, and thermal and hormonal regulation (Dumas et al. 2010, Deslauriers et al. 2017). The remaining surplus energy is used for growth, reproduction, and fat production. Many studies showed that a higher growth rate could lead to low mercury content in fish muscle (Stafford and Haines 2001, Karimi et al. 2007, Ward et al. 2010). Rapid growth causes proportionally greater biomass gain to mercury content. The process is dependent on fish diet and food conversion, but it can also be affected by metabolic rates (Stafford and Haines 2001, Karimi et al. 2007, Sandheinrich and Drevnick 2016). High metabolic rates were found in active fish constantly feeding on prey (i.e. pelagic fish feeding on zooplankton), which use high energy costs for swimming (Ohlberger et al. 2007). High gain and loss of energy leave little surplus energy for growth, therefore active fish were observed to grow slower (Jobling 1981, Rennie et al. 2005). Still, high dietary intake increases mercury content in slow-growing fish (Simoneau et al. 2005, Madenjian et al. 2021). In contrast, fast-growing fish showed low mercury content indicating mercury growth dilution (Wang and Wang 2012).

Some fish species, such as brown trout (*Salmo trutta*), show an ontogenetic diet shift, where life stage determines food preference, where juvenile feed mainly on zooplankton and benthic macroinvertebrates, while adult in many species feed on other fish. The shift is evident when juveniles reach maturity, and their gape size allows them to prey on larger organisms (Pilati et al. 2007, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2019). Higher trophic level of prey increases risk of mercury bioaccumulation. The difference in food source between juvenile and adult can also result in mercury allocation in different tissues. For example, Kwaśniak and Falkowska (2012) found the highest mercury content in an adult Baltic cod (*Gadus morhua L*.) mainly in the heart, muscles, and brain, respectively, while in juvenile cod, the heart still had the highest mercury concentration, however the second organ was the brain, and then muscles.

1.4 Ecosystem processes determining mercury fate

Both abiotic and biotic components affect ecosystem processes, i.e. energy flow, water cycle, nutrient cycle and community dynamics determining mercury pathways in the environment and biota (UNEP 2018). The complexity of ecosystem processes is still studied globally and regionally to understand mercury fate and potential risks to humans (AMAP 2021). Ecosystems contain multiple specific factors, such as primary production, energy, carbon and nutrient flow through food webs, community structure and size, food chain length, and species interactions, each affecting mercury pathways on different ecology levels (Palmer 1997, Vander Zanden and Vadeboncoeur 2002, Karlsson and Byström 2005, Borgå et al. 2012, Hayden et al. 2019).

The changes in ratio of organic and inorganic mercury in biota are dynamic. For instance, mercury methylation depends on many aspects, such as intense primary production can enhance anoxic conditions (Wong et al. 1997, Karimi et al. 2016). In addition, algae-bacteria symbiosis shows higher mercury methylation rates (Zhao et al. 2021). High dissolved organic matter concentration (DOM), low oxygen concentration and low pH enhances mercury methylation (Compeau and Bartha 1984, Ravichandran 2004). Such conditions often belong to eutrophic lakes that are susceptible to lake browning in warmer climates (Hayden et al. 2019). Increased temperature and nutrient runoff from catchments boost primary production, intensifying carbon and nitrogen flow in the food web (Vander Zanden et al. 1997, Sundbäck

et al. 2006, Lepistö et al. 2021). Here, nutritionally unbalanced diets in fish can disturb metabolic rates and inhibit the protein synthesis (Jobling 1981, Cole et al. 2015) responsible for mercury detoxification (Farina and Aschner 2019).

Food source and prey availability control energy flow in the food web, shape fish community structure and species interactions, affecting mercury biomagnification (Monteiro et al. 1996, Graeb et al. 2004, Jensen et al. 2008). For instance, complex food web community structure and increased biomass can reduce mercury uptake rates from the environment to the food web (Wong et al. 1997, Todorova et al. 2015). The age and size of fish strongly influence mercury content in fish, however the body size is highly determined by food resources and growth rate (Weatherley 1976, Houlihan et al. 1993). Conducive environmental conditions enhance fast somatic growth that proportionally exceeds mercury content and growth rates deviate among species on the same trophic level and populations due to their different food source, metabolic rates, and lipid and protein content (Weatherley 1976, Kahilainen et al. 2017, Ahonen et al. 2018).

Large fish community enhances more biotic interactions, such as competition and predation. In the complexity of a large food web, many factors affect mercury bioaccumulation simultaneously on different levels, where many of those factors can be contradictonary. For example, eutrophic lakes contain higher nutrient content enhancing mercury methylation, therefore higher mercury biomagnification could be expected. However, nutrient availability increases primary production and biomass in lakes reducing mercury biomagnification through biomass dilution (Watanabe et al. 2008, Verburg et al. 2014). The mercury content can be diluted in total biomass, however high prey availability enhances predation risk increasing food consumption and resulting in high mercury bioaccumulation (Campbell et al. 2003, Thomas et al. 2016). Most studies on aspects affecting mercury in the aquatic food webs aim to distinguish the key factors with the strongest significant impact on bioaccumulation processes. It is most likely unachievable to include all possible factors in a model, thus a selected set of representative elements are usually conveyed. The ecosystem complexity does not allow us to fully understand mercury fate and pathways, still field studies are best suited to evaluating actual mercury directions in the environment.

2. Objectives

This PhD dissertation aimed to explain the fundamental links between THg in lacustrine organisms and their environment, biological responses, and molecular reliance (defined here as amino acids and C:N ratio in biota) on five different levels of organization (see Fig. 5). This thesis focused on fish top predator, fish community, and food webs from a series of subarctic lakes along climate-productivity gradient. Relation of mercury to amino acids, growth dilution, bioaccumulation at the base of the food web, and biomagnification were considered. Mercury growth dilution was evaluated using a novel metric of mercury growth ratio. Specifically, the following questions were asked:

- **Paper I:** Are amino acids related to THg in top predator? How does warmer climate and higher productivity affect amino acids and THg in fish? How would molecular factor impact THg in fish in contrast to biological and environmental characteristics?
- **Paper II:** Is mercury growth dilution evident in fish, and how does it change in a warmer climate with increasing productivity in subarctic lakes?
- Paper III: What environmental and biological factors are related to mercury biomagnification and accumulation at the base of lake food webs along climate-productivity gradient?



Figure 5 Relation between papers and research targets to predict mercury pathways across biological organization along the climate-productivity gradient.

3. Material and methods

3.1 Study area

The database was obtained from previously conducted fieldwork from August-September 2009–2014 with major data collection in 2011-2013. The food webs of nineteen tributary lakes were sampled in the subarctic Tornio-Muonio watercourse located on a latitudinal climate-productivity gradient from 69.0°N to 66.5°N on the Swedish-Finnish border region (Fig. 6). All study lakes are situated north of the Arctic circle in subarctic areas and were numbered according to climate-productivity index (see also Hayden et al. 2017, Hayden et al. 2019) gradient, which was calculated with Principal Component Analysis for each paper. Roughly, the gradient followed a latitudinal north-south direction, with the northernmost oligotrophic lakes (total phosphorus [TP]: \leq 10 µg L⁻¹), mid-reach mesotrophic lakes (TP: 10–30 µg L⁻¹), and southernmost eutrophic lakes (TP: \geq 30 µg L⁻¹).

All oligotrophic lakes are in the mountain birch forest area with limited anthropogenic activity focusing mainly on reindeer herding and nature tourism. Mesotrophic lakes are located in the increasingly forested area. The two most northern mesotrophic lakes are just below the northernmost distribution lines of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*). The four remaining mesotrophic lakes are below a Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) distribution line that is facing increased human activity, including forestry. Eutrophic lakes are located southernmost and represent high nutrient content and turbid systems. However, one eutrophic lake (Särkilompolo) is located close to four mesotrophic lakes. The southern part of the watercourse has the densest human population indicating intensive land use, i.e. commercial forestry clear-cutting, site preparation, peatland ditching, and a dense forest road network (Jussila et al. 2014, Hayden et al. 2019). One of the most intense anthropogenic activities is ditching, where circa 50–100 cm deep ditches are dug for site preparation leading to increased leakage of nutrients (Ukonmaanaho et al. 2016, Eklöf et al. 2018).

The climate measurements (mean air temperature (Temp [°C]) and precipitation (Precip [mm]) in open-water season (June–September) were obtained from long-term archives (1981–2010) of the Finnish Meteorological Institute and Klein Tank et al. (2002) (total of six meteorological stations in the study area, in Fig. 6 marked with an asterisk) and further on



Figure 6 Northern Fennoscandia indicating (a) the location of Tornio-Muonio watercourse on the border of Sweden and Finland (b). Studied tributary lakes are numbered (1–19) corresponding to climate-productivity gradient. Constant lines indicate the occurrence of coniferous treelines, asterisks indicate meteorological stations with values of mean temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm) of open water season (June–September) in 1981–2010, and arrows indicate flowing direction of the watercourse [modified from Hayden et al. (2017)].

calculated for individual lakes. Lake altitude (Alt [m a.s.l.]) was read from the Land Survey of Finland. Visible light level in the water column of each lake was measured using LI-COR, LI-A250 light meter (LI-COR Biosciences, Lincoln, NE, U.S.A.) and compensation depth where 1% of surface light is left (z.comp [m]), was defined. Total nitrogen and phosphorus (totN and totP, respectively [µg L⁻¹]) were obtained from the Lapland Centre for Economic Development, Transport and Environment. Other lake characteristics such as mean depth (z.mean [m]), lake area (LA [km²]) and volume (LV [10⁶ m³]) were derived from the Finnish Environment Institute database HERTTA. In the case of missing data, bathymetry was done in the current project with echosounder-chartplotter (Hayden et al. 2017) with subsequent calculations of lake characteristics. Catchment properties, such as catchment area (CA [km²]), peatland area (PA [km²]), tree volume in a forested area (Tree [m³ ha⁻¹]), forest percentage and sparse vegetation percentage in the catchment area (Forest and Sp.veg, respectively [%]) and ditch length in the catchment area (Ditch [km km⁻²]) were obtained from the Finnish Environment Institute or calculated from open data (National Land Survey of Finland, Natural Resources Institute Finland) by using ESRI ArcMap 10.3.1 software (Ahonen et al. 2018). Additionally, catchment to lake area ratio (CA:LA) was calculated.

3.2 Sampling

3.2.1 Fish

Fish were collected with a gill net series of eight gillnets of 30×1.8 m size and varying knotto-knot mesh sizes (12, 15, 20, 25, 30, 35, 45 and 60 mm) supplemented with one Nordic multimesh gillnet of 30×1.5 m size (mesh sizes: 5–55 mm) with 12 equidistant panels of 2.5 m (Hayden et al. 2017). Some predator fish species, such as pike and burbot (*Lota lota*), had low density and gill net susceptibility. Thus, these samples were supplemented by angling and long lines. Nets were set overnight (10–12 h) in main habitats (pelagic, littoral and profundal), with a minimum of three nets per habitat in each lake. In the most shallow lakes, only littoral habitat was available and sampled. Sampling proceeded through 3–5 consecutive nights to get representative samples of the fish community. Finally, fish were removed from nets, euthanized with a cerebral concussion, and stored in ice for transport to the laboratory.

Nineteen fish species were sampled, mainly from salmonids, percids and cyprinids, except for three species of smelt (*Osmerus eperlanus*), burbot and pike (Table 2). In addition, whitefish

were identified to morph, i.e. large sparsely rakered whitefish (LSR), densely rakered whitefish (DR) (Hayden et al. 2013), and whitefish × vendace hybrid level based on head morphology and a number of gill rakers in the first left gill arch (Kahilainen et al. 2011b, Kahilainen et al. 2011a). Both morphs and hybrids are ecologically divergent groups with distinct diet and life-history traits, and have a significant role in energy and mercury flows in subarctic lake food webs, potentially also affecting biomagnification (Thomas et al. 2016, Kahilainen et al. 2017). Salmonids dominate in the northernmost lakes of the study region, percids in the mesotrophic lakes and cyprinids in the eutrophic lakes (Hayden et al. 2017).

Each fish individual was measured in total length ($\pm 1 \text{ mm}$) and weight ($\pm 0.1 \text{ g}$). Sex was determined visually from gonad size, colour, and developmental stage, then coded as categorical value 0 – female and 1 – male. Stomach content was analysed with the points method (Hynes 1950), where stomach fullness was visually estimated using the scale from 0 (empty) to 10 (extended fully), and the relative volumetric share of each prey category was determined. Fish community size (n_{sp}) was estimated as the total count of fish species captured in each lake. The relative abundance of fish community was estimated as Catch Per

No	Common name	Latin name	Family
1	Vendace	Coregonus albula	Salmonidae
2	Peled whitefish	Coregonus peled	Salmonidae
3	Grayling	Thymallus thymallus	Salmonidae
4	European whitefish	Coregonus lavaretus	Salmonidae
5	Arctic charr	Salvelinus alpinus	Salmonidae
6	Brown trout	Salmo trutta	Salmonidae
7	Nine-spined stickleback	Pungitius pungitius	Percidae
8	Alpine bullhead	Cottus poecilopus	Percidae
9	Common sculpin	Cottus gobio	Percidae
10	Ruffe	Gymnocephalus cernua	Percidae
11	European perch	Perca fluviatilis	Percidae
12	Minnow	Phoxinus phoxinus	Cyprinidae
13	Bleak	Alburnus alburnus	Cyprinidae
14	Dace	Leuciscus leuciscus	Cyprinidae
15	Roach	Rutilus rutilus	Cyprinidae
16	Ide	Leuciscus idus	Cyprinidae
17	Smelt	Osmerus eperlanus	Osmeridae
18	Burbot	Lota lota	Lotidae
19	Northern pike	Esox lucius	Esocidae

Table 2 List of collected fish species from study lakes. All are native species, except peled whitefish.

Unit Effort (CPUE_{TOT} ; fish individuals net series⁻¹ h⁻¹). Furthermore, predation risk (PR) was calculated as the ratio of piscivorous fish CPUE and CPUE_{TOT}. For stable isotopes, total mercury, and amino acids analyses, a piece of white dorsal fish muscle was stored in a plastic vial, frozen at -20° C, freeze-dried for 48 hours at -50° C and powdered with a glass rod. The age of fish was determined by inspection of both clear, burned and cracked otoliths, in addition to scales (whitefish, vendace, ruffe, and roach), operculum (perch) and chleithrum bone (pike) (Thomas et al. 2016, Ahonen et al. 2018).

3.2.2 Lower trophic levels (Paper III)

Littoral biofilm, pelagic algae and zooplankton, and littoral benthic macroinvertebrates were collected for mercury biomagnification in the food web. Biofilm was collected from rocks and plants by scraping the green surface, while pelagic algae were collected sweeping surface bloom with a plastic lid. Algae was restricted to the sampling of blue-green algal blooms in some of the lakes. Due to sampling difficulties caused by weather conditions and late growing season, algae were collected only in nine out of nineteen lakes. For lakes with missing data, average values of carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes, and THg of algae were calculated from the nearest lake with similar conditions. Zooplankton were collected with a 50 µm mesh net by vertical hauls (max 0–20 m) from the deepest sampling point in each lake (Hayden et al. 2019). Benthic macroinvertebrates were collected from the lake shoreline (depth 0–0.5 m) using handpicking from stones and vegetation, kick-net sampling (500 µm mesh), and Ekman grab (surface area 272 cm²) using three replicates (Hayden et al. 2017). Benthic samples were stored in plastic buckets.

Algal and biofilm samples were viewed under a preparation microscope. Any inorganic or organic non-plant material was removed while zooplankton and benthic macroinvertebrates were sorted to genus or family level and counted for density estimation (ρ_{ZPL} [n L⁻¹] and ρ_{BMI} [n m⁻²], respectively). All groups were sorted and stored separately in 2 ml polypropylene tubes directly, except for Mollusca, which was first dissected from their shells to avoid the effect of carbonate on stable isotope analyses. Due to the small amount of biomass of benthic and pelagic primary producers available in each lake, biofilm and pelagic algae were combined for subsequent statistical analyses, hereafter referred to as algae.

3.3 Laboratory analysis

3.3.1 Mercury

Total mercury content (THg [ng g⁻¹ dry weight]) of all prepared samples was analyzed with direct mercury analyser (Milestone DMA-80, Sorisole, Italy). Two duplicates of each sample (20–30 mg) were analyzed to control the variability when the sample amount was not limiting. Only duplicates with <10% percentage difference were accepted for further analyses. All sets were analyzed with blank control, and DORM-4 certified reference material (National Research Council Canada, Canada, powdered fish protein, mean THg concentration \pm SD, 410.0 \pm 55.0 ng g⁻¹) at the beginning and ending of each set run. Mean recovery was calculated separately for each paper due to different sample size (**Paper I**, sample size (n) = 87; **Paper II**, n = 1841; **Paper III**, n = 4718). The recovery was good in all papers: **Paper III** had 98.5%, **Paper II** had 99.2%. All samples were corrected by blanks.

3.3.2 Stable isotopes

Subsamples of the very same individuals used in THg analysis were weighed $(1 \pm 0.1 \text{mg})$ into tin cups for analyses of carbon (δ^{13} C), nitrogen stable isotope ratios (δ^{15} N), and carbon and nitrogen ratio (C:N ratio). Elemental composition and stable isotopes of carbon and nitrogen were determined using an elemental analyzer coupled to a continuous-flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer. Laboratory specific standards were calibrated against Vienna PeeDee Belemnite used for δ^{13} C and atmospheric nitrogen used for δ^{15} N. The analytical error was 0.2‰ for both δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N.

3.3.3 Amino acids (Paper I)

Amino acid analysis was performed using a standard method with performic acid oxidation prior to acid hydrolysis [Dai et al. (2014) and Liu et al. (2017)]. Briefly, 1-2 mg dry sample was oxidized with a performic oxidation solution to convert cysteine and methionine to cysteic acid and methionine sulfone, respectively, to avoid destruction during hydrolysis (Schram et al. 1954). Samples were dried using a nitrogen blowdown evaporator and hydrolysed overnight (110°C, 24h) in 1 ml of 6 N HCL and dried again at 110°C. Asparagine and glutamine were transformed into aspartic acid and glutamic acid, respectively, while tryptophan was destroyed due to acidic hydrolysis. Leucine peak could not be identified due to shortage of standards. Hydrolyzed samples were dissolved in 1 ml UHQ water for derivatization with 6-

aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate (AQC) reagent purchased from Synchem (Altenburg, Germany) and analysed on a Shimadzu 30 series ultra-high pressure LC instrument at the University of Jyväskylä (Finland). Instrument consisted of a binary pump, autosampler, column compartment and fluorescence detector. Phenomenex Gemini C18 column (3 x 150 mm, 3 μ m) was used for chromatographic separation. AA-S-18 solution from Sigma-Aldrich was used as an external standard and L-norvaline as an internal standard (ISTD).

In total, sixteen amino acids (nmol mg⁻¹ dry weight) were quantified: cysteic acid (Cys), aspartic acid (Asp), glutamic acid (Glu), serine (Ser), histidine (His), glycine (Gly), methionine sulfone (Met), arginine (Arg), threonine (Thr), alanine (Ala), proline (Pro), tyrosine (Tyr), valine (Val), lysine (Lys), isoleucine (IIe) and phenylalanine (Phe). All amino acids [nmol mg⁻¹ dry weight] were normalized with ISTD as analyte peak area to ISTD peak area ratio. The relative percentage difference (RPD) of duplicate samples and standard replicates was 3.2% (n = 122).

3.4 Statistical analysis and metrics

3.4.1 Environmental factors

Principal component analysis (PCA) was conducted on environmental variables of all studied lakes to reduce the number of explanatory variables. Three principal components were established (PC1-PC3). As the number of studied lakes varied among papers, PCA was conducted separately to adapted number of study sites. Here, PCA analysis results are presented for all studied sites (nineteen lakes). The first principal component (PC1) for all lakes explained 54.8% of variation of the environmental dataset indicating north to south climate-productivity gradient (Fig. 7). PC1 included altitude [m a.s.l.], air temperature [°C], precipitation [mm], forested area [%], tree volume in a forested area [m³ ha⁻¹], sparse vegetation [%], total phosphorus [μ g L⁻¹], total nitrogen [μ g L⁻¹], compensation depth in a lake [m] and ditch length [km km⁻²] at the end with lower importance. PC2 explained 16.8% of the total variance and was determined by catchment characteristic-related variables (catchment area [km²], peatland area [km²] and the ratio of catchment and lake areas). The third principal component (PC3) explained 16.1% of the total variance and represented lake morphometry (lake area [km²], lake volume [m³] and lake mean depth [m]).



Figure 7 Principal components biplots of loadings marked with arrows and scores representing lakes marked with numbered dots of (a) climate-productivity gradient (PC1), catchment properties (PC2) and (b) lake morphometrics (PC3). The lake number corresponds to PC1, first indicating oligotrophic cold lakes in the north and ending in the southern eutrophic lakes. Altitude (Alt), precipitation (Precip), air temperature (Temp), total nitrogen (totN), total phosphorus (totP), forested area (Forest), tree volume in a forested area (Tree), sparse vegetation (Sp.veg), compensation depth in a lake (z.comp), ditch length (Ditch), catchment area (CA), peatland area (PA), the ratio of catchment and lake areas (CA:LA), lake area (LA), lake volume (LV), and lake mean depth (z.mean).

3.4.2 THg age and weight correction

Mercury content is often corrected by age, length or weight of fish (Ahonen et al. 2018). This approach is commonly used in mercury studies to account for high collinearity to mercury and the age or body size of a fish (Sonesten 2003, Coelho et al. 2013). In **Paper I**, a simple age correction as a proportion of THg content of fish at age A to average fish age (\bar{A}) was used:

$$THg_{age.corr} = \frac{THg * \bar{A}}{A}$$
[1].

In **Paper II**, THg values were weight corrected using a proportion equation similar to Eq. [1] to avoid age disturbance, as age was already implemented in GR and MGR calculation. No THg correction was applied in the model of **Paper III** because the aim was to test the strength of the age relation to mercury, among other factors. However, THg content in pike along climate-productivity gradient was tested in prediction 3 of **Paper III**. Therefore THg content was adjusted to 1 kg pike using linear regression model of THg and pike weight in each population.
3.4.3 Trophic level (Paper I, III)

Trophic level (TL) of each analyzed consumer was calculated using $\delta^{15}N$ to establish mercury biomagnification. Three models of trophic level calculation were tested, using one-source models (TL1), where the food source is either algae or zooplankton, and two-source model (TL2) with zooplankton as a reference of pelagic source and benthic macroinvertebrates (snail) as the benthic source (Post 2002). The formulas are presented respectively:

$$TL1 = \frac{\delta^{15}N_{consumer} - \delta^{15}N_{algae}}{\Delta^{15}N} + \lambda$$
 [2],

$$TL2 = \frac{\delta^{15}N_{consumer} - (\delta^{15}N_{zpl} * \alpha + \delta^{15}N_{snail} * [1 - \alpha])}{\Delta^{15}N} + \lambda$$
[3],

$$\alpha = \frac{\delta^{13}C_{\text{consumer}} - \delta^{13}C_{\text{snail}}}{\delta^{13}C_{\text{zpl}} - \delta^{13}C_{\text{snail}}}$$
[4],

where λ is the trophic level of the baseline organism (TL = 1 for primary producers and TL = 2 for primary consumers), TL1 and TL2 are the trophic levels of a given consumer, $\delta^{15}N$ is the nitrogen stable isotope values of a consumer or given baseline organism in each lake, and $\Delta^{15}N$ is a trophic fractionation factor which was set to 3.4‰ per trophic level (Post 2002). Pelagic reliance (α) was calculated using carbon stable isotope values of fish and given baseline organisms (Eq.[4]), indicating resources from fully benthic ($\alpha = 0$) to fully pelagic ($\alpha = 1$). Zooplankton (zpl) was chosen as pelagic food source, while snails represented benthic food source.

One-way ANOVA test showed a non-significant difference between trophic level models (p-value = 0.126, F-value = 2.16). A two-source model is considered to have better precision, therefore it was used in **Paper I** to evaluate pike trophic level (Eq. [3]). In **Paper III**, a one-source model (Eq.[2]) with algae as the baseline was used to assess TMS across the full food web (four trophic levels) in the subsequent analyses. For each lake, a top consumer species was identified from the highest mean trophic level, which was also used to define food chain length (FCL) in **Paper III** (Cabana and Rasmussen 1996, Post et al. 2000).

3.4.4 Growth rate (Paper I, II)

Growth rate (GR) was calculated for individuals of selected six fish species, i.e. pike, perch, roach, ruffe, vendace and whitefish. Pike age and growth were measured from cleaned cleithrum bone, where the length at age in each year was back-calculated using the Monastyrsky method (Bagenal and Tesch 1978):

$$L = a * S * b$$
[5],

where L is the length of fish at capture, S is total cleithrum radius, a is a constant and b is a growth coefficient.

$$\mathcal{L}_i = \left(\frac{S_i}{S}\right)^b * L \tag{6}$$

where L_i is the length of the fish at formation of *i*th annulus (cm), L is the length of the fish at capture (cm), S_i is cleithrum radius at age *i*, S is total cleithrum radius, and b is the growth coefficient. To recover a larger sample size, a back-calculated size at the age of 2 years was used in **Paper I**. In **Paper II**, due to the lack of back-calculated length for other species, a total length and total age were used for only 3-6 year old individuals to avoid growth errors in simplified calculation. The growth rate calculation had the form:

$$GR = \frac{L [cm]}{A [years]}$$
[7],

where L represents total length (**Paper II**) or back-calculated length (L_i) (**Paper I**) of fish in cm and A is the age of fish in years. In addition to **Paper II**, the theoretical maximum body size for each population was derived from von Bertalanffy growth equation (von Bertalanffy 1938) as asymptotic length (L_{∞}):

$$L_t = L_{\infty} * (1 - e^{-K(t - t_0)})$$
[8],

where L_t = total length at age t, K = growth coefficient and t_0 = theoretical age at length zero. In **Paper II**, mean values and population estimates were calculated for populations with a greater sample size than five individuals (n mean ± SD, 24 ± 15; ranged 1 – 57), giving a total of 70 populations across six species. THg was weight corrected and normalized with log transformation due to non-parametric distribution. Furthermore, in **Paper II**, mercury growth ratio (MGR) was calculated as mercury content divided by the simplified growth rate:

$$MGR = \frac{THg_{weight.corr} [ng g^{-1} DW]}{GR [cm year^{-1}]}$$
[9],

where THg is mercury content in ng g^{-1} DW in fish white muscle and GR is the growth rate of individual in cm year⁻¹.

3.4.5 THg baseline and TMS (Paper III)

Mercury biomagnification in food webs was evaluated with linear regression as the slope (b coefficient) from mean log_{10} THg and trophic level (Eq. [2]) and is hereafter called TMS (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) (Borgå et al. 2012, Lavoie et al. 2013). From the same equation, the intercept (a coefficient) indicates the THg exposure level of primary producers and is hereafter called THg baseline (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) (Borgå et al. 2012). Furthermore, Trophic Magnification Factor (TMF) was calculated from the TMS (Eq. [11]) to estimate an increase in THg content per trophic level (Fisk et al. 2001, Borgå et al. 2012). Additionally, THg baseline was converted back to a linear scale (Eq. [12]) to estimate the difference in basal THg intake by primary producers between lakes independently of the original exposure level (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) (van der Velden et al. 2013):

$$\log_{10} \text{THg} = a + b \cdot \text{TL}$$
 [10],

$$TMF = 10^{b}$$
 [11],

basal THg =
$$10^a$$
 [12].

3.4.6 General Linear Models

Factors affecting mercury in fish and food webs were tested in General Linear Models (GLM) on each studied ecological level. All models were selected based on minimal AIC (Akaike Information Criterion) score with stepwise backward direction model selection or with best subsets regression selection. All models included both environmental and biological factors to the ecosystem, community, or population level.

Firstly, individual ecology level on pike was tested (**Paper I**), where THg content model included molecular factors binding organic mercury and ecophysiological factors affecting THg bioaccumulation rates in fish. Here, THg content in pike was standardized to mean pike age. The initial full model took form:

$$\log_e THg_{age.corr} \sim PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + TL + \alpha + GR + sex + Cys + Met + Pro$$
 [13],

where PC1 represents climate-productivity gradient, PC2 – catchment properties, PC3 – lake morphometrics, TL – trophic level (Eq. [3]), α – pelagic reliance – indicating resources from benthic to pelagic (Eq. [4]), GR – growth rate (Eq. [7]), sex – sex of fish (0 = female, 1 = male), Cys – cysteine, Met – methionine and Pro – proline content.

On the next fish community level (**Paper II**), a GLM was conducted to test factors enhancing or inhibiting mercury growth dilution in six fish species. The MGR model included environmental factors with a specific community and population variables. The full initial model included ten variables and had the following form:

MGR ~ SP + PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + $CPUE_{TOT} + \rho_{ZPL} + \rho_{BMI} + n_{sp} + L_{inf} + PR$ [14],

where SP represents factor variable of fish species, then three environmental factors PC1, PC2 and PC3 indicate climate-productivity gradient, catchment properties, and lake morphometry, respectively. The rest of seven factors describe population characteristics: CPUE_{TOT} represents a relative total fish abundance as total fish catch per unit effort (n [net series⁻¹ h⁻¹]), ρ_{ZPL} is zooplankton density (n [L⁻¹]), ρ_{BMI} is benthic macroinvertebrates density (n [m⁻²]), n_{sp} is a number of fish species present in the lake, L_{∞} is asymptotic length at which growth is zero and PR is predation risk (predator CPUE CPUE_{TOT}⁻¹). Additionally, the density of benthic macroinvertebrates was standardised with mean and SD values in the GLM using scaling method, where the values closer to 0 are centred around the mean.

On the most general level, in the ecosystem (**Paper III**), mercury biomagnification slope in the food web (TMS) and mercury uptake from the environment to the base of the food web (THg baseline) were tested along environmental factors (PC1-PC3) and food web specific variables, i.e. food chain length [FCL], number of fish species in the lake $[n_{sp}]$ as a proxy for food web complexity, top predator age $[P_{age}]$ as a proxy for predator size and longevity, and elemental C:N ratio as a lipid content proxy (Kiljunen et al. 2006, Fagan et al. 2011) for top predator and zooplankton $[P_{C:N}$ and $Z_{C:N}$, respectively]). The full model takes the form:

TMS/THg baseline ~ PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + FCL +
$$n_{sp}$$
 + P_{age} + $P_{C:N}$ + $Z_{C:N}$ [15].

Here, zooplankton refers to a bulk sample containing both lipid-rich copepods and lean cladocerans. Top predator age and C:N ratio refers to three fish species. Pike was the top predator in sixteen out of nineteen lakes, burbot in two (Lake Tsahkal [3] and Lake Ropi [8]), and Arctic charr in one lake (Lake Kilpis [1]) or (**Paper III**; supplement: Table S4).

All statistical analyses had a significance limit of α = 0.05. Statistical analyses were conducted with R versions 1.1.463 and 3.5.2 using MASS, FactoMineR, factoextra, and olsrr packages (R Core Team 2021).

4. Results and discussion

4.1 Mercury in biota from Fennoscandia and subarctic

Fish THg content in subarctic Fennoscandian lakes varies greatly, i.e. THg in perch (20 cm in total length) can range from below 90 ng g⁻¹ d.w. to more than 900 ng g⁻¹ d.w. (Miller et al. 2013, **Paper III**). High THg variation is mainly caused by THg input to lakes from catchments runoff, therefore lakes are highly dependent ecosystems on regional properties (Gantner et al. 2010, Bishop et al. 2020, **Paper III**). For instance, THg in perch in boreal Finnish lakes can reach 3000 ng g⁻¹ d.w. (Keva et al. 2022), that exceeds more than three times reported THg in this study. The highest THg content in fish is evident due to climatic differences and anthropogenic activity enhancing mercury leak (mining, ditching, forestry practises, agriculture) (Eagles-Smith et al. 2016, Braaten et al. 2019, AMAP 2021).



4.2 Amino acids relation to mercury in pike (Paper I)

Figure 8 Total mercury content (log_eTHg) and amino acids concentration in methionine, cysteine and proline in white muscle of pike individuals (a, b and c) and ten lake populations (d, e and f). AA – Amino Acids, EAA – Essential Amino Acids, NEAA – Non-Essential Amino Acids.

4.2.1 Mercury attraction to specific amino acids

Despite papers describing cysteine and methionine as the main drivers of MeHg bioaccumulation (i.e. Sze et al. 1975, Zimmermann et al. 2014, Thera et al. 2022), our results showed little or no support for this. In **Paper I**, linear regressions of sixteen amino acids and THg in pike were tested (both on individual and population level) from ten selected lakes along climate-productivity gradient. The importance of thiol amino acids in mercury transfer to top predatory species and potential relation of other amino acids to mercury were tested.

The tested relations showed that neither cysteine nor methionine had a significant regression with THg on a population level. However, cysteine had a weak negative relation on an individual level, but the trend explained only 4% of the variation (Fig. 8). Thera et al. (2020) found that cysteine content varies significantly between fish species and populations probably due to different habitat conditions. Cysteine variation within a population could indicate that individual life history traits have a more substantial impact on cysteine content than population characteristics. Unexpectedly, this study showed that proline had a significant positive correlation with THg in pike muscle. To our knowledge, this is the first study indicating relation between proline and mercury in fish. Multiple papers studied proline and mercury relations in plants, where proline was proven to stimulate mercury detoxification and have a metal stress-relieving effect in plants. Proline has a specific ring structure with imine group, which was tested to have adhesive properties to mercury (Gómez et al. 1989). Furthermore, proline is known to promote growth (Omosowone and Ozorewor 2019) and play immunological role in fish which highly varies between species (Li et al. 2013, Xie et al. 2015, Thera et al. 2020). Therefore, we can speculate that proline could have detoxifying and metal stress-relieving effects in fish as well, however, the relation should be experimentally tested.

4.2.2 Climate and productivity impact on amino acids and mercury

We observed the content of amino acids synthesized in pike (NEAA) decreased towards warmer and more productive lakes. This potentially indicates warmer and more productive lakes inhibit amino acids synthesis in pike. The decrease may be affected by climatic conditions or different prey nutrition. Taipale et al. (2019) found amino acid composition shift in pelagic algae, which could further affect nutritional change in top predatory pike. Contrary to NEAA, cysteine, methionine, and proline showed content increase in pike from warmer and more productive lakes. All trends were not significant, however higher individual amino acid content could be related to mercury bioaccumulation.

Warmer climate and increased productivity were related to higher THg content in pike. Braaten et al. (2019) showed similar results indicating fish in high-latitude lakes (which are represented mainly by cold and less productive lakes) contain lower mercury levels in contrast to southern, warmer lakes. A decline in THg content in fish over the past half-century was reported (Braaten et al. 2019) using spatial data as time series. Current study samples were collected in the years 2011-2013, therefore the data does not allow for temporal examination of THg changes.

4.2.3 Molecular impact on THg in pike against other factors

Age had a strong impact on THg content in pike, but not on amino acid content. Total mercury content in older and larger individuals increases over time due to inefficient detoxification processes (Lockhart et al. 1972). Moreover, pike food source shifts from zooplankton and benthic macroinvertebrates in juvenile life stage to fish in adult form. The larger the body size of pike, the larger the prey that can be captured. Some large individuals show cannibalistic behaviour preying on small pike (Frost 1954, Chapman et al. 1989). Change of food source towards larger prey increases pike trophic level (δ¹⁵N) (Sharma et al. 2008). Therefore, old and large pike can bioaccumulate more mercury from the larger prey and higher food consumption (Sandheinrich and Drevnick 2016). These findings were supported by environmental factors such as climate-productivity gradient (PC1) and catchment properties (PC2). Pike is a cool-adapted species, however even the warmest subarctic lakes are suitable for its high activity level (Craig 2008). Lastly, GLM model showed that higher cysteine content supports a decrease of THg content in pike. The trend was very weak (mean \pm SD, -0.03 \pm 0.01) but significant, most probably due to contracting relation to mercury, where MeHg-Cys complex can bioaccumulate in muscles, but it is also used for protein synthesis in detoxification process (Kerper et al. 1992, Simmons-Willis et al. 2002, Peng et al. 2016).

4.3 Growth dilution of mercury in fish (Paper II)



Figure 9 Relation a) between total mercury content and growth rate was found to be significant in four fish species, while b) mercury growth ratio (MGR) dynamics along climate-productivity gradient were found significant in two fish species.

4.3.1 Mercury growth dilution

Age and size determine mercury content in fish, thus in **Paper II**, we tested linear regression of growth rate and THg content of six fish species (pike, perch, ruffe, roach, vendace, and whitefish) in nineteen subarctic lakes. Populations in all six fish species showed that THg content was negatively related to the growth rate, but only four of them were significant (Fig. 9a). In general, larger fish with longer lifespan had a higher range of growth rates in comparison to small fish. Fish species inhabiting the same niche (e.g. littoral) showed significant differences both in growth rate and mercury content, which mainly depends on prey selection, but also developmental stages, activity, and environmental conditions (Margenau et al. 1998). The aim of **Paper II** was to test and use a simplified growth rate calculation to estimate growth dilution effect in small populations. Many papers proved that growth rate and THg showed mercury growth dilution could be estimated based on this simple approach, where the steepest slope was found in perch and ruffe, indicating a stronger mercury growth dilution effect.

4.3.2 Best conditions for mercury growth dilution

Mercury growth ratio was established to assess the effect of growth rate on mercury content in six different species and recover larger sample size. The simplicity and practicality of this calculation allow to estimate mercury growth dilution using only three components; mercury content, fish total size and age. This combination allowed to creation of a universal metric for inter- and intraspecific comparisons. U-shaped distribution of MGR along climate-productivity gradient showed growth dilution effect only in perch and ruffe, with the lowest values in mesotrophic lakes (Fig. 9b). Climate and productivity affect both mercury content in fish and growth rate (Weatherley 1976, Graeb et al. 2004, Verta et al. 2010, Wanke et al. 2017, Ahonen et al. 2018). Increased temperature and productivity reduces mercury methylation, and input from catchments, however greater productivity reduces mercury transfer to higher trophic levels by mercury distribution in biomass (Watanabe et al. 2008, **Paper III**). On the other hand, high density and biomass elevate both intra- and interspecific competition, and predation risk, but also boost consumption rates and fish growth (Hayden et al. 2017, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021). The intermediate conditions seem to have the best conditions for mercury growth dilution, balancing all contradicting processes.

4.3.3 Factors affecting mercury growth ratio

All fish species differ in size, foraging guild, habitat and thermal guild, which affect their trophic level and mercury content (Ahonen et al. 2018, **Paper III**). Mercury is mainly derived from the diet (Hall et al. 1997), and thus prey selection was the key factor affecting mercury content and energy source fuelling fish growth. The most efficient mercury growth dilution was observed in conditions of high prey and habitat availability in relation to fish abundance. Greater prey density supports mercury growth dilution, which could also be linked to and strengthened by mercury biodilution (Karimi et al. 2007, **Paper III**). Accordingly, larger and deeper lakes shape and limit lake biomass, but also restrict mercury resuspension due to strong thermocline (Verta et al. 2010). Benthic macroinvertebrates density was a stronger factor than total fish density, indicating the food source was more essential to affect MGR than fish interactions, such as predation or competition. In the studied locations, such abundant benthic prey conditions occur in mesotrophic lakes.



4.4 Mercury biomagnification in food webs (Paper III)

Figure 10 Mercury a) biomagnification in three selected food webs, b) biomagnification along different lengths of lacustrine food chains (FCL), c) content in top predatory fish, pike, in various climate and productivity properties, and d) relation of basal THg and algae THg content. Increasing value of climate-productivity gradient (PC1) indicates warmer and more productive lakes. The lake number corresponds to the lake order on the map (Fig. 6).

4.4.1 Mercury biomagnification in food webs

Climatic conditions have a significant impact on chemical and biological processes, therefore it affects mercury bioaccumulation and biomagnification. In **Paper III**, the impacts of climate and productivity on mercury baseline, mercury biomagnification slope, and mercury content in top predatory fish were tested. Mercury biomagnification was evident in the food webs of all studied subarctic lakes (Fig. 10a). Food chain length held the most vital significance in the model. The complexity and diversity of food webs are important indicators of ecosystem structure, function, and stability, but also determine toxicological impact on humans (Lavoie et al. 2013, Volschenk et al. 2019, Wang et al. 2019). Food webs structure highly depends on energy transfer efficiency, which is limited by food source quality and primary production (Zhao et al. 2020). Due to climatic change along the watercourse, a community shift occurs from cold-adapted salmonids to warm-adapted cyprinid species (Hayden et al. 2017). The community change affects nutritional transfer and food chain structure, where notably

shorter food webs with steeper trophic magnification slopes were present in cold, oligotrophic lakes. In comparison, longer and more complex food webs were present in warmer and more productive lakes (Fig. 10b). Consequently, competition and increased biomass disperse mercury content among organisms at the same trophic level. This phenomenon strengthens biodilution (Ouédraogo et al. 2015, Todorova et al. 2015), indicating lower mercury rates transfer between trophic levels.

4.4.2 The base and top of the food web

Many studies proved increase of air temperature and precipitation enhances primary production both in lakes and catchments, increasing the subsequent leaching of nutrients and mercury into the freshwater system (Verta et al. 2010, Stern et al. 2012, Ahonen et al. 2018, Hudelson et al. 2019, McKinney et al. 2022). Increased mercury uptake by primary producers was intensified in warmer and more productive lakes (Henriques et al. 2015, Tran et al. 2015). Though climate and productivity had non-significant regression with THg baseline, it was included in GLM with a combination of other factors. This may indicate that warmer climate and higher productivity indirectly affect mercury bioaccumulation at the base of the food web. High mercury content in primary producers increases the probability of higher mercury content in organisms on higher trophic levels (Fig. 10c). Despite the mercury increase in organisms at the beginning and top of the food web, a decrease in mercury biomagnification towards warmer and more productive lakes was observed. Most likely, this effect was caused by increased mercury methylation, where more bioavailable mercury could be transferred to top predatory fish (Ullrich et al. 2001, Tjerngren et al. 2012). On the other hand, increased biomass towards warmer and more productive lakes could distribute mercury content among consumers in the biodilution process (Watanabe et al. 2008, Kozlowsky-Suzuki et al. 2012). These findings suggest that mercury biodilution is insufficient to inhibit mercury bioaccumulation in the top predator.

Estimated basal THg intake by primary producers (Eq. [12]) had 3-5 times lower values than algae and explained 54% of measured algae THg content (Fig. 10d). In general, the range of basal THg in all studied lakes was equivalent to 10⁻³ ppm w.w. THg and 10⁻⁴ ppm w.w. MeHg assuming algae THg contain only 15% of MeHg (May et al. 1987). These values correspond well with the conceptualization of the "MeHg elevator" from water to the base of the pelagic

food web from Wu et al. (2019), where enhanced MeHg uptake was observed in boreal lake ecosystems.

4.4.3 Environmental factors

Climate and productivity (PC1) are an essential factor driving biological differences along the studied watercourse, but catchment properties (PC2) held stronger significance in the model. Increasing lake productivity is highly related to changing catchment properties, where mountainous, sparsely populated areas shift towards lower elevations modified with anthropogenic activity with more intense nutrients, organic matter and mercury input (Jussila et al. 2014). Forest clear-cutting and ditching of peatlands release historical mercury burial in the catchment, enhancing its methylation and intensifying THg input in the lakes (Porvari et al. 2003, Eklöf et al. 2016, Ukonmaanaho et al. 2016). Accordingly, THg baseline increased and the trophic magnification slope decreased in habitats with larger catchment area and peatland area, which are the source of mercury species to the lakes (Gilmour and Henry 1991, Matilainen et al. 2001, Eklöf et al. 2018). Moreover, catchment-derived nutrients and dissolved organic matter in southernmost murky lakes probably enhance anoxic conditions, promoting lakes' methylation process (Ullrich et al. 2001, Branfireun et al. 2020).

Additionally, the size and depth of the lake play a crucial role in mercury transfer in the food webs. Small and shallow lakes have limited resources, therefore species are less diverse and abundant. Less complex food webs are prone to contain a higher concentration of THg. Large and deep lakes have more species and complex food webs distributing mercury through total biomass via biodilution. Lake morphometrics alone might not have a significant relation to trophic magnification slope or THg baseline. However, it shapes fish communities, habitats, and water dynamics determining ion exchange between profundal and pelagic habitats (Håkanson 2005, León et al. 2005, Eagles-Smith et al. 2008, Weyhenmeyer 2009).

5. General discussion

5.1 Environmental factors vs biological factors

Ecosystems are complex objects with continuous interactions and processes of biotic and abiotic components, including anthropogenic activity. For example, bottom-up processes from climate warming and intensified anthropogenic activity affect biogeochemical cycles in catchments and lakes, further increasing primary production and mercury kinetics (Stern et al. 2012, Obrist et al. 2018, Paper III). Additionally, environmental conditions regulate fish behaviour, feeding rates, and community interactions. Therefore, climate, productivity, catchment properties and lake morphometrics are crucial environmental factors to determine mercury pathways on multiple ecological levels starting from the individual, through population, community, and aquatic food web, to the ecosystem level (Wong et al. 1997, Campbell et al. 2008, Cheng et al. 2011, Johnston et al. 2022). All papers in this study proved mercury bioaccumulation highly depends on species-specific factors, but also on environmental variation (Fig. 11, Table 3). Both biological and environmental factors control molecular changes, i.e. amino acid and lipid composition is species-specific and its nutritional value depends on community structure and nutrient origin (Mohanty et al. 2014, Cole et al. 2015, Grosse et al. 2019, Taipale et al. 2019), while climate, productivity and catchment runoff regulate mercury methylation and concentration in lakes (Matilainen et al. 2001, Tjerngren et al. 2012).



Figure 11 Summary of explanatory models for mercury content in biota. Roman numerals refer to number of paper and model included, respectfully.

Table 3 Combined GLM results from all three papers. Plus and minus sign represents positive or negative correlation of given factor in the model, respectively. Significant, strong factors are bolded. Abbreviations: THg – total mercury content (age corrected), MGR – Mercury Growth Ratio, TMS – Trophic Magnification Slope, THg baseline – minimal total mercury content assimilated in primary produces from the environment, TL – trophic level, FCL – Food Chain Length, PC1 – climate-productivity gradient, PC2 – catchment properties, PC3 – lake morphometrics, $P_{C:N}$ – top predator C:N ratio as lipid content proxy, P_{age} – top predator age, δ_{BMI} – density of benthic macroinvertebrates, CPUE_{TOT} – relative total abundance of fish, L_{∞} – asymptotic length, Cys – cysteine content.

Organization	Selected model	Adj. R ²			
level					
		Total	Biology	Environment	Molecules
Individual	THg ≈ TL + PC1 – Cys – PC2	0.44	0.25	0.13	0.06
Population	$MGR \approx CPUE_{TOT} - \delta_{BMI} - PC3 - L_{\infty}$	0.30	0.29	0.01	
Community	$TMS \approx -\textbf{FCL} - \textbf{PC2} - PC1 - P_{C:N} + PC3$	0.90	0.83	0.05	0.02
and Ecosystem	THg baseline $\approx \mathbf{P}_{age} + \mathbf{FCL} + PC2 - PC3 + P_{C:N} + PC1$	0.69	0.49	0.13	0.07
Mean percentage explained (%)		100	80	14	6

All models showed warmer climate, higher productivity and biomass, and more complex food web structure elevated mercury content in aquatic organisms. In general, biological factors were the most important variables affecting mercury rates in biota explaining 80% of all model variation (Table 3). Environmental factors explained only 14% of mercury bioaccumulation in biota. Mercury input increased from catchment runoff to lakes with greater catchment area and intense anthropogenic activity. The magnitude of mercury input depends on catchment land use (i.e. peatland and forest area, ditch length), where, e.g. catchments with larger peatland area and higher anthropogenic activity increase mercury methylation and total mercury concentration in lakes (Obrist et al. 2018). Mercury methylation is enhanced in warmer climate and anoxic conditions (Ullrich et al. 2001), which can be found in deep, small, and eutrophic lakes. All these processes increase methylmercury concentration in the water column and further, enhance bioaccumulation in primary producers and biomagnification in the food webs. No interactions between variables were tested, however previous studies proved that climate-productivity gradient affects mercury content in fish (Ahonen et al. 2018),

nutritional value and primary production (Taipale et al. 2016, Keva et al. 2021), community structure (Hayden et al. 2017, Hayden et al. 2019, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021) and fish interactions (Hayden et al. 2013). THg concentration in the environment (e.g. water, sediments, catchment) is needed to fully understand mercury transfer from the environment to the food web. HERTTA-database (https://wwwp2.ymparisto.fi/scripts/kirjaudu.asp [12.12.2022]) share continuous THg measurements of lake surface water near Pallas mercury deposition station (Jiskira et al. 2018) at the mid-part of the studied watercourse (near Lake Jeris, no 12 on the map, Fig. 6). The database indicates mercury concentrations were mainly below detection limit < 2 ng L⁻¹ and the maximum values reached 4 ± 2 ng L⁻¹. Similarly low content was found as basal THg (ranged from 1.9 ng g⁻¹ d.w in oligotrophic lakes to 12.5 ng g⁻¹ d.w. in eutrophic lakes), which is assimilated by primary producers from the environment (**Paper III**).

Paper I studied interactions of amino acids and mercury, while **Paper III** tested THg biomagnification and THg baseline relation to C:N ratio of top predator and primary consumer, which was used as a proxy for lipid content. In total the molecular connection explained only 6% of the final model variation. Both biological and environmental factors can explain the majority of mercury bioaccumulation and biomagnification. However, all processes depend on molecular interactions of bioavailable forms of mercury in the environment and biota. Therefore, all parts are important and should be studied in addition to mercury levels in the environment (air, water, lake sediment, catchment).

5.2 Mercury reduction in biota

Mercury bioaccumulates in biota effectively over time, however organisms developed mercury detoxification pathways. Primary producers synthesize proline as an antioxidative metabolite to reduce heavy metal stress (Kumar et al. 2017). Consumers developed multiple detoxification pathways, including the synthesis of cysteine-rich proteins (i.e. metallothionine and glutathione) to bind mercury and remove it through the urinary and digestive systems (Sinaie et al. 2010, Li et al. 2013). Additionally, some fish developed in vivo demethylation processes to reduce mercury toxicity (Wang et al. 2017). Small THg content can be removed with spawning in females and milt in males (Madenjian et al. 2014). Inorganic mercury removal at a small rate is also possible through gills and skin (Coello and Khan 1996, Pereira

et al. 2015). In total, the detoxification efficiency is only about 30% (for MeHg) in top predatory fish annually (Lockhart et al. 1972), but it highly depends on the nutritional balance obtained from the food for effective protein synthesis (Bukovinszky et al. 2008, Srikanth et al. 2013). Many studies found cysteine to be the most significant amino acid responsible for mercury detoxification (Mok et al. 2014, Thera et al. 2022, **Paper I**).

Despite not efficient detoxification kinetics, mercury content can be diluted by fish growth (growth dilution; Paper II) and in food web biomass (biodilution; Paper III). Physicochemical properties of the environment are one of the key factors for optimal growth, where fish obtains the maximum amount of energy with minimum energy consumption to fulfil living expenses (Weatherley 1976, Casselman 1996, Moslemi-Aqdam et al. 2021). These conditions were found mainly in mesotrophic lakes representing intermediate environmental conditions for selected species; pike, perch, roach, ruffe, vendace and whitefish. Increased biomass supplies the food web with more energy for growth, but it increases competition and predation risk, therefore fish need to use more energy to obtain the food and to carry defensive responses to reduce predation stress (Abrams and Rowe 1996, Archard et al. 2012, de Meo 2021). High fish density has a negative impact on mercury growth dilution, however it reduces mercury transfer to top predators via biodilution (Watanabe et al. 2008, Revenga et al. 2012, Paper III). The best biodilution effect was observed in eutrophic lakes, which support large algal blooms. On the contrary, eutrophic conditions also enhance mercury methylation, increasing bioavailable mercury concentration in lakes (Kozlowsky-Suzuki et al. 2012, Tjerngren et al. 2012).

Mercury detoxification, growth dilution and biodilution are complex processes whose rates depend on the balance of many environmental and biological factors. The studied models along the Tornio-Muonio watercourse showed that fish with increased cysteine content could support detoxification processes in pike, where catchment properties could support nutritional requirements. Furthermore, mesotrophic lakes represented the best intermediate conditions for mercury growth dilution in perch and ruffe. Finally, contrasting processes of increased methylation and mercury biodilution are lake specific. Eutrophic food webs showed that mercury bioaccumulation is a stronger process that surpasses biodilution resulting in high mercury content in top predators.

37

5.3 One Health

Fish have been traditionally one of the primary food sources for humans. The nutritional value of fish (i.e. omega-3 fatty acids, proteins, D-vitamin, minerals) is highly demanded in the human body. However, due to increasing mercury toxification risk (and other pollutants), fish consumption is less beneficial concerning especially for species at the top of the food web. Nowadays, mercury poisoning from fish consumption still occurs globally and is mainly found in people with an unbalanced diet (consuming almost exclusively seafood, ie. whales, seals, and fish) (Basu et al. 2022). USA poisoning statistics showed that in 2020 about 1% of all reported mercury poisoning cases, originated from food (ca. 20000 cases) (https://www.poison.org/poison-statistics-national [13.10.2020]). According to the United Nations, the maximum acceptable level of THg in fish for consumption should not exceed 500-1000 ng g⁻¹ wet mass in non-piscivorous and piscivorous fish, respectively (which corresponds to ca. 2500–5000 ng g⁻¹ dry weight unit used in the present study) (Codex Alimentarius 1995). The general dietary guidelines in the United States of America (<u>https://fda.gov</u> [13.10.2020]) and Europe (https://knowledge4policy.ec.europa.eu [13.10.2020]) for fish consumption suggest 1-2 fish/seafood meals per week (100 g of filet per meal) to balance risk-benefit outcomes. Omega-3 fatty acid content of both invertivorous and piscivorous fish has been evaluated in the very same Tornio-Muonio watercourse, and the content was relatively stable (Keva et al. 2021). This suggests that potential change in any hazard quotient is mainly driven by changes in mercury content as observed in a recent study from European perch in boreal lakes (Keva et al. 2022). In this study, 4130 fish from seventeen species had measured THg, out of which eight piscivorous fish (four pike and four perch) exceeded the maximum acceptable level for consumption. These individuals were old, had a large body size, and were located in warm and eutrophic lakes.

Many processes are involved in mercury bioaccumulation and biomagnification in biota, which are complex and often result in a "domino effect". Therefore, One Health is the most appropriate approach to balance, unify, and optimize the health of people, animals, and the environment. The best solution to reduce the risk of mercury poisoning from fish consumption is to reduce mercury concentration in the environment, however multiple challenges are met. Minamata Convention on Mercury is the most global agreement focusing on environmental monitoring and emission reduction, as well as human health. Practises of mercury reduction and removal from the atmosphere and water bodies are still being developed using phytoremediation, bioremediation, activated carbon adsorption, extractions, thiol-based ligands, and others (Granite et al. 2000, Atwood and Zaman 2006). Nevertheless, the cost of mercury removal from the environment is too great to use any of these practices on a broader scale (but see Verta 1990). Thus, the most efficient practice is awareness and careful selection of fish for consumption. According to this study, cold and less productive lakes support lower mercury content in fish, however many environmental characteristics are region-specific and thus broader view is needed.

Mercury monitoring faces another challenge, where combined climate change and anthropogenic sources increase mercury in fish. Represented climate-productivity gradient allows to predict possible joint environmental responses to global warming and intensifying land use in the studied subarctic region. IPCC reported the predictions for subarctic regions to show a 3-8°C increase in temperature and increased precipitation in 2100 (IPCC 2014). If land use is intensifying fast, the joint effects may suggest that in the next century mercury increase in the environment would occur and consequently, it would increase its bioaccumulation and biomagnification in biota.

The Tornio-Muonio watercourse represents cold northern and warm southern lakes with increased 3°C air temperature and precipitation along the watercourse. These findings indicate that subarctic oligotrophic lakes could face possible changes in the next century that would reflect in trends explained in this study. However, lakes are region-specific ecosystems, therefore should be investigated independently or in a group of lakes with similar characteristics. High mercury content exceeding toxic levels for consumption was usually found near point sources of THg pollution, such as industrial activities (Gandhi et al. 2014, Braaten et al. 2019, Morris et al. 2022). Historical records show, that Hg emission and any of the THg hot spots were restricted due to national legislation and later on due to Minamata Convention resulting in lower THg in the biota in the near lakes (Gandhi et al. 2014, Braaten et al. 2019). Many other lakes showed no change or mercury increase in biota (Miller et al. 2013) most likely due to other anthropogenic practices, such as ditching and forest cutting in the catchments. In general, lakes in a warmer climate and with increased productivity could result in an increase of mercury in fish. This change might result in more restrictive guidelines for fish consumption in the future.

6. Conclusions

Mercury content in fish varies among species and depends on many biological and environmental factors. Amino acids are important in methylmercury bioaccumulation and detoxification processes, where fish with increased cysteine and decreased proline content have lower mercury levels. Mercury content increased in top predatory fish toward warmer and more productive lakes, while contrary to other studies, total amino acid content decreased. However, individual amino acid content varied between populations along the gradient. Older and larger individuals generally contained higher mercury levels due to longer exposure time and higher consumption rates. A faster growth rate decreased mercury bioaccumulation in fish, where the most efficient mercury growth dilution was observed in intermediate environmental conditions supporting better growth. In such mesotrophic lakes, fish have optimal conditions in relation to fish density and available resources.

Environmental factors, such as climate, nutrient concentration, catchment area and type, anthropogenic activity in the catchment area, and lake morphometrics, influence mercury input to the aquatic system and biogeochemical changes between mercury species. In addition, environmental factors affect primary production, community structure, and fish behaviour, indirectly regulating mercury bioaccumulation and biomagnification in aquatic biota through biological responses.

Natural detoxification mechanisms in organisms and mercury dilution effects are not sufficient to surpass mercury bioaccumulation and biomagnification processes. However, studied changes can give guidelines for the best fishing lakes with lower mercury content in fish. This study suggests cool habitats with moderate productivity, but low anthropogenic activity in the catchment area represents low mercury bioaccumulation in fish. Medium-size fish are recommended for the fishing target for consumption. In addition, to avoid the consequences of mercury poisoning, a balanced diet and fish consumption rates should be taken into consideration.

7. Caveats and future directions

Environmental monitoring studies are crucial to understanding mercury variation over all ecological levels in wild fish. This study presented underlying environmental, biological and molecular processes that affect mercury content in aquatic biota. However, the interpretation needs to be supported by experimental studies to clearly distinguish the impact effect, direction, and strength of each studied factor on mercury in biota.

Cysteine and proline were found to significantly impact mercury content in top predatory pike. This study is the first to test and find a proline relation to mercury in fish. Future investigations should conduct experiments on the proline and mercury relationship and chemical changes in pike and other fish species. Furthermore, the amino acid composition varies significantly among species and depends on the fish's condition and nutritional intake, therefore future studies should consider complete amino acid composition analysis to test their relation to mercury. Detailed biochemical studies on mercury bioaccumulation and detoxification aspects should be conducted in relation to fish nutrition.

In this study, community structure significantly affects mercury content in fish. Future investigations should test both intra- and interspecific competition effects on mercury biodilution and growth dilution. In addition, the effect of predation risk on amino acid synthesis should be investigated in order to fully address the fish community's impact on mercury bioaccumulation rates.

Lake ecosystems are region-specific, and their chemical composition highly depends on catchment runoff. Therefore, more studies are needed in different ecosystems and regions to draw general conclusions about the environmental impact on mercury biomagnification and dilution. Additionally, repetitional field studies over years are needed to evaluate temporal changes in mercury dynamics.

Many studies address mercury biomagnification in aquatic food webs, however little attention is paid to mercury bioaccumulation at the base of the food web. It is strongly recommended to investigate both trophic magnification slopes with THg baseline (intercept) to fully interpret bioaccumulation and biomagnification processes.

Acknowledgements

First of all, many thanks to all the people involved in data collection since 2009. It was impressive to work on a such large database. I would like to thank all my supervisors for their guidance and patience. Special thanks to Kimmo, the guru of fish and great teacher, for inspiring insights and discussions, and for introducing me to Finnish culture. Thank you, Kjartan, for the Norwegian translations, and Sami for welcoming me in Finland. Thanks to Kimmo, Kjartan and Sami for numerous, long discussions. This environmental chemist learned A LOT.

This work would be not possible without the help of fellow PhD students and researchers. Thank you, Ossi and Salla, for the statistical advice, picking up mushrooms and hanging out in pandemic times (sounds illegal, but was allowed). Thanks to Oliver for statistical support. Many thanks to the lab staff at the University of Jyväskylä. Thank you, Hannu, for your great help and nice conversations in the lab. Thanks to Lisbeth and Øyvind for their great administrative support.

There is nothing better than meeting new people along the way. Thanks to all Evenstad people for a great time; especially Ilaria & Francisco, Alina, Giulia, and Jacopo for numerous jamming, kayaking, canoeing, hiking, skiing, biking, fixing car at -20°C (such joy of joys) and helping me settle down at home. Pauliina and Alma, thanks for an amazing time in Finland. Thanks to Ania for your support from Bremen. And of course, thank you, to all my most amazing neighbours, but especially to Teis, Adam, Marita, Maria, Liam and Harley for making me feel at home in Stai and cheering me up from the other side of the fence to finish my thesis.

Jedno z najlepszych uczuć, kiedy oddaję pracę. Mamo, nie masz pojęcia jak wielkie dałaś mi wsparcie. Dzięki wielkie za podtrzymywanie tego upartego dziecka na lekcjach angielskiego. Jesteś dla mnie wzorem wytrzymałości, niezależności, kreatywności i siły. Młody, dzięki za dzieleneie się bólem pisania pracy. Młodemu, ojcu, mamie i Monice, dzięki za pomoc z odległości i na miejscu przy remontach i w dopingu pisania pracy.

There've been more people I'm grateful to, but there's not enough space to name you all. You know who you are.

References

- Abrams PA, Rowe L (1996) The effects of predation on the age and size of maturity of prey. Evolution 50: 1052–1061.
- Ahonen SA, Hayden B, Leppänen JJ, Kahilainen KK (2018) Climate and productivity affect total mercury concentration and bioaccumulation rate of fish along a spatial gradient of subarctic lakes. Science of the Total Environment 637–638: 1586–1596.
- Ajsuvakova OP, Tinkov AA, Aschner M, Rocha JBT, Michalke B, Skalnaya MG, Skalny A v., Butnariu M, Dadar M, Sarac I, Aaseth J, Bjørklund G (2020) Sulfhydryl groups as targets of mercury toxicity. Coordination Chemistry Reviews 417: 213343.
- AMAP (2011) AMAP Assessment 2011: Mercury in the Arctic. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo, Norway, 210 pp.
- AMAP (2021) AMAP Assessment 2021: Mercury in the Arctic. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Tromsø, Norway, 324 pp.
- Archard GA, Earley RL, Hanninen AF, Braithwaite VA (2012) Correlated behaviour and stress physiology in fish exposed to different levels of predation pressure. Functional Ecology 26: 637– 645.
- Aschner M, Clarkson TW (1989) Methyl mercury uptake across bovine brain capillary endothelial cells *in Vitro:* The role of amino acids. Pharmacology & Toxicology 64: 293–297.
- Atwood DA, Zaman MK (2006) Mercury removal from water. Structure and Bonding 120: 163–182.
- Bagenal TB, Tesch FW (1978) Age and growth. In: Bagenal T (Ed.), Methods for assessment of fish production in fresh waters. Blackwell Scientific Publications, 101–136.
- Barneche DR, Allen AP (2018) The energetics of fish growth and how it constrains food-web trophic structure. Ecology Letters 21: 836–844.
- Basu N, Abass K, Dietz R, Krümmel E, Rautio A, Weihe P (2022) The impact of mercury contamination on human health in the Arctic: A state of the science review. Science of the Total Environment 831: 154793.
- Bishop K, Shanley JB, Riscassi A, de Wit HA, Eklöf K, Meng B, Mitchell C, Osterwalder S, Schuster PF, Webster J, Zhu W (2020) Recent advances in understanding and measurement of mercury in the environment: Terrestrial Hg cycling. Science of the Total Environment 721: 137647.
- Bloom NS (1992) On the Chemical form of mercury in edible fish and marine invertebrate tissue. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 49: 1010–1017.
- Borgå K, Kidd KA, Muir DC, Berglund O, Conder JM, Gobas FA, Kucklick J, Malm O, Powell DE (2012) Trophic magnification factors: Considerations of ecology, ecosystems, and study design. Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management 8: 64–84.
- Braaten HFV, Åkerblom S, Kahilainen KK, Rask M, Vuorenmaa J, Mannio J, Malinen T, Lydersen E, Poste AE, Amundsen PA, Kashulin N, Kashulina T, Terentyev P, Christensen G, de Wit HA

(2019) Improved environmental status: 50 years of declining fish mercury levels in boreal and subarctic Fennoscandia. Environmental Science and Technology 53: 1834–1843.

- Branfireun BA, Roulet NT (2002) Controls on the fate and transport of methylmercury in a boreal headwater catchment, northwestern Ontario, Canada. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions, European Geosciences Union 6: 785–794.
- Branfireun BA, Cosio C, Poulain AJ, Riise G, Bravo AG (2020) Mercury cycling in freshwater systems -An updated conceptual model. Science of the Total Environment 745: 140906.
- Brown LC, Duguay CR (2010) The response and role of ice cover in lake-climate interactions. Progress in Physical Geography: Earth and Environment 34: 671–704.
- Bukovinszky T, van Veen FJF, Jongema Y, Dicke M (2008) Direct and indirect effects of resource quality on food web structure. Science 319: 804–807.
- Cabana G, Rasmussen JB (1994) Modelling food chain structure and contaminant bioaccumulation using stable nitrogen isotopes. Nature 1994 372:6503 372: 255–257.
- Cabana G, Rasmussen JB (1996) Comparison of aquatic food chains using nitrogen isotopes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93: 10844– 10847.
- Campbell LM, Hecky RE, Nyaundi J, Muggide R, Dixon DG (2003) Distribution and food-web transfer of mercury in Napoleon and Winam Gulfs, Lake Victoria, East Africa. International Association of Great Lakes Research 29: 267–282.
- Campbell LM, Verburg P, Dixon DG, Hecky RE (2008) Mercury biomagnification in the food web of Lake Tanganyika (Tanzania, East Africa). Science of the Total Environment 402: 184–191.
- Carroll RWH, Warwick JJ (2017) The importance of dynamic mercury water column concentrations on body burdens in a planktivorous fish: A bioenergetic and mercury mass balance perspective. Ecological Modelling 364: 66–76.
- Casselman JM (1996) Age, growth and environmental requirements of pike. In: Craig JF (Ed.), Pike. Springer, Dordrecht, 69–101.
- Chapman LJ, Mackay WC, Wilkinson CW (1989) Feeding flexibility in northern pike (*Esox lucius*): Fish versus invertebrate prey. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 46: 666–669.
- Cheng Z, Liang P, Shao DD, Wu SC, Nie XP, Chen KC, Li K bin, Wong MH (2011) Mercury biomagnification in the aquaculture pond ecosystem in the pearl river delta. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 61: 491–499.
- Chiarle S, Ratto M, Rovatti M (2000) Mercury removal from water by ion exchange resins adsorption. Water Research 34: 2971–2978.
- Chojnacka K (2010) Biosorption and bioaccumulation the prospects for practical applications. Environment International 36: 299–307.
- Clarkson TW, Vyas JB, Ballatori N (2007) Mechanisms of mercury disposition in the body. American Journal of Industrial Medicine 50: 757–764.
- Codex Alimentarius (1995) Codex general standard for contaminants and toxins in food and feed (codex stan 193-1995).

- Coelho JP, Mieiro CL, Pereira E, Duarte AC, Pardal MA (2013) Mercury biomagnification in a contaminated estuary food web: Effects of age and trophic position using stable isotope analyses. Marine Pollution Bulletin 69: 110–115.
- Coello WF, Khan MAQ (1996) Protection against heavy metal toxicity by mucus and scales in fish. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 1996 30:3 30: 319–326.
- Cole AJ, Angell AR, de Nys R, Paul NA (2015) Cyclical changes in biomass productivity and amino acid content of freshwater macroalgae following nitrogen manipulation. Algal Research 12: 477–486.
- Compeau G, Bartha R (1984) Methylation and demethylation of mercury under controlled redox, pH and salinity conditions. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 48: 1203–7.
- Conder JM, Gobas FAPC, Borgå K, Muir DCG, Powell DE (2012) Use of trophic magnification factors and related measures to characterize bioaccumulation potential of chemicals. Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management 8: 85–97.
- Craig JF (2008) A short review of pike ecology. Hydrobiologia 601: 5–16.
- Dang F, Wang WX (2012) Why mercury concentration increases with fish size? Biokinetic explanation. Environmental Pollution 163: 192–198.
- Deng L, Wu F, Deng N, Zuo Y (2008) Photoreduction of mercury(II) in the presence of algae, Anabaena cylindrical. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology 91: 117–124.
- Deslauriers D, Chipps SR, Breck JE, Rice JA, Madenjian CP (2017) Fish bioenergetics 4.0: An R-based modeling application. Fisheries Magazine 42(11): 586-596.
- Dumas A, France J, Bureau D (2010) Modelling growth and body composition in fish nutrition: Where have we been and where are we going? Aquaculture Research 41: 161–181.
- Eagles-Smith CA, Suchanek TH, Colwell AE, Anderson NL (2008) Mercury trophic transfer in a eutrophic lake: the importance of habitat-specific foraging. Ecological Applications 18: A196–A212.
- Eklöf K, Lidskog R, Bishop K (2016) Managing Swedish forestry's impact on mercury in fish: Defining the impact and mitigation measures. Ambio 45: 163–174.
- Eklöf K, Bishop K, Bertilsson S, Björn E, Buck M, Skyllberg U, Osman OA, Kronberg RM, Bravo AG (2018) Formation of mercury methylation hotspots as a consequence of forestry operations.
 Science of the Total Environment 613–614: 1069–1078.
- Essington TE, Kitchell JF, Walters CJ (2001) The von Bertalanffy growth function, bioenergetics, and the consumption rates of fish. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 58: 2129–2138.
- Estlander S, Kahilainen KK, Horppila J, Olin M, Rask M, Kubečka J, Peterka J, Říha M, Huuskonen H, Nurminen L (2017) Latitudinal variation in sexual dimorphism in life-history traits of a freshwater fish. Ecology and Evolution 7: 665–673.
- Fagan K-A, Koops MA, Arts MT, Power M (2011) Assessing the utility of C:N ratios for predicting lipid content in fishes. Kidd K (Ed.). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 68: 374–385.

- Farina M, Aschner M (2019) Glutathione antioxidant system and methylmercury-induced neurotoxicity: An intriguing interplay. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects 1863: 129285.
- Fisk AT, Hobson KA, Norstrom RJ (2001) Influence of chemical and biological factors on trophic transfer of persistent organic pollutants in the Northwater Polynya marine food web. Environmental Science & Technology 35: 732–738.
- Frost WE (1954) The food of pike, *Esox lucius* L., in Windermere. The Journal of Animal Ecology 23: 339–360.
- Gantner N, Power M, Iqaluk D, Meili M, Borg H, Sundbom M, Solomon KR, Lawson G, Muir DC (2010) Mercury concentrations in landlocked Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*) from the Canadian Arctic. Part I: Insights from trophic relationships in 18 lakes. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 29: 621–632.
- Gilmour CC, Henry EA (1991) Mercury methylation in aquatic systems affected by acid deposition. Environmental Pollution 71: 131–169.
- Gilmour CC, Henry EA, Mitchell R (1992) Sulfate stimulation of mercury methylation in freshwater sediments. Environmental Science & Technology 26: 2281–2287.
- Gómez MM, Motilla R, Díez E (1989) Adsorption of proline on a mercury electrode in neutral solution. Electrochimica Acta 34: 831–839.
- Gotelli IB, Cleland R (1968) Differences in the occurance and distribution of hydroxyproline-proteins among the algae. American Journal of Botany 55: 907–914.
- Graeb BDS, Dettmers JM, Wahl DH, Cáceres CE (2004) Fish size and prey availability affect growth, survival, prey selection, and foraging behavior of larval yellow perch. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 133: 504–514.
- Granite EJ, Pennline HW, Hargis RA (2000) Novel sorbents for mercury removal from flue gas. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 39: 1020–1029.
- Grosse J, Brussaard CPD, Boschker HTS (2019) Nutrient limitation driven dynamics of amino acids and fatty acids in coastal phytoplankton. Limnology and Oceanography 64: 302–316.
- Gworek B, Dmuchowski W, Baczewska-Dąbrowska AH (2020) Mercury in the terrestrial environment: a review. Environmental Sciences Europe 2020 32:1 32: 1–19.
- Håkanson L (2005) The importance of Lake Morphometry for the structure and function of lakes. International Review of Hydrobiology 90: 433–461.
- Halbach S (1990) Mercury compounds: lipophilicity and toxic effects on isolated myocardial tissue. Archives of Toxicology 64: 315–319.
- Hall BD, Bodaly RA, Fudge RJP, Rudd JWM, Rosenberg DM (1997) Food as the dominant pathway of methylmercury uptake by fish. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 100: 13–24.
- Hayden B, Harrod C, Kahilainen KK (2013) The effects of winter ice cover on the trophic ecology of whitefish (*Coregonus lavaretus* L.) in subarctic lakes. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 22: 192–201.
- Hayden B, Myllykangas J-P, Rolls RJ, Kahilainen KK (2017) Climate and productivity shape fish and invertebrate community structure in subarctic lakes. Freshwater Biology 62: 990–1003.

- Hayden B, Harrod C, Thomas SM, Eloranta AP, Myllykangas J -P., Siwertsson A, Præbel K, Knudsen R, Amundsen P -A., Kahilainen KK (2019) From clear lakes to murky waters – tracing the functional response of high-latitude lake communities to concurrent 'greening' and 'browning.' Ecology Letters 22: 807–816.
- Henriques B, Rocha LS, Lopes CB, Figueira P, Monteiro RJR, Duarte AC, Pardal MA, Pereira E (2015)
 Study on bioaccumulation and biosorption of mercury by living marine macroalgae: Prospecting for a new remediation biotechnology applied to saline waters. Chemical Engineering Journal 281: 759–770.
- Hepler LG, Olofsson G (1975) Mercury: Thermodynamic properties, chemical equilibria, and standard potentials. Chemical Reviews 75: 585–602.
- Hong Y-S, Kim Y-M, Lee K-E (2012) Methylmercury exposure and health effects. Journal of Preventive Medicine and Public Health 45: 363.
- Houlihan DF, Mathers EM, Foster A (1993) Biochemical correlates of growth rate in fish. In: Rankin JC, Jensen FB (Eds), Fish ecophysiology. Springer, Dordrecht, 45–71.
- Hudelson KE, Muir DCG, Drevnick PE, Köck G, Iqaluk D, Wang X, Kirk JL, Barst BD, Grgicak-Mannion A, Shearon R, Fisk AT (2019) Temporal trends, lake-to-lake variation, and climate effects on Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*) mercury concentrations from six High Arctic lakes in Nunavut, Canada. Science of the Total Environment 678: 801–812.
- IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis report. Contribution of working groups I, II and III to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Geneva, Switzerland, 151 pp.
- Jensen H, Kahilainen KK, Amundsen PA, Gjelland KØ, Tuomaala A, Malinen T, Bøhn T (2008) Predation by brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) along a diversifying prey community gradient. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 65: 1831–1841.
- Jobling M (1981) The influences of feeding on the metabolic rate of fishes: a short review. Journal of Fish Biology 18: 385–400.
- Johnston TA, Lescord GL, Quesnel M, Savage P-L, Gunn JM, Kidd KA (2022) Age, body size, growth and dietary habits: What are the key factors driving individual variability in mercury of lacustrine fishes in northern temperate lakes? Environmental Research 213: 113740.
- Jussila M, Liljaniemi P, Karvonen L, Johansson M (2014) TRIWA III-Forestry Task ; Water protection in regeneration cutting and site preparation areas ; Guidelines and practices in the field. Centre for Economic Development, Transport, and the Environment for Lapland 72: 1–36.
- Kahilainen KK, Østbye K, Harrod C, Shikano T, Malinen T, Merilä J (2011a) Species introduction promotes hybridization and introgression in Coregonus: is there sign of selection against hybrids? Molecular Ecology 20: 3838–3855.
- Kahilainen KK, Siwertsson A, Gjelland KØ, Knudsen R, Bøhn T, Amundsen P-A (2011b) The role of gill raker number variability in adaptive radiation of coregonid fish. Evolutionary Ecology 25: 573– 588.
- Kahilainen KK, Thomas SM, Keva O, Hayden B, Knudsen R, Eloranta AP, Tuohiluoto K, Amundsen P-A, Malinen T, Järvinen A (2016) Seasonal dietary shift to zooplankton influences stable isotope

ratios and total mercury concentrations in Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus* (L.)). Hydrobiologia 783: 47–63.

- Kahilainen KK, Thomas SM, Nystedt EKM, Keva O, Malinen T, Hayden B (2017) Ecomorphological divergence drives differential mercury bioaccumulation in polymorphic European whitefish (*Coregonus lavaretus*) populations of subarctic lakes. Science of the Total Environment 599– 600: 1768–1778.
- Kapoor D, Kavani K, Rattan A, Landi M, Sharma A (2021) Ameliorative role of pre-sowing proline treatment in *Coriandrum sativum* L. seedlings under mercury toxicity. Phyton-International Journal of Experimental Botany 90: 489–501.
- Karimi R, Chen CY, Pickhardt PC, Fisher NS, Folt CL (2007) Stoichiometric controls of mercury dilution by growth. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104: 7477–7482.
- Karimi R, Chen CY, Folt CL (2016) Comparing nearshore benthic and pelagic prey as mercury sources to lake fish: the importance of prey quality and mercury content. Science of the Total Environment 565: 211–221.
- Karlsson J, Byström P (2005) Littoral energy mobilization dominates energy supply for top consumers in subarctic lakes. Limnology and Oceanography 50: 538–543.
- Kasper D, Palermo EFA, Dias ACMI, Ferreira GL, Leitão RP, Branco CWC, Malm O (2009) Mercury distribution in different tissues and trophic levels of fish from a tropical reservoir, Brazil. Neotropical Ichthyology 7: 751–758.
- Kerin EJ, Gilmour CC, Roden E, Suzuki MT, Coates JD, Mason RP (2006) Mercury methylation by dissimilatory iron-reducing bacteria. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72: 7919–21.
- Kerper LE, Ballatori N, Clarkson TW (1992) Methylmercury transport across the blood-brain barrier by an amino acid carrier. The American Journal of Physiology 262: R761–R765.
- Keva O, Taipale SJ, Hayden B, Thomas SM, Vesterinen J, Kankaala P, Kahilainen KK (2021) Increasing temperature and productivity change biomass, trophic pyramids and community-level omega-3 fatty acid content in subarctic lake food webs. Global Change Biology 27: 282-296.
- Keva O, Kiljunen M, Hämäläinen H, Jones RJ, Kahilainen KK, Laine MB, Schilder J, Strandberg U, Vesterinen J, Taipale SJ (2022) Allochtony, fatty acid and mercury trends in muscle of Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) along boreal environmental gradients. Science of the Total Environment 838: 155982.
- Kiessling A, Ruohonen K, Bjørnevik M (2006) Muscle fibre growth and quality in fish. Archiv fur Tierzucht, Dummerstorf 49: 137–146.
- Kiljunen M, Grey J, Sinisalo T, Harrod C, Immonen H, Jones RI (2006) A revised model for lipidnormalizing δ13C values from aquatic organisms, with implications for isotope mixing models. Journal of Applied Ecology 43: 1213–1222.
- Klein Tank AMG, Wijngaard JB, Können GP, Böhm R, Demarée G, Gocheva A, Mileta M, Pashiardis S, Hejkrlik L, Kern-Hansen C, Heino R, Bessemoulin P, Müller-Westermeier G, Tzanakou M, Szalai S, Pálsdóttir T, Fitzgerald D, Rubin S, Capaldo M, Maugeri M, Leitass A, Bukantis A, Aberfeld R, van Engelen AF v., Forland E, Mietus M, Coelho F, Mares C, Razuvaev V, Nieplova E, Cegnar T,

Antonio López J, Dahlström B, Moberg A, Kirchhofer W, Ceylan A, Pachaliuk O, Alexander L v., Petrovic P (2002) Daily dataset of 20th-century surface air temperature and precipitation series for the European Climate Assessment. International Journal of Climatology 22: 1441–1453.

- Kozlowsky-Suzuki B, Wilson AE, da Silva Ferrão-Filho A (2012) Biomagnification or biodilution of microcystins in aquatic foodwebs? Meta-analyses of laboratory and field studies. Harmful Algae 18: 47–55.
- Kumar B, Smita K, Cumbal Flores L (2017) Plant mediated detoxification of mercury and lead. Arabian Journal of Chemistry 10: S2335–S2342.
- Kwaśniak J, Falkowska L (2012) Mercury distribution in muscles and internal organs of the juvenile and adult Baltic cod (*Gadus morrhua callarias* Linnaeus, 1758). Oceanological and Hydrobiological Studies 2012 41:2 41: 65–71.
- Langford NJ, Ferner RE (1999) Toxicity of mercury. Journal of Human Hypertension 13: 651–656.
- Lavoie RA, Jardine TD, Chumchal MM, Kidd KA, Campbell LM (2013) Biomagnification of mercury in aquatic food webs: A worldwide meta-analysis. Environmental Science & Technology 47: 13385–13394.
- Lee CS, Fisher NS (2016) Methylmercury uptake by diverse marine phytoplankton. Limnology and Oceanography 61: 1626.
- León LF, Imberger J, Smith REH, Hecky RE, Lam DCL, Schertzer WM (2005) Modeling as a tool for nutrient management in Lake Erie: a hydrodynamics study. Journal of Great Lakes Research 31: 309–318.
- Lepistö A, Räike A, Sallantaus T, Finér L (2021) Increases in organic carbon and nitrogen concentrations in boreal forested catchments Changes driven by climate and deposition. Science of the Total Environment 780: 146627.
- Li HT, Feng L, Jiang WD, Liu Y, Jiang J, Li SH, Zhou XQ (2013) Oxidative stress parameters and antiapoptotic response to hydroxyl radicals in fish erythrocytes: Protective effects of glutamine, alanine, citrulline and proline. Aquatic Toxicology 126: 169–179.
- Lockhart WL, Uthe JF, Kenney AR, Mehrle PM (1972) Methylmercury in northern pike (*Esox lucius*): Distribution, elimination, and some biochemical characteristics of contaminated fish. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 29: 1519–1523.
- Madenjian CP, David SR, Pothoven SA (2012) Effects of activity and energy budget balancing algorithm on laboratory performance of a fish bioenergetics model. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 141: 1328–1337.
- Madenjian CP, Blanchfield PJ, Hrenchuk LE, van Walleghem JLA (2014) Mercury elimination rates for adult northern pike *Esox lucius*: Evidence for a sex effect. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 93: 144–148.
- Madenjian CP, Chipps SR, Blanchfield PJ (2021) Time to refine mercury mass balance models for fish. Facets 6: 272–286.
- Man Y, Yin R, Cai K, Qin C, Wang J, Yan H, Li M (2019) Primary amino acids affect the distribution of methylmercury rather than inorganic mercury among tissues of two farmed-raised fish species. Chemosphere 225: 320–328.

- Margenau TL, Rasmussen PW, Kampa JM (1998) Factors affecting growth of Northern pike in small Northern Wisconsin Lakes. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 18: 625–639.
- Martín-Gil J, Martín-Gil FJ, Delibes-de-Castro G, Zapatero-Magdaleno P, Sarabia-Herrero FJ (1995) The first known use of vermillion. Experientia 1995 51:8 51: 759–761.
- Matilainen T, Verta M, Korhonen H, Uusi-Rauva A, Niemi M (2001) Behavior of mercury in soil profiles: Impact of increased precipitation, acidity, and fertilization on mercury methylation. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 125: 105–120.
- May K, Stoeppler M, Reisinger K (1987) Studies in the ratio total mercury/methylmercury in the aquatic food chain. Toxicological & Environmental Chemistry 13: 153–159.
- McKinney MA, Chételat J, Burke SM, Elliott KH, Fernie KJ, Houde M, Kahilainen KK, Letcher RJ, Morris AD, Muir DCG, Routti H, Yurkowski DJ (2022) Climate change and mercury in the Arctic: Biotic interactions. Science of the Total Environment 834: 155221.
- de Meo I (2021) Ecological mechanisms driving the anti-predator defense response in Crucian carp (*Carassius carassius*) Variation in morphology, resource use, and life-history strategies along a gradient of predation risk. Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences (INN).
- Merrifield JD, Davids WG, MacRae JD, Amirbahman A (2004) Uptake of mercury by thiol-grafted chitosan gel beads. Water Research 38: 3132–3138.
- Miller A, Bignert A, Porvari P, Danielsson S, Verta M (2013) Mercury in Perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) from Sweden and Finland. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 224: 1472.
- Mohanty B, Mahanty A, Ganguly S, Sankar T v., Chakraborty K, Rangasamy A, Paul B, Sarma D,
 Mathew S, Asha KK, Behera B, Aftabuddin Md, Debnath D, Vijayagopal P, Sridhar N, Akhtar MS,
 Sahi N, Mitra T, Banerjee S, Paria P, Das D, Das P, Vijayan KK, Laxmanan PT, Sharma AP (2014)
 Amino acid compositions of 27 food fishes and their importance in clinical nutrition. Journal of
 Amino Acids 2014: 1–7.
- Mok WJ, Hatanaka Y, Seoka M, Itoh T, Tsukamasa Y, Ando M (2014) Effects of additional cysteine in fish diet on mercury concentration. Food Chemistry 147: 340–345.
- Monteiro LR, Costa V, Furness RW, Santos RS (1996) Mercury concentrations in prey fish indicate enhanced bioaccumulation in mesopelagic environments. Marine Ecology Progress Series 141: 21–25.
- Morel FMM, Kraepiel AML, Amyot M (1998) The chemical cycle and bioaccumulation of mercury. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 29: 543–566.
- Moslemi-Aqdam M, Low G, Low M, Branfireun BA, Swanson HK (2021) Catchments affect growth rate of Northern Pike, *Esox lucius*, in subarctic lakes. Aquatic Sciences 83: 1–14.
- Moslemi-Aqdam M, Baker LF, Baltzer JL, Branfireun BA, Evans MS, Laird BD, Low G, Low M, Swanson HK (2022) Understanding among-lake variability of mercury concentrations in Northern Pike (*Esox lucius*): A whole-ecosystem study in subarctic lakes. Science of the Total Environment 822: 153430.
- Obrist D, Agnan Y, Jiskra M, Olson CL, Colegrove DP, Hueber J, Moore CW, Sonke JE, Helmig D (2017) Tundra uptake of atmospheric elemental mercury drives Arctic mercury pollution. Nature 547: 201–204.

- Obrist D, Kirk JL, Zhang L, Sunderland EM, Jiskra M, Selin NE (2018) A review of global environmental mercury processes in response to human and natural perturbations: Changes of emissions, climate, and land use. Ambio 47: 116–140.
- O'Driscoll NJ, Rencz A, Lean DRS (2005) The biogeochemistry and fate of mercury in the environment. In: Sigel A, Sigel H (Eds), Metal ions in biological systems. Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, 1–84.
- Ohlberger J, Staaks G, Hölker F (2007) Effects of temperature, swimming speed and body mass on standard and active metabolic rate in vendace (*Coregonus albula*). Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical, Systemic, and Environmental Physiology 177: 905–916.
- Omosowone OO, Ozorewor MO (2019) L-proline; a growth promoter and potential immunopotentiator in the diet of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fingerlings. Nigerian Journal of Agriculture, Food and Environment 15: 159–164.
- Ouédraogo O, Chételat J, Amyot M (2015) Bioaccumulation and Trophic Transfer of Mercury and Selenium in African Sub-Tropical Fluvial Reservoirs Food Webs (Burkina Faso). García-Berthou E (Ed.). PLOS ONE 10: e0123048.
- Outridge PM, Mason RP, Wang F, Guerrero S, Heimbürger-Boavida LE (2018) Updated global and oceanic mercury budgets for the United Nations Global Mercury Assessment 2018. Environmental Science and Technology 52: 11466–11477.
- Palmer MA (1997) Biodiversity and ecosystem processes in freshwater sediment. Ambio 26: 571–577.
- Park JD, Zheng W (2012) Human exposure and health effects of inorganic and elemental mercury. Journal of Preventive Medicine and Public Health 45: 344–352.
- Parsons MB, Percival JB (2005) A brief history of mercury and its environmental impact. In: Parsons MB, Percival JB (Eds), Mercury: sources, measurements, cycles, and effects. Mineralogical Association of Canada, Halifax, Nova Scotia, 1–20.
- Peng X, Liu F, Wang WX (2016) Organ-specific accumulation, transportation, and elimination of methylmercury and inorganic mercury in a low Hg accumulating fish. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 35: 2074–2083.
- Pereira P, Raimundo J, Barata M, Araújo O, Pousão-Ferreira P, Canário J, Almeida A, Pacheco M (2015) A new page on the road book of inorganic mercury in fish body – tissue distribution and elimination following waterborne exposure and post-exposure periods. Metallomics 7: 525– 535.
- Pilati A, Vanni MJ, Pilati A, Vanni MJ (2007) Ontogeny, diet shifts, and nutrient stoichiometry in fish. Oikos 116: 1663–1674.
- Polak-Juszczak L (2018) Distribution of organic and inorganic mercury in the tissues and organ of fish from the southern Baltic Sea. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 25:34181-34189.
- Porvari P, Verta M (2003) Total and methyl mercury concentrations and fluxes from small boreal forest catchments in Finland. Environmental Pollution 123: 181–191.
- Porvari P, Verta M, Munthe J, Haapanen M (2003) Forestry practices increase mercury and methyl mercury output from boreal forest catchments. Environmental Science & Technology 37: 2389–2393.

- Post DM, Pace ML, Hairston NG (2000) Ecosystem size determines food-chain length in lakes. Nature 405: 1047–1049.
- Post DM (2002) Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: models, methods and assumptions. Ecology 83: 703–718.
- Poste AE, Muir DCG, Guildford SJ, Hecky RE (2015) Bioaccumulation and biomagnification of mercury in African lakes: The importance of trophic status. Science of the Total Environment 506–507: 126–136.
- R Core Team (2021) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: https://www.r-project.org/.
- Rabenstein DL, Fairhurst MT (1975) Nuclear magnetic resonance studies of the solution chemistry of metal complexes. XI. Binding of methylmercury by sulfhydryl-containing amino acids and by glutathione. Journal of the American Chemical Society 97: 2086–2092.
- Rask M, Verta M, Korhonen M, Salo S, Forsius M, Arvola L, Jones RI, Kiljunen M (2010) Does lake thermocline depth affect methyl mercury concentrations in fish? Biogeochemistry 101: 311– 322.
- Rask M, Malinen T, Olin M, Nyberg K, Ruuhijärvi J, Kahilainen KK, Verta M, Vuorenmaa J, Blauberg TR, Arvola L (2021) High mercury concentrations of European perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) in boreal headwater lakes with variable history of acidification and recovery. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 232: 1–15.
- Ravichandran M (2004) Interactions between mercury and dissolved organic matter a review. Chemosphere 55: 319-331.
- Rennie MD, Collins NC, Shuter BJ, Rajotte JW, Couture P (2005) A comparison of methods for estimating activity costs of wild fish populations: more active fish observed to grow slower. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 62: 767–780.
- Revenga JE, Campbell LM, Arribére MA, Ribeiro Guevara S (2012) Arsenic, cobalt and chromium food web biodilution in a Patagonia mountain lake. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 81: 1– 10.
- Sánchez-Hernández J, Nunn AD, Adams CE, Amundsen PA (2019) Causes and consequences of ontogenetic dietary shifts: a global synthesis using fish models. Biological Reviews 94: 539–554.
- Sánchez-Hernández J, Hayden B, Harrod C, Kahilainen KK (2021) Population niche breadth and individual trophic specialisation of fish along a climate-productivity gradient. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 31: 1025–1043.
- Sandheinrich MB, Drevnick PE (2016) Relationship among mercury concentration, growth rate, and condition of northern pike: A tautology resolved? Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 35: 2910–2915.
- Sanei H, Outridge PM, Goodarzi F, Wang F, Armstrong D, Warren K, Fishback L (2010) Wet deposition mercury fluxes in the Canadian sub-Arctic and southern Alberta, measured using an automated precipitation collector adapted to cold regions. Atmospheric Environment 44: 1672–1681.

- Sharma CM, Borgstrøm R, Huitfeldt JS, Rosseland BO (2008) Selective exploitation of large pike *Esox lucius*—Effects on mercury concentrations in fish populations. Science of the Total Environment 399: 33–40.
- Simmons-Willis TA, Koh AS, Clarkson TW, Ballatori N (2002) Transport of a neurotoxicant by molecular mimicry: the methylmercury–L-cysteine complex is a substrate for human L-type large neutral amino acid transporter (LAT) 1 and LAT2. Biochemical Journal 367: 239–246.
- Simoneau M, Lucotte M, Garceau S, Laliberté D (2005) Fish growth rates modulate mercury concentrations in walleye (*Sander vitreus*) from eastern Canadian lakes. Environmental Research 98: 73–82.
- Sinaie M, Bastami KD, Ghorbanpour M, Najafzadeh H, Shekari M, Haghparast S (2010) Metallothionein biosynthesis as a detoxification mechanism in mercury exposure in fish, spotted scat (*Scatophagus argus*). Fish Physiology and Biochemistry 36: 1235–1242.
- Sonesten L (2001) Mercury content in roach (*Rutilus rutilus* L.) in circumneutral lakes effects of catchment area and water chemistry. Environmental Pollution 112: 471–481.
- Sonesten L (2003) Fish mercury levels in lakes—adjusting for Hg and fish-size covariation. Environmental Pollution 125: 255–265.
- Srikanth K, Pereira E, Duarte AC, Ahmad I (2013) Glutathione and its dependent enzymes' modulatory responses to toxic metals and metalloids in fish—a review. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 20: 2133–2149.
- Stafford CP, Haines TA (2001) Mercury contamination and growth rate in two piscivore populations. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 20: 2099–2101.
- Stern GA, Macdonald RW, Outridge PM, Wilson S, Chételat J, Cole A, Hintelmann H, Loseto LL, Steffen A, Wang F, Zdanowicz C (2012) How does climate change influence arctic mercury? Science of the Total Environment 414: 22–42.
- Streets DG, Devane MK, Lu Z, Bond TC, Sunderland EM, Jacob DJ (2011) All-time releases of mercury to the atmosphere from human activities. Environmental Science & Technology 45: 10485–10491.
- Sundbäck K, Miles A, Linares F (2006) Nitrogen dynamics in nontidal littoral sediments: Role of microphytobenthos and denitrification. Estuaries and Coasts 29: 1196–1211.
- Sze YK, Davis AR, Neville GA (1975) Raman and infrared studies of complexes of mercury(II) with cysteine, cysteine methyl ester and methionine. Inorganic Chemistry 14: 1969–1974.
- Taipale SJ, Vuorio K, Strandberg U, Kahilainen KK, Järvinen M, Hiltunen M, Peltomaa E, Kankaala P
 (2016) Lake eutrophication and brownification downgrade availability and transfer of essential fatty acids for human consumption. Environment International 96: 156–166.
- Taipale SJ, Vuorio K, Aalto SL, Peltomaa E, Tiirola M (2019) Eutrophication reduces the nutritional value of phytoplankton in boreal lakes. Environmental Research 179: 108836.
- Thera JC, Kidd KA, Bertolo RF (2020) Amino acids in freshwater food webs: Assessing their variability among taxa, trophic levels, and systems. Freshwater Biology 65: 1101-1113.

- Thera JC, Kidd KA, Stewart AR, Bertolo RF, O'Driscoll NJ (2022) Using tissue cysteine to predict the trophic transfer of methylmercury and selenium in lake food webs. Environmental Pollution 311: 119936.
- Thomas SM, Kiljunen M, Malinen T, Eloranta AP, Amundsen P-A, Lodenius M, Kahilainen KK (2016) Food-web structure and mercury dynamics in a large subarctic lake following multiple species introductions. Freshwater Biology 61: 500–517.
- Tjerngren I, Karlsson T, Björn E, Skyllberg U (2012) Potential Hg methylation and MeHg demethylation rates related to the nutrient status of different boreal wetlands. Biogeochemistry 108: 335–350.
- Todorova S, Driscoll CT, Matthews DA, Effler SW (2015) Zooplankton community changes confound the biodilution theory of methylmercury accumulation in a recovering mercury-contaminated lake. Environmental Science & Technology 49: 4066–4071.
- Tran VS, Ngo HH, Guo W, Zhang J, Liang S, Ton-That C, Zhang X (2015) Typical low cost biosorbents for adsorptive removal of specific organic pollutants from water. Bioresource Technology 182: 353–363.
- Trudel M, Rasmussen JB (1997) Modeling the elimination of mercury by fish. Environmental Science and Technology 31: 1716–1722.
- Ukonmaanaho L, Starr M, Kantola M, Laurén A, Piispanen J, Pietilä H, Perämäki P, Merilä P, Fritze H, Tuomivirta T, Heikkinen J, Mäkinen J, Nieminen TM (2016) Impacts of forest harvesting on mobilization of Hg and MeHg in drained peatland forests on black schist or felsic bedrock. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 188: 228.
- Ullrich SM, Tanton TW, Abdrashitova SA (2001) Mercury in the aquatic environment: A review of factors affecting methylation. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology 31: 241–293.
- UNEP (2013) UNEP Global mercury assessment 2013. Sources, emissions, releases and environmental transport. United Nations Environment Programme. Geneva, Switzerland.
- UNEP (2018) Global mercury assessment. United Nations Environment Programme. Geneva, Switzerland.
- UNEP (2019) Minamata Convention on Mercury Text and Annexes. United Nations Environment Programme. Geneva, Switzerland.
- van der Velden S, Dempson JB, Evans MS, Muir DCG, Power M (2013) Basal mercury concentrations and biomagnification rates in freshwater and marine food webs: Effects on Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*) from eastern Canada. Science of The Total Environment 444: 531–542.
- Vander Zanden MJ, Cabana G, Rasmussen JB (1997) Comparing trophic position of freshwater fish calculated using stable nitrogen isotope ratios (δ 15 N) and literature dietary data. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 54: 1142–1158.
- Vander Zanden M, Vadeboncoeur Y (2002) Fishes as integrators of benthic and pelagic food webs in lakes. 2152 Ecology 83: 2152–2161.
- Verburg P, Hickey CW, Phillips N (2014) Mercury biomagnification in three geothermally-influenced lakes differing in chemistry and algal biomass. Science of the Total Environment 493: 342–354.

- Verta M (1990) Mercury in Finnish forest lakes and reservoirs: Anthropogenic contribution to the load and accumulation in fish. Publications of the Water and Environment Research Institute (Finland) 6: 1–33.
- Verta M, Salo S, Korhonen M, Porvari P, Paloheimo A, Munthe J (2010) Climate induced thermocline change has an effect on the methyl mercury cycle in small boreal lakes. Science of the Total Environment 408: 3639–3647.
- Volschenk CM, Gerber R, Mkhonto MT, Ikenaka Y, Yohannes YB, Nakayama S, Ishizuka M, van Vuren JHJ, Wepener V, Smit NJ (2019) Bioaccumulation of persistent organic pollutants and their trophic transfer through the food web: Human health risks to the rural communities reliant on fish from South Africa's largest floodplain. The Science of the Total Environment 685: 1116–1126.

von Bertalanffy L., 1938. A quantitative theory of organic growth. Human Biology 10: 181–213.

- Wang R, Wang W-X (2012) Contrasting mercury accumulation patterns in tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) and implications on somatic growth dilution. Aquatic Toxicology 114–115: 23–30.
- Wang W, Gao H, Jin S, Li R, Na G (2019) The ecotoxicological effects of microplastics on aquatic food web, from primary producer to human: A review. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 173: 110–117.
- Wang W-X (2012) Biodynamic understanding of mercury accumulation in marine and freshwater fish. Advances in Environmental Research 1: 15–35.
- Wang X, Wang W-X (2015) Physiologically based pharmacokinetic model for inorganic and methylmercury in a marine fish. Environmental Science & Technology 49: 10173–10181.
- Wang X, Wu F, Wang WX (2017) In vivo mercury demethylation in a marine fish (*Acanthopagrus schlegeli*). Environmental Science and Technology 51: 6441–6451.
- Wanke T, Brämick U, Mehner T (2017) High stock density impairs growth, female condition and fecundity, but not quality of early reproductive stages in vendace (*Coregonus albula*). Fisheries Research 186: 159–167.
- Ward DM, Nislow KH, Chen CY, Folt CL (2010) Rapid, efficient growth reduces mercury concentrations in stream-dwelling Atlantic salmon. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 139: 1–10.
- Watanabe K, Monaghan MT, Takemon Y, Omura T (2008) Biodilution of heavy metals in a stream macroinvertebrate food web: Evidence from stable isotope analysis. Science of the Total Environment 394: 57–67.
- Watras CJ, Bloom NS (1992) Mercury and methylmercury, in individual zooplankton: Implications for bioaccumulation. Limnology and Oceanography 37: 1313–1318.
- Watras CJ, Back RC, Halvorsen S, Hudson RJM, Morrison KA, Wente SP (1998) Bioaccumulation of mercury in pelagic freshwater food webs. Science of the Total Environment 219: 183–208.
- Weatherley AH (1976) Factors affecting maximization of fish growth. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 33: 1046–1058.

- Weyhenmeyer GA (2009) Rates of change in physical and chemical lake variables are they comparable between large and small lakes? In: European Large Lakes Ecosystem changes and their ecological and socioeconomic impacts. Springer Netherlands, 105–110.
- WHO (2007) Preventing disease through healthy environments; exposure to mercury: a major public health concern. Geneva, Switzerland
- Wong AHK, McQueen DJ, Williams DD, Demers E (1997) Transfer of mercury from benthic invertebrates to fishes in lakes with contrasting fish community structures. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 54: 1320–1330.
- Wu P, Kainz MJ, Bravo AG, Åkerblom S, Sonesten L, Bishop K (2019) The importance of bioconcentration into the pelagic food web base for methylercury biomagnification: A metaanalysis. Science of the Total Environment 646: 357–367.
- Xie SW, Tian LX, Li YM, Zhou W, Zeng SL, Yang HJ, Liu YJ (2015) Effect of proline supplementation on anti-oxidative capacity, immune response and stress tolerance of juvenile Pacific white shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*. Aquaculture 448: 105–111.
- Yee K-K, Reimer N, Liu J, Cheng S-Y, Yiu S-M, Weber J, Stock N, Xu Z (2013) Effective mercury sorption by thiol-laced metal–organic frameworks: in strong acid and the vapor phase. Journal of the American Chemical Society 135: 7795–7798.
- Zhao G, Gao X, Zhang C, Sang G (2020) The effects of turbulence on phytoplankton and implications for energy transfer with an integrated water quality-ecosystem model in a shallow lake. Journal of Environmental Management 256: 109954.
- Zhao Q, Wang J, OuYang S, Chen L, Liu M, Li Y, Jiang F (2021) The exacerbation of mercury methylation by Geobacter sulfurreducens PCA in a freshwater algae-bacteria symbiotic system throughout the lifetime of algae. Journal of Hazardous Materials 415: 125691.
- Zimmermann LT, dos Santos DB, Colle D, dos Santos AA, Hort MA, Garcia SC, Bressan LP, Bohrer D,
 Farina M (2014) Methionine stimulates motor impairment and cerebellar mercury deposition in
 methylmercury-exposed mice. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health 77: 46–56.

Dissertation articles
Paper I

Mercury and amino acid content relations in northern pike (*Esox lucius*) in subarctic lakes along a climate-productivity gradient

AUTHORS: Natalia Kozak^{*1}, Kimmo K. Kahilainen^{2,3}, Hannu K. Pakkanen⁴, Brian Hayden⁵, Kjartan Østbye^{1, 6} & Sami J. Taipale⁴

Affiliations

¹Department of Forestry and Wildlife Management, Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Campus Evenstad, Anne Evenstad veg 80, NO-2480 Koppang, Norway

²Lammi Biological Station, University of Helsinki, Pääjärventie 320, FI-16900 Lammi, Finland

³Kilpisjärvi Biological Station, University of Helsinki, Käsivarrentie 14622, FI-99490 Kilpisjärvi, Finland

⁴Department of Biological and Environmental Science, University of Jyväskylä, P.O.Box 35 (YA), FI-40014 Jyväskylä, Finland

⁵Biology Department, Canadian Rivers Institute, University of New Brunswick, Fredericton, NB E3B 5A3, Canada

⁶Centre for Ecological and Evolutionary Synthesis (CEES), Department of Biosciences, University of Oslo, P.O.Box 1066, Blindern, NO-0316 Oslo, Norway

* Corresponding author: e-mail: natalia.kozak@inn.no

Graphical abstract



Highlights

- Amino acids; AA and total mercury; THg were measured from pike in subarctic lakes.
- Effects of environmental and ecological factors on THg content were tested.
- THg content had a significant positive correlation with proline in pike muscle.
- Content of seven AA in pike decreased towards warmer and more productive lakes.
- THg was related to climate and productivity, catchment, trophic level, and cysteine.

Abstract

Mercury is a highly toxic compound for consumers, but its relation to amino acids and physiology are not well known. The main aim of this study was to test how total mercury content (THg) of northern pike (*Esox lucius*) is related to amino acids and potentially important environmental and biological factors along a climate-productivity gradient of ten subarctic lakes. Linear regression between THg and sixteen amino acids content [nmol mg⁻¹ dry weight] from pike white dorsal muscle were tested from these lakes. Lastly, a general linear model (GLM) for age-corrected THg was used to test which factors are significantly related to mercury content of pike. There was a positive relationship between THg and proline. Seven out of sixteen analyzed amino acids (histidine, threonine, arginine, serine, glutamic acid, glycine, and aspartic acid) were significantly negatively related to climate-productivity gradient, while THg showed a positive relationship. GLM model indicated higher THg was found in higher trophic level pike with lower cysteine content and inhabiting warmer and more productive lakes with larger catchment containing large proportion of peatland area. In general, THg was not only related to the biological and environmental variables but also to amino acid content.

Keywords: age, cysteine, growth, methionine, proline, total mercury

1. Introduction

Mercury (Hg) is a toxic pollutant threatening aquatic ecosystems worldwide as its bioavailable forms negatively affect neurological systems of fish, wildlife, and humans (Chang 1977, Langford and Ferner 1999). It primarily enters freshwater environments from air deposition (both wet and dry) and local sources such as discharge of industrial waste, mining and naturally occurring minerals and compounds enriched in Hg (Pacyna et al. 2010, UNEP 2013). Most anthropogenic mercury emissions are in elemental Hg(0) or inorganic Hg(II) form, which is easily transported over long distances by air masses (Obrist et al. 2018). Once deposited in anoxic and acidic conditions, such as wetlands or a lakebed, Hg species might be changed to an organic and bioavailable form of methylmercury (MeHg) by sulphur and iron reducing bacteria (King et al. 2002, Kerin et al. 2006, Yu et al. 2012).

MeHg is a toxic form of Hg due to its affinity for sulphur-containing anions, particularly thiol bounds (RS⁻) in amino acids (like methionine and cysteine) (Aschner and Clarkson 1989, Kerper et al. 1992, Nolan and Lippard 2008). Bounded MeHg to thiol group in cysteine forms MeHg-Cys complex, which mimics the neutral amino acid methionine and may be transported to animal tissues (Bridges and Zalups 2017). Furthermore, cysteine is used for glutathione synthesis responsible for antioxidative support in fish and excretion of mercury, therefore many studies showed MeHg decreased with increased cysteine content in higher organisms (Srikanth et al. 2013, Mok et al. 2014). Not all amino acids can be synthetized by higher organisms, therefore they must be assimilated from a diet that also contains MeHg known to bioaccumulate in consumers (Li et al. 2021). The bioaccumulation of MeHg is not well understood, though there is evidence that methionine and cysteine are important compounds as they bind with MeHg, mercury species are also freely movable in an organism's body (Sze et al. 1975, Clarkson et al. 2007, Roos et al. 2010, Zimmermann et al. 2014, Thera et al. 2019, Thera et al. 2022). In addition, little research has been conducted on other amino acids and mercury relationships in nature.

Amino acids play important roles in organisms, as regulators in key metabolic pathways e.g., in growth, immunity, behaviour, feed intake and reproduction (Li et al. 2021). The majority of the amino acids (arginine, cysteine, histidine, isoleucine, leucine, lysine, methionine, phenylalanine, proline, threonine, tryptophan, tyrosine, and valine) cannot be synthetized by

fish and must be derived from food, therefore are called nutritionally essential amino acids (EAA) (Wu 2013). In contrast, amino acids synthetized by fish (alanine, aspartic acid, serine, glutamine, glycine) are called nutritionally "nonessential" (NEAA), however, synthesis of sufficient amount is dependent on fish condition and nutritionally balanced diet (Li et al. 2021). Because amino acids are energetically expensive to synthesize, fish food in aquaculture is enriched in amino acids for more effective growth (Cowey 1994). Amino acids with sulfhydryl groups, such as cysteine and methionine, form ligands with mercury, and thus are considered a primary target for mercury binding (Ajsuvakova et al. 2020). Therefore, one could predict that higher content of amino acids with a thiol group in the muscle could result in higher mercury content (Kerper et al. 1992). On the other hand, amino acids like proline and histidine have been shown to reduce heavy metal stress for plants and microalgae, but studies from higher organisms are missing (Khanna and Rai 1995, Wang et al. 2009, Elbaz et al. 2010, Hayat et al. 2012, Kapoor et al. 2021). Determining whether mercury content in fish muscle is related to individual or total amino acid content is an important step to assess mercury bioaccumulation and elimination pathways.

There is very little research conducted on amino acids in wild lacustrine fish. Here, we focus on northern pike (Esox lucius), hereafter pike, a top predator in many lakes which has high significance as a food and mercury source for humans throughout its distribution (Craig 2008, Braaten et al. 2019, Moslemi-Aqdam et al. 2022). Composition of NEAA varies among fish species (Wu 2013, Grosse et al. 2019, Li et al. 2021). There are no previous studies on NEAA composition in the selected predator fish in this study, pike, therefore general EAA and NEAA groups are adapted from Wu (2013). Pike is a piscivore with opportunistic prey selection (Craig 2008; Harvey 2009). In subarctic lakes, pike usually prefers the most abundant fish prey, and the primarily forage in littoral habitat (Kahilainen and Lehtonen 2003, Thomas et al. 2016). It has a high tolerance to a wide range of environmental conditions such as water temperature, oxygen concentration, pH, or salinity, however pike habitat preference is based on the best optimal conditions and food availability (Craig 2008, Harvey 2009). Pike is a cool water species, with an optimum temperature between 19-21°C for adult growth, which drops rapidly below 10°C (Harvey 2009, Öhlund et al. 2015). Pike growth is also dependent on nutritional value of prey fish. Generally, benthic consumers are affected by terrestrially derived organic matter with lower bioaccessibility from catchment run-off, therefore have lower nutritional value of fatty acids and other macronutrients (Lau et al. 2009). Moslemi-Aqdam et al. (2021) suggested the low nutritional value and depleted carbon ratios due to greater catchment influence could inhibit pike growth, however more studies are needed. Pike movements are dependent on the temperature with maximal swimming at around 20°C and activity drop below 6°C (Craig 2008). Swimming is a highly energy-demanding activity that requires a great amount of nutrition, thus pike in warmer lakes can be expected to consume more prey and therefore contain a higher amount of nutrition needed for amino acid synthesis (Rennie et al. 2005, Madenjian et al. 2012). However, mercury bioaccumulation processes strongly depend on several biological and physiological factors, such as prey availability, growth rate, age and size, sex, maturity, season, and amino acid content in the prey organisms (Sharma et al. 2008, Madenjian et al. 2014, Sandheinrich and Drevnick 2016, Thomas et al. 2016, Keva et al. 2017, Moslemi-Aqdam et al. 2022).

The lacustrine habitat is a dynamic environment, vulnerable to direct environmental and climatic changes in the water body, as well as in the catchment area (Charles and Smol 1994, Adrian et al. 2009, Staehr et al. 2012). Many physicochemical (water clarity, chemical composition) and biological (productivity and taxonomical composition) characteristics in lake are affected by catchment runoff, where new input of organic matter, nutrients, and pollutants are draining to the lake (Wetzel 1992, St. Louis et al. 1994, Sonesten 2003, Kortelainen et al. 2006, Kamenik et al. 2018, Kozak et al. 2021, Moslemi-Aqdam et al. 2022). Both MeHg content and amino acid composition in lakes highly depend on bacterial and algal biomass and taxa, where high mercury content was found in warmer and more productive lakes, whereas amino acid composition greatly varied (Kerin et al. 2006, Tjerngren et al. 2012, Aranguren-Riaño et al. 2018, Taipale et al. 2019, Thera et al. 2020). Overall, total amino acid content increases with enhanced productivity as primary producers are the source of amino acid synthesis in lakes. The transfer efficiency of mercury and amino acid from primary producers to the top predatory species can be lowered by biomass dilution in large and complex food webs (Campbell et al. 2003, Lavoie et al. 2013, Thomas et al. 2016, Grosse et al. 2019, Kozak et al. 2021). Furthermore, lake productivity is limited by lake morphology, where specific conditions with higher littoral percentage, specific bathymetry, lake volume, compensation depth, thermocline depth and flow dynamics determine species abundance and distribution, nutrients cycle and sedimentation of pollutants (Porvari 1998, Watras et al.

1998, Håkanson 2005, Hayden et al. 2017). Additionally, ongoing climate change can affect catchment-lake nutrient and pollution fluxes, lake chemical composition and cycle as well as affect directly fish communities (Rydberg et al. 2010, Verta et al. 2010, Lucotte et al. 2016, Kozak et al. 2021). All the above-mentioned variables can affect mercury and amino acid content in fish both directly and indirectly, thus, it is important to study the influence of catchment properties and lake morphology, which have implications for climate change adaptation, on amino acids and mercury in fish communities as they are good tracers of environmental health status.

Very little is known on how amino acids are associated with mercury bioaccumulation in wildlife (but see Thera et al. 2019, Maikanov et al. 2020, Thera et al. 2022). In this study, the relationship between total mercury (THg) and 16 amino acid (AA) content in dorsal muscle in pike were tested separately, and in total. THg content was used as a proxy for MeHg, providing that more than 90% of THg in top predatory fish is estimated to consist of MeHg (Bloom 1992, Morel et al. 1998, Watras et al. 1998). Both THg and AA are mainly obtained from diet and their amount in fish body can be dependent on individual traits, ie. age, sex, and prey selection (Hastie 2001, Lariviere et al. 2005, Johnston et al. 2022). Population characteristics, such as habitat conditions, community structure and growth might also regulate THg and AA content in fish (Lorenzen and Enberg 2002, Riveiro et al. 2011). Therefore, in this study, the relationship between THg and AA composition was tested on both individual and population level. Additionally, the climate-productivity gradient along the subarctic watercourse was used to test for the putative influence of temperature and productivity factors on pike amino acid composition and THg content. Lastly, the influence of multiple biological and environmental factors on THg and AA content in pike was tested. Thus, the first prediction P1) was to observe a negative relationship between methionine/cysteine and THg content in pike due to their affinity between populations. The second prediction P2) was to observe a relationship of THg and AA content in pike towards populations located in warmer and more productive lakes where AA and THg content would be enhanced by increased algal biomass and methylation processes at population level. Finally, the third prediction P3) was that THg content in pike would be related to cysteine and/or methionine content with the addition of individual traits (growth rate and sex), pelagic reliance, and environmental factors at individual level.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Study area

Our study focused on ten subarctic lakes of the Tornio-Muonio watercourse on the border of Sweden and Finland, with ten pike sampled from each lake (Fig. 1, Kozak et al. 2021). The environmental data were collected from databases (Land Survey of Finland, Finnish Meteorological Institute, Finnish Environmental Instute), including altitude (Alt [m a.s.l.]), precipitation (Precip [mm]), mean air temperature (Temp [°C]), total phosphorus (totP [µg L⁻ ¹]), compensation depth (z.comp [m]), agriculture percentage (Agr [%]), forest percentage (Forest [%]), sparse vegetation (Sp.veg [%]), ditch length per catchment area (Ditch [km km⁻²]), catchment area (CA [km²]), peatland area (PA [km²]), and catchment-lake area ratio (CA:LA), mean depth (z.mean [m]), lake littoral percentage (Litt [%]), and lake area (LA [km²]). Studied tributary lakes are located on a latitudinal climate-productivity gradient from 69.0°N to 66.5°N and pike samples were collected in August-September 2010-2013 (Fig. S1). Shortly, the gradient follows decreasing water clarity (z.comp) and increasing air temperature, precipitation, and productivity based on totP values (Table S1). The gradient roughly follows a latitudinal north-south direction with clear (compensation depth, z_{comp} = 8 m), cold (open water season air temperature, 8.4°C) oligotrophic lakes in the north towards turbid, murky (z_{comp} = 1.5 m), warmer (11.6°C) eutrophic lakes in the south. Lake classification was estimated with total phosphorus concentration in a lake (totP [μ g L⁻¹]), where oligotrophic lakes totP \leq 10 μ g L⁻¹, mesotrophic lakes totP ranged 10–30 μ g L⁻¹, and eutrophic lakes totP \geq 30 μ g L⁻¹.

2.2. Sampling

Fish were collected with a series of eight gillnets of 30×1.8 m size and varying knot-to-knot mesh sizes (12, 15, 20, 25, 30, 35, 45, and 60 mm) and one Nordic multi-mesh gillnet of 30 x 1.5 m size (mesh sizes: 5–55 mm) with 12 equidistant panels of 2.5 m, supplemented by angling (Hayden et al. 2017). If present, in each habitat (pelagic, littoral, and profundal), nets were set overnight (10–12 h), with a minimum of three nets per habitat in each lake. Sampling proceeded through 3–5 consecutive nights. Fish were removed from nets, euthanized with a cerebral concussion, and stored in ice for transport to the laboratory.

Each pike was measured for total length (\pm 1 mm) and weight (\pm 0.1 g; Table S2). Sex was determined visually from gonad size and colour, and coded as categorical value 0 – female and

1 – male. The age of the pike was determined by using both cleithrum bones and scale impressions (Thomas et al. 2016, Ahonen et al. 2018). Stomach content analyses were made with the points method (Hynes 1950), where stomach fullness was visually estimated using the scale from 0 (empty) to 10 (extended fully), and the relative volumetric share of each prey category was determined (Table S3). For amino acids and total mercury analyses, a piece of white dorsal fish muscle without skin was frozen at -20° C, freeze-dried for 48 hours at -50° C, and powdered with a glass rod.

2.3. Total mercury and stable isotopes

Total mercury content (ng g⁻¹ dry weight) of the white dorsal muscle of pike was analyzed with a direct mercury analyzer (Milestone DMA-80, Sorisole, Italy). For variability control, each sample (20-30 mg) was analyzed with two duplicates. Only duplicates with <10% difference were accepted for further analyses. All runs (n = 25) were corrected by blanks (mean \pm SD, 2.8 \pm 1.7 ng g⁻¹). Instrument reliability was controlled at the beginning and end of each run with certified reference material (National Research Council Canada, Canada, powdered fish protein, DORM-4, THg content mean \pm SD, 410.0 \pm 55.0 ng g⁻¹) and measured mean \pm SD, THg content value was 406.7 \pm 18.8 ng g⁻¹, (recovery = 99.2%, n = 50).

Additionally, subsamples of the same individuals were weighed $(1 \pm 0.1 \text{ mg})$ into tin cups for analyses of carbon (δ^{13} C) and nitrogen stable isotope ratios (δ^{15} N), and elemental carbon and nitrogen ratio (C:N ratio). Elemental composition of carbon and nitrogen were determined using an elemental analyzer coupled to a continuous-flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer. Laboratory-specific standards were calibrated against Vienna PeeDee Belemnite used for δ^{13} C and atmospheric nitrogen used for δ^{15} N. The analytical error was 0.2‰ for both δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. Only 83 samples were recovered. Due to low elemental carbon:nitrogen ratio in sampled pike (n = 83, mean C:N ± SD, 3.21 ± 0.04), no lipid correction of δ^{13} C was conducted.

2.4. Amino acids

Amino acids were quantified used performic acid oxidation prior to acid hydrolysis was used for all samples [methods used from Dai et al. (2014) and Liu et al. (2017), for details see the Supplement Protocol 1]. Briefly, 1-2 mg dry sample was oxidised with a performic oxidation solution to convert cysteine and methionine to hydrolysis-stable forms of cysteic acid and methionine sulfone, respectively (Schram et al. 1954). Samples were dried using a nitrogen blowdown evaporator and hydrolysed overnight (110°C, 24h) in 6 N HCL and dried again at 110°C. Due to acid hydrolysis, tryptophan was destroyed, while asparagine and glutamine were transformed into aspartic acid and glutamic acid, respectively. Hydrolysed samples were dissolved in 1 ml UHQ water for derivatization with 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate (AQC) reagent purchased from Synchem (Altenburg, Germany) and analysed on a Shimadzu 30 series ultra-high pressure liquid chromatography (UHPLC) instrument consisting of a binary pump, autosampler, column compartment and fluorescence detector. Phenomenex Gemini C18 column (3 x 150 mm, 3 μ m) was used for the chromatographic separation. For calibration, we used AA-S-18 from Sigma-Aldrich as external standard and L-norvaline as internal standard (ISTD).

In total, n = 87 samples were recovered with sixteen amino acids per sample quantified as whole tissue content [nmol mg⁻¹ dry weight] of cysteine (Cys), aspartic acid (Asp), glutamic acid (Glu), serine (Ser), histidine (His), glycine (Gly), methionine (Met), arginine (Arg), threonine (Thr), alanine (Ala), proline (Pro), tyrosine (Tyr), valine (Val), lysine (Lys), isoleucine (Ile) and phenylalanine (Phe). Leucine and tryptophan were destroyed during analysis. All amino acids were normalized with ISTD as analyte peak area to ISTD peak area ratio. The relative percentage difference (RPD) of duplicate samples and standard replicates mean was $3.2 \pm 2.2\%$ (n = 122).

2.5. Statistical analysis

Principal component analysis (PCA) on environmental factors was generated for a series of 10 lakes to reduce and merge explanatory variables into PC-scores (Table S1, Fig. S2). Climate-productivity gradient, as well as catchment properties and lake morphometry, are estimated as PC1, PC2, and PC3 components, respectively. The studied lakes are numbered according to climate-productivity gradient (PC1) roughly following north to south direction. Further details are explained in the results 3.1 section.

All AA values are reported in nmol per mg of muscle tissue on dry weight of pike in each lake. The composition of EAA, NEAA, and totAA was calculated as the sum of molar content [nmol mg⁻¹ d.w.] of individual amino acids included in the corresponding group (for details see Fig. 1, Table S4). Both THg and totAA were tested for correlation to fish total age (Fig. S3). THg in pike is highly dependent on fish age (Coelho et al. 2013, Ahonen et al. 2018), therefore THg values were age-corrected as a simple ratio of pike THg to the average age of all pike individuals:

$$THg_{age.corr} = \frac{THg * \bar{A}}{A}$$
[1]

where THg is the total mercury content [ng g⁻¹ dry weight] in pike individual, \overline{A} is the average age of all pike samples (n = 87, \overline{A} = 8.6 years) and A is total age of pike individual [years]. A linear regression models were used to test relations of THg to AA on a population. Furthermore, the same regression was used to test both THg and AA compounds along environmental and physiological factors.

Age and growth were measured from cleaned cleithrum bone, where the length at age in each year was back-calculated using the Monastyrsky method (Bagenal and Tesch 1978):

$$L = a * S * b$$
^[2]

where L is the length of fish at capture, S is total cleithrum radius, a is a constant and b is a growth coefficient.

$$\mathcal{L}_{i} = \left(\frac{S_{i}}{S}\right)^{b} * L$$
[3]

where L_i is the length of the fish at formation of *i*th annulus (cm), L is the length of the fish at capture (cm), S_i is cleithrum radius at age *i*, S is total cleithrum radius, and b is the growth coefficient. Simplified and standardized growth rate (GR, cm year⁻¹) then calculated:

$$GR = \frac{L_i}{i}$$
[4]

where L_i is the back-calculated total length (cm) at age *i* (2 years). GR was expressed as growth per year i.e. cm year⁻¹.

Trophic level (TL) and pelagic reliance (α) were calculated using two-source calculations (Post 2002), where pelagic zooplankton was set as base1 representing pelagic source and snails as base2 representing littoral source (average δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C for zooplankton and snails from each lake were taken from Kozak et al. (2021) and Hayden et al. (2019), respectively), further details provided in Table S5. Sex was set as a conditional factor. A general multiple regression model with best subsets regression selection based on AIC score (Akaike Information Criterion) was

built to test ecological and environmental variables potentially explaining THg content in pike. The full model included ten components and took the form:

$$lnTHg_{age.corr} \sim PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + TL + \alpha + GR + sex + Cys + Met + Pro$$
 [5]

where, PC1 represents climate-productivity gradient, PC2 – catchment properties, PC3 – lake morphometrics, TL – trophic level, α - pelagic reliance – indicating resources from benthic (fully benthic = 0) to pelagic (fully pelagic = 1), GR – growth rate, sex – sex of fish, Cys – cysteine, Met – methionine and Pro – proline content. One best-fitted model was selected for each n-component model based on the lowest AIC score. GLM included 83 pike individuals, therefore only up to 8-component models were taken into further consideration to avoid overfitting. Out of eight models, a general best-fitted model was selected with the same method. Furthermore, Δ AIC was calculated to select nested models and choose the final model holding the same significance as with general best-fitted model (for Δ AIC < 2). Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) was calculated to test multi-collinearity of predictors selected in the final model. Furthermore, a test was run on studentized residuals to detect and discard outliers in the final model to improve its performance. All statistical analyses had a significance limit of α = 0.05. THg and AA values tested in linear regressions and GLM were log-transformed with natural logarithm (*In*). Statistical analyses were conducted with R version 3.5.2 using FactoMineR, olsrr and factoextra packages (R Core Team 2021).

3. Results

3.1. Environmental factors and pike data

There was clear variability of tributary lakes in Tornio-Muonio watercourse, where three first principal components (PC1-PC3) explained 88.6% of cumulative variance (Fig. S1 and S2). PC1 alone explained 58.4% and included six environmental variables strongly positively correlated (PCA loadings > 0.8), which included air temperature, precipitation, total phosphorus concentration in a lake, forest percentage, agriculture percentage and ditch length per catchment area. Three variables were strongly negatively correlated to PC1 (PCA loadings < -0.8), which included lake altitude, sparse vegetation percentage in catchment and compensation depth as a proxy for water clarity. All nine variables described climatic characteristics, lake productivity and catchment productivity linked to anthropogenic activity, therefore PC1 was described as climate-productivity gradient further on. PC2 explained 20.0%

of variance and was strongly related to increasing catchment and peatland area, and catchment to lake area ratio (PCA loadings > 0.8). Lastly, PC3 was explained by lake morphometrics (mean depth, littoral percentage, and lake area) explaining 10.2% of variance.

Mean age of all studied pike was 8.6 years and range 2-16 years (Table S2). Lakes Ropi and Äkäs consisted of the youngest population (mean \pm SD, 4.7 \pm 1.1 and 5.8 \pm 2.0 years old, respectively). Southern populations were dominant by female individuals reaching greater size and higher trophic level. Furthermore, southern and northern populations differed in prey selection, where northern population consumed littoral fish species (Table S3). On the other hand, southern pike populations showed more variability in prey selection including also pelagic fish (Table S3).

3.2. P1: Relationship between THg and amino acids

Mean \pm SD THg in pike in the whole studied watercourse was 1875 \pm 1258 ng g⁻¹ dry weight (n = 87), while SD of mean THg populations (n = 10) had close to half lower variation (828 ng g⁻¹ dry weight). There was no relationship between THg and either methionine (p = 0.967) or cysteine (p = 0.528) between populations (Fig. 1). Only one amino acid, proline, was found with a positive relationship to THg (p-value = 0.005) in the ten studied lakes, which explained 66% of the variance, though without clear separation between oligotrophic and eutrophic lakes. No other individual amino acid, nor total EAA, NEAA, or totAA had a significant relation to THg content in pike. Due to high age impact on THg content in pike, the relation of age-corrected THg content to fish growth rate was tested and showed no variation (Fig. 4a).

3.3. P2: THg and amino acids content in pike along climate-productivity gradient

Lower values of the climate-productivity gradient indicated clear, cold, and less productive lakes (Table S1, Fig. S2). In general, higher THg content was observed in warmer eutrophic lakes (mean \pm SD, 2236 \pm 1262 ng g⁻¹ dry weight, n = 50) in comparison to colder oligotrophic (mean \pm SD, 1492 \pm 1133 ng g⁻¹ dry weight, n = 32) and the mesotrophic lakes (mean \pm SD, 727 \pm 332 ng g⁻¹ dry weight, n = 5). Relationship was positive between THg and climate-productivity gradient aspects (Fig. 2b), however, the significance was close to the threshold (p-value = 0.045). Pike THg in cold, clear, and less productive lakes had a great dispersion, where Lake Ropi reached the minimum value of THg (mean \pm SD, 588 \pm 205 ng g⁻¹ dry weight,

n = 7), while Lake Oiko had very similar values with eutrophic lakes (2463 \pm 1492 ng g⁻¹ dry weight, n = 8, respectively).

The totAA in pike had no correlation to the climate-productivity gradient (p = 0.152, $R^2 = 0.24$), however, overall, we observed higher totAA content in pike in colder and less productive lakes (negative slopes) (Fig. 3). Seven out of sixteen tested amino acids (histidine, threonine, arginine, serine, glutamic acid, glycine, and aspartic acid) showed a significant negative correlation along PC1 and one amino acid (valine) on the border of significance. Generally, most of the individual amino acids and total EAA, NEAA and totAA in pike showed negative



In AA [nmol mg⁻¹ dry weight]

Fig. 1. Linear regressions of average amino acids (*In*AA) (nmol mg⁻¹ d.w.) and raw THg (*In*THg) (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) in pike at population level. Each plot represents average values of individual amino acid or amino acid groups in pike in each lake. Plots are numbered from 1 to 19 and named with individual amino acid(s) abbreviation followed by presented significance code in brackets according to p-value: 0 (***) 0.001 (**) 0.01 (*) 0.05 (.) 0.1 () 1. Groups of amino acids are marked with box colors, orange for Essential Amino Acids (EAA), blue for Non-Essential Amino Acids (NEAA) and black for total Amino Acid content (totAA). See more details in Table S4.

trends towards warmer and more productive lakes (Fig. 3). Only a few amino acids, such as methionine, cysteine, tyrosine, and proline had positive correlation along the gradient, though none was significant. The highest AA content (of each individual AA and totAA) was observed in oligotrophic Lake Kuohkima and eutrophic Lake Vaatto (Table S4).



Fig. 2. Linear regressions of average age corrected THg ($InTHg_{age.corr}$) (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) in pike and a) growth rate (cm year⁻¹) or b) along climate-productivity gradient (PC1). Lake names are displayed next to their symbols indicating lake trophy. See more details in Table S2.

3.4. P3: Explanatory models of THg in pike

The initial full GLM model for THg had ten explanatory variables (Eq. [5]). The best-fitted model was selected for each n-component model based on the minimum AIC value, where the simplest 1-component model *In*THg_{age.corr} ~ PC1 explained 22% of variation, while the most complex model (8-component) explained 39% (Table 1). Out of the eight selected models, 5-component model *In*THg_{age.corr} ~ PC1 + TL + Cys + PC2 + GR had the lowest AIC value (AIC = 37.17) explaining 41% of variance. Based on Δ AIC score < 2, there were two nested models (4-component and 6-component models) that showed no significant difference in the model accuracy and explained variation differed by 1 percentage point. Therefore, the final selected model was 4-component model *In*THg_{age.corr} ~ PC1 + TL + Cys + PC2, which held the same explanatory significance as 5-component model with a lower number of included components. Studentized residuals of the final model were calculated and detected one outlier, which was further on deleted (Fig. S4). Parameter estimates for the final model were run without the outlier (n = 82) increasing the model performance by 3 percent points (Table S6). Trophic level was the strongest component in the final model of THg content in pike (p-value < 0.001, t-value = 4.00) explaining 25% of variance alone (Table S6). The second



Climate-productivity gradient (PC1)

Fig. 3. Linear regressions of average amino acids (*In*AA) (nmol mg⁻¹ d.w.) in pike at population level along climate-productivity gradient (PC1). Each plot represents average values of individual amino acid or amino acid groups in pike in each lake. Plots are numbered from 1 to 19 and named with individual amino acid(s) abbreviation followed by presented significance code in brackets according to p-value: 0 (***) 0.001 (**) 0.01 (*) 0.05 (.) 0.1 () 1. Groups of amino acids are marked with box colors, orange for Essential Amino Acids (EAA), blue for Non-Essential Amino Acids (NEAA) and black for total Amino Acid content (totAA). See more details in Table S4.

significant component was climate-productivity gradient (p-value < 0.001; t-value = 3.59) with slight positive correlation (mean \pm SD, 0.05 \pm 0.01) that increased explained variance by 11 percent points, while the third added component cysteine increased variance by 6 percent points. The last selected component catchment properties held no statistical significance (p-value = 0.090) and did not indicate clear correlation direction (mean \pm SD [Q25:Q75], -0.05 \pm 0.03 [-0.10:0.01]). In comparison, 5-component model indicated growth rate held more significance to the model than catchment properties (Table S6). No multi-correlation between variables in the final model was detected (VIF < 3).

Additionally, cysteine was selected in the final model indicating to have a significant effect on THg content in pike, therefore a linear correlation was run for THg to cysteine content on an individual level (n = 87). The regression showed a significant negative correlation of THg and cysteine content in pike, however, the p-value was close to the significance border (p-value = 0.049), the slope was flat and had high variation (b ± SD, -0.32 ± 0.16) (Fig. S5).

Table 1 Selection of best-fitted n-component models for generalized linear multiple regression analysis for age corrected total mercury in pike dorsal muscle (*In*THg_{age.corr}) based on minimum AIC score (Akaike Information Criterion). The final selected models are bolded (more details in Table S6). Climate-productivity gradient (PC1), catchment properties (PC2), lake morphometrics (PC3), trophic level (TL), pelagic reliance (α), growth rate (GR), sex, methionine (Met), cysteine (Cys), and proline (Pro) content. Number of components in the model (n), delta-AIC (Δ AIC) was calculated as difference in AIC values, where best fitted model was set Δ AIC = 0, adjusted coefficient of determination (adj. R²). Nested models are bolded, while overfitted models are marked grey.

n		model	Adj. R²	AIC	ΔΑΙϹ
		InTHg _{age.corr} ~			
	1	PC1	0.22	56.20	19.03
	2	TL + PC2	0.31	46.93	9.76
	3	TL + PC1 + Met	0.35	42.81	5.65
	4	TL + PC1 + Cys + PC2	0.40	37.69	0.52
	5	TL + PC1 + Cys + PC2 + GR	0.41	37.17	0.00
	6	TL + PC1 + Cys + PC2 + GR + Met	0.41	38.53	1.37
	7	TL + PC1 + Cys + PC2 + GR + Met + α	0.40	40.32	3.16
	8	TL + PC1 + Cys + PC2 + GR + Met + α + PC3	0.39	42.27	5.11
	9	TL + PC1 + Cys + PC2 + GR + Met + α + PC3 + sex	0.38	44.24	7.08
	10	TL + PC1 + Cys + PC2 + GR + Met + α + PC3 + sex + Pro	0.37	46.24	9.07

4. Discussion

4.1. Main results

Of all the studied 16 amino acids, only proline and cysteine were significantly positively and negatively correlated with THg, respectively. This may indicate that both proline and cysteine have a binding and detoxifying impact on THg in fish, however, experimental studies are needed to verify this. THg had a positive correlation to climate-productivity gradient, however with very low explained variance most probably due to too small sample size (n = 87 individuals in 10 lakes). Seven out of sixteen individual amino acids (histidine, threonine, arginine, serine, glutamic acid, glycine, and aspartic acid) were negatively correlated with the climate-productivity gradient. In general, AA indicated a negative trend towards warmer and

more productive lakes however the slopes were not particularly steep. The explanatory THg GLM model included environmental (climate-productivity gradient and catchment properties) and biological factors (fish trophic level and growth rate) as well as cysteine.

4.2. P1: THg and amino acid relationships

Due to the thiol group in cysteine structure, the amino acid has a significant impact on mercury bioaccumulation in various fish tissues (Kerper et al. 1992, Merrifield et al. 2004, Man et al. 2019, Zhang et al. 2021, Thera et al. 2022), however, the relation is not clear for all aquatic species (Thera et al. 2019, Thera et al. 2020). There was no relationship between neither methionine nor cysteine with THg at the population level indicating large variation among population means. Nevertheless, there was weak, but significant relationship between cysteine and THg at the individual level. This suggests cysteine and/or THg had relatively similar content among pike populations, whereas individual traits, such as age, sex, or dietary preference may affect cysteine and THg intake in top predators (Hastie 2001, Lariviere et al. 2005, Johnston et al. 2022), however further studies are needed especially, on traits potentially affecting cysteine and THg content. Current study showed that pike age affected THg content, but it had no impact on cysteine. Mercury content is generally linked to fish age and size (e.g. Grieb et al. 1990, Gorski et al. 2003, Sharma et al. 2008, Thomas et al. 2016, Moslemi-Aqdam et al. 2022), thus, it was expected to observe high THg levels in old individuals. On the other hand, high THg levels in young individuals were detected in murky lakes, where methylation processes in a lake and catchment may be enhanced (Ullrich et al. 2001). Mok et al. (2014) indicated that fish with a cysteine-rich diet undergo mercury detoxification by forming methylmercury-cysteine complex and enhanced fecal excretion over time however, the process is very slow (Ruohtula and Miettinen 1975). This could explain the low content of both cysteine and THg.

It is important to study other amino acids potentially related to mercury bioaccumulation, detoxification, or immunological response processes in future. The current study shows proline content in pike muscle increased with higher THg levels, and to our knowledge, this is the first study to show this pattern in animals. In general, proline is synthesized from arginine in mammals, birds, and some fish, however, the synthesis is not yet fully understood, and its efficiency varies among fish species. For example, juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus*)

mykiss) cannot produce a sufficient amount of proline to meet dietary requirements (Dabrowski et al. 2005, Zhang et al. 2006), whereas juvenile common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) did not show proline synthesis changes depending on a different diet (Dabrowski et al. 2010). Thus, proline is considered to be a conditionally essential amino acid in fish and other aquatic animals, reflecting that non-essential amino acids can start limiting an organism's optimal health (Li et al. 2009). There are no previous studies on proline content in pike. Assuming proline is synthesized in pike, its level may increase due to immune function towards mercury impact on growth and neurological system (Wu 2009). Many studies show the detoxification effect of proline on mercury in plants, where proline reduces heavy metal stress (Khanna and Rai 1995, Handique and Handique 2009, Tantrey and Agnihotri 2010). Previous studies suggest that proline has a role in the immune functions of fish, other aquatic organisms, and mammals (Li et al. 2013, Bailey et al. 2015, Xie et al. 2015, Zhao et al. 2015). Thera et al. (2020) found a negative correlation between nitrogen stable isotope ratio and proline in aquatic food web, indicating that proline content in top predators may not be sufficient for mercury detoxification processes. Alternatively, by assuming that proline is an essential amino acid, a positive correlation between proline and THg might indicate the same source and adhesion of proline on mercury (Gómez et al. 1989).

4.3. P2: Amino acid content and THg content in pike along climate-productivity gradient

In a previous study, Kozak et al. (2021) showed a significant THg increase in pike (n = 362) in eutrophic lakes, however, the correlation was weak. In this study, a subset of 87 individuals was selected, which also isupported significant increase of THg level in pike along the climate-productivity gradient. L. Kivi and Oiko , had high THg levels in comparison to other oligotrophic lakes, where hight age can explain their high mercury content. Overall, THg biomagnification to top predators decreases towards more eutrophic lakes due to a biodilution process, however at the same time eutrophication and browning likely induce anoxia, that is known to enhance mercury methylation (Razavi et al. 2015, Kozak et al. 2021). Both processes contrast, thereafter THg content in top predators vary among murky ecosystems without a strong trend.

Most of the amino acid synthesis in freshwater ecosystem comes from primary producers and is subsequently transferred to consumers, therefore lake productivity and other factors

enhancing productivity (e.g. temperature and nutrients concentration) are considered to affect individual and total amino acid content. Many studies detail how total phosphorus is limiting nutrient to algal growth (Litchman et al. 2003), while amino acids synthesis is limited by total nitrogen concentration in water because of the amine group in their structure (Cole et al. 2015, Grosse et al. 2019). Naturally, increased totAA content follows greater productivity in nutrient-rich lakes (Aranguren-Riaño et al. 2018), however, depletion of totN due to algal bloom can inhibit amino acid synthesis (Taipale et al. 2019).

Taipale et al. (2019) showed that increased lake productivity leads to a decrease in the abundance of both essential and non-essential amino acids in algae per unit biomass. Although EAA and NEAA content increases with increasing algae biomass towards more productive lakes, the biomagnification of EAA and NEAA to the upper trophic levels decreases (Thera et al. 2020, Vesterinen et al. 2021). These findings are consistent with the current study, indicating lower amino acid content in pike in eutrophic lakes. There could be several reasons for low EAA and NEAA content in these predatory fish. Firstly, the nutritional amino acid content of phytoplankton decreases as lake productivity increases due to high proportion of cyanobacteria (Taipale et al. 2019), and therefore low amino acid content in top predators could reflect that of primary producers. Secondly, eutrophic lakes are more reliant on pelagic phytoplankton derived energy (Hayden et al. 2019) and have high overall biomass in food webs (Keva et al. 2021), which could be limiting amino acid transfer efficiency in lake food webs due to biodilution process. Lastly, amino acids play a significant role in tissue synthesis and repair in higher organisms, therefore amino acids are used at each trophic level reducing their content in top predators, such as pike. All the above processes may affect the amino acid composition in piscivorous fish, however content of individual amino acids varies among species and taxa (Mohanty et al. 2014, Thera et al. 2020). Northern, cold, oligotrophic lakes are typically characterized by a salmonid dominated community and short benthic energy driven food chains. Increasing productivity shifts the fish community towards cyprinid dominated, mainly dependent on pelagic energy sources, and increased food chain length (Hayden et al. 2019, Kozak et al. 2021, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021). Amino acid content and synthesis in fish highly depend on species and food sources, therefore prey community shift may affect amino acid composition of top predator (Thera et al. 2020, Thera et al. 2022, Vesterinen et al. 2021). This study showed most of the individual and total amino acids decrease towards more productive systems, however, a few individual amino acids (methionine, cysteine, proline, and tyrosine) content insignificantly increased contrary to other studies (Cole et al. 2015, Grosse et al. 2019, Thera et al. 2020). Grosse et al. (2019) found that biosynthesis of tyrosine and proline in algae was limited by nitrogen, however, these both amino acids can be synthesized in some fish and thus their limitation at lower trophic levels could be mitigated at upper trophic levels.

Both essential and non-essential amino acids along the watercourse can indicate diet shifts along the watercourse, while NEAA alone could indicate the health condition of fish. Considering that oligotrophic lakes might have limiting conditions (low nitrogen concentration) for tyrosine and proline biosynthesis, higher tyrosine and proline content in eutrophic pike populations could be explained by this. Methionine and cysteine can reduce mercury bioaccumulation rates in animals (Ajsuvakova et al. 2020), while proline has shown to reduce mercury content in plants (Hayat et al. 2012). Tyrosine synthesis in fish was found to regulate pituitary hormones, fish behaviour and food intake (Li et al. 2021), which might have an immunological response to mercury toxicity (Wu 2009).

4.4. P3: Explanatory models of THg in pike

GLM model for age corrected THg in pike indicated that the most important factor increasing THg content of pike was trophic level, which has been confirmed by many other studies (Dang and Wang 2012, Coelho et al. 2013, Johnston et al. 2022). Generally, larger fish reach higher trophic position via feeding on larger prey at higher trophic level that contain higher THg content (Cabana et al. 1994, Thomas et al. 2016, Yoshino et al. 2020, Moslemi-Aqdam et al. 2022), however, this contaminant trend was not followed by total amino acid nor cysteine content. Furthermore, environmental factors play a significant role in mercury pathways. Many recent studies show a significant impact of climate change on the mercury cycle and bioaccumulation rates similarly to this study (Ullrich et al. 2001, Braaten et al. 2019, McKinney et al. 2022). One of the common factors indicating climate change that was selected in mercury models was temperature and precipitation, but many studies tested other parameters like ice cover duration (Hudelson et al. 2019) or nutrients (Kozak et al. 2021). Our model suggested high cysteine content reduces THg level in pike. Cysteine surplus can have a detoxification effect on mercury-reducing methylation processes (Landner 1972) in plankton

and plants (Kosakowska et al. 1988), however, its effect on mercury is not clear in higher-level organisms, such as benthic macroinvertebrates (Thera et al. 2019). GLM suggested that trophic level and environmental factors have more significant role in explaining fish THg content in the relation than amino acid content in fish. Simultaneously, catchment properties were also selected to have an impact on mercury levels in pike, however, the direction was not significant. In general, high catchment and peatland area enhance mercury methylation and runoff of THg, organic matter and nutrients to the lakes (Porvari et al. 2003, Sonesten 2003, Moslemi-Aqdam et al. 2022). Additionally, THg content increases in contrast to small lake area enhancing mercury uptake in the food web (Evans et al. 2005). Increased catchment properties could enhance higher THg content in pike, however, nutrient enrichment from larger catchment area could have an inhibiting effect through biodilution of THg in lake biomass (Todorova et al. 2015). Furthermore, low pH in catchment and lake could enhance mercury methylation and increase THg content in fish (Compeau and Bartha 1984, Gilmour and Henry 1991, Wyn et al. 2009, Rask et al. 2021). Many studies show biodilution of mercury due to high growth rate (Simoneau et al. 2005, Karimi et al. 2007, Rask et al. 2021, Moslemi-Aqdam et al. 2022), however, pike growth rate showed a positive correlation to THg content in the model. The growth rate slope was close to neutral direction, however, this trend could be affected by age-correction of THg and age variable included in growth rate calculation.

5. Conclusions

Pike THg increased towards southern warmer and more productive lakes. Only AA with positive relationship with THg was proline. GLM analysis revealed that pike had higher THg content with higher trophic level, and in warmer and more productive lakes. Additionally, joint combination with lower cysteine content was related to THg increase in pike. Larger catchment area with increased peatland percentage had an impact on THg in joint with other factors, however, more research is needed to distinguish which catchment properties in sole are the most important. In general, pike had high amino acid content in cold, oligotrophic lakes, however high THg content was found in warmer and more productive lakes. Future studies should test more proline to THg relationship in fish, as the mechanisms of mercury bioaccumulation processes are still not well understood.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank numerous technicians, students, researchers, and colleagues involved in collecting samples and performing laboratory analysis. Thanks to Kilpisjärvi Biological Station, Muonio Fish Facility and Nuottavaara Village Association and University of Jyväskylä, which kindly provided facilities. Funding was received from the Academy of Finland [projects 1140903, 1268566 to KKK and 333564 to SJT], and Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences PhD scholarship for NK. All authors declare no conflict of interest. We thank three anonymous reviewers and editor for their constructive comments.

References

- Adrian R, O'Reilly CM, Zagarese H, Baines SB, Hessen DO, Keller W, Livingstone DM, Sommaruga R, Straile D, van Donk E, Weyhenmeyer GA, Winder M (2009) Lakes as sentinels of climate change. Limnology and Oceanography 54: 2283–2297. https://doi.org/10.4319/LO.2009.54.6_PART_2.2283
- Ahonen SA, Hayden B, Leppänen JJ, Kahilainen KK (2018) Climate and productivity affect total mercury concentration and bioaccumulation rate of fish along a spatial gradient of subarctic lakes. Science of the Total Environment 637–638: 1586–1596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.436
- Ajsuvakova OP, Tinkov AA, Aschner M, Rocha JBT, Michalke B, Skalnaya MG, Skalny AV., Butnariu M, Dadar M, Sarac I, Aaseth J, Bjørklund G (2020) Sulfhydryl groups as targets of mercury toxicity. Coordination Chemistry Reviews 417: 213343. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CCR.2020.213343
- Aranguren-Riaño NJ, Guisande C, Shurin JB, Jones NT, Barreiro A, Duque SR (2018) Amino acid composition reveals functional diversity of zooplankton in tropical lakes related to geography, taxonomy and productivity. Oecologia 187: 719–730. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00442-018-4130-6/FIGURES/6
- Aschner M, Clarkson TW (1989) Methyl mercury uptake across bovine brain capillary endothelial cells in Vitro: The role of amino acids. Pharmacology & Toxicology 64: 293–297. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0773.1989.tb00650.x
- Bagenal TB, Tesch FW (1978) Age and growth. In: Bagenal T (Ed.), Methods for Assessment of Fish Production in Fresh Waters. Blackwell Scientific Publications, 101–136.
- Bailey TL, Wang M, Solocinski J, Nathan BP, Chakraborty N, Menze MA (2015) Protective effects of osmolytes in cryopreserving adherent neuroblastoma (Neuro-2a) cells. Cryobiology 71: 472–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CRYOBIOL.2015.08.015

- Bloom NS (1992) On the chemical form of mercury in edible fish and marine invertebrate tissue. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 49: 1010–1017. https://doi.org/10.1139/F92-113
- Braaten HFV, Åkerblom S, Kahilainen KK, Rask M, Vuorenmaa J, Mannio J, Malinen T, Lydersen E, Poste AE, Amundsen PA, Kashulin N, Kashulina T, Terentyev P, Christensen G, de Wit HA (2019) Improved environmental status: 50 years of declining fish mercury levels in boreal and subarctic Fennoscandia. Environmental Science and Technology 53: 1834–1843. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.EST.8B06399
- Bridges CC, Zalups RK (2017) Mechanisms involved in the transport of mercuric ions in target tissues. Archives of Toxicology 91: 63-81. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00204-016-1803-Y
- Cabana G, Tremblay A, Kalff J, Rasmussen JB (1994) Pelagic food chain structure in Ontario lakes: A determinant of mercury levels in lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 51: 381–389. https://doi.org/10.1139/f94-039
- Campbell LM, Hecky RE, Nyaundi J, Muggide R, Dixon DG (2003) Distribution and food-web transfer of mercury in Napoleon and Winam Gulfs, Lake Victoria, East Africa. International Association for Great Lakes Research 29: 267-282. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0380-1330(03)70554-1
- Chang LW (1977) Neurotoxic effects of mercury—A review. Environmental Research 14: 329–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-9351(77)90044-5
- Charles DF, Smol JP (1994) Long-term chemical changes in lakes. In: Baker LA (Ed.), Environmental Chemistry of Lakes and Reservoirs. American Chemical Society 237: 3–31. https://doi.org/10.1021/BA-1994-0237.CH001
- Clarkson TW, Vyas JB, Ballatori N (2007) Mechanisms of mercury disposition in the body. American Journal of Industrial Medicine 50: 757–764. https://doi.org/10.1002/AJIM.20476
- Coelho JP, Mieiro CL, Pereira E, Duarte AC, Pardal MA (2013) Mercury biomagnification in a contaminated estuary food web: Effects of age and trophic position using stable isotope analyses. Marine Pollution Bulletin 69: 110–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2013.01.021
- Cole AJ, Angell AR, de Nys R, Paul NA (2015) Cyclical changes in biomass productivity and amino acid content of freshwater macroalgae following nitrogen manipulation. Algal Research 12: 477–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ALGAL.2015.10.010
- Compeau G, Bartha R (1984) Methylation and demethylation of mercury under controlled redox, pH and salinity conditions. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 48: 1203–1207.
- Cowey CB (1994) Amino acid requirements of fish: a critical appraisal of present values. Aquaculture 124: 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(94)90349-2
- Craig JF (2008) A short review of pike ecology. Hydrobiologia 601: 5–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10750-007-9262-3

- Dabrowski K, Terjesen BF, Zhang Y, Phang JM, Lee KJ (2005) A concept of dietary dipeptides: a step to resolve the problem of amino acid availability in the early life of vertebrates. Journal of Experimental Biology 208: 2885–2894. https://doi.org/10.1242/JEB.01689
- Dabrowski K, Zhang YF, Kwasek K, Hliwa P, Ostaszewska T (2010) Effects of protein-, peptide- and free amino acid-based diets in fish nutrition. Aquaculture Research 41: 668–683. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2109.2010.02490.X
- Dai Z, Wu Z, Jia S, Wu G (2014) Analysis of amino acid composition in proteins of animal tissues and foods as pre-column o-phthaldialdehyde derivatives by HPLC with fluorescence detection. Journal of Chromatography B 964: 116–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCHROMB.2014.03.025
- Dang F, Wang WX (2012) Why mercury concentration increases with fish size? Biokinetic explanation. Environmental Pollution 163: 192–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2011.12.026
- Elbaz A, Wei YY, Meng Q, Zheng Q, Yang ZM (2010) Mercury-induced oxidative stress and impact on antioxidant enzymes in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Ecotoxicology 19: 1285–1293. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10646-010-0514-Z/FIGURES/7
- Evans MS, Lockhart WL, Doetzel L, Low G, Muir D, Kidd K, Stephens G, Delaronde J (2005) Elevated mercury concentrations in fish in lakes in the Mackenzie River Basin: The role of physical, chemical, and biological factors. Science of the Total Environment 351–352: 479– 500. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2004.12.086
- Gilmour CC, Henry EA (1991) Mercury methylation in aquatic systems affected by acid deposition. Environmental Pollution 71: 131–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/0269-7491(91)90031-Q
- Gómez MM, Motilla R, Díez E (1989) Adsorption of proline on a mercury electrode in neutral solution. Electrochimica Acta 34: 831–839. https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-4686(89)87116-6
- Gorski PR, Cleckner LB, Hurley JP, Sierszen ME, Armstrong DE (2003) Factors affecting enhanced mercury bioaccumulation in inland lakes of Isle Royale National Park, USA. Science of the Total Environment 304: 327–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(02)00579-X
- Grieb TM, Bowie GL, Driscoll CT, Gloss SP, Schofield CL, Porcella DB (1990) Factors affecting mercury accumulation in fish in the upper Michigan peninsula. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 9: 919–930. https://doi.org/10.1002/ETC.5620090710
- Grosse J, Brussaard CPD, Boschker HTS (2019) Nutrient limitation driven dynamics of amino acids and fatty acids in coastal phytoplankton. Limnology and Oceanography 64: 302–316. https://doi.org/10.1002/LNO.11040
- Håkanson L (2005) The importance of lake morphometry for the structureand function of lakes. International Review of Hydrobiology 90: 433–461. https://doi.org/10.1002/IROH.200410775

- Handique GK, Handique AK (2009) Proline accumulation in lemongrass (*Cymbopogon flexuosus* Stapf.) due to heavy metal stress. Journal of Environmental Biology 30: 299–302.
- Harvey B (2009) A Biological Synopsis of Northern Pike (*Esox lucius*). Canadian Manuscript Reports Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 2885: v + 31p.
- Hastie ND (2001) Life, sex and WT1 isoforms Three amino acids can make all the difference. Cell 106: 391–394.
- Hayat S, Hayat Q, Alyemeni MN, Wani AS, Pichtel J, Ahmad A (2012) Role of proline under changing environments: A review. Plant Signaling & Behavior 7: 1456. https://doi.org/10.4161/PSB.21949
- Hayden B, Myllykangas J-P, Rolls RJ, Kahilainen KK (2017) Climate and productivity shape fish and invertebrate community structure in subarctic lakes. Freshwater Biology 62: 990–1003. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12919
- Hayden B, Harrod C, Thomas SM, Eloranta AP, Myllykangas J -P., Siwertsson A, Præbel K, Knudsen R, Amundsen P -A., Kahilainen KK (2019) From clear lakes to murky waters tracing the functional response of high-latitude lake communities to concurrent 'greening' and 'browning.' Ecology Letters 22: 807–816. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13238
- Hudelson KE, Muir DCG, Drevnick PE, Köck G, Iqaluk D, Wang X, Kirk JL, Barst BD, Grgicak-Mannion A, Shearon R, Fisk AT (2019) Temporal trends, lake-to-lake variation, and climate effects on Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*) mercury concentrations from six High Arctic lakes in Nunavut, Canada. Science of the Total Environment 678: 801–812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.04.453
- Hynes HBN (1950) The food of fresh-water sticklebacks (*Gasterosteus aculeatus* and *Pygosteus pungitius*), with a review of methods used in studies of the food of fishes. The Journal of Animal Ecology 19: 36-58. https://doi.org/10.2307/1570
- Johnston T, Lescord G, Quesnel M, Savage P, Gunn J, Kidd K (2022) Age, body size, growth and dietary habits: What are the key factors driving individual variability in mercury of lacustrine fishes in northern temperate lakes? Environmental Research 2013: 113740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.113740
- Kahilainen K, Lehtonen H (2003) Piscivory and prey selection of four predator species in a whitefish dominated subarctic lake. Journal of Fish Biology 63: 659–672. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1095-8649.2003.00179.x
- Kamenik C, Schmidt R, Kum G, Psenner R (2018) The influence of catchment characteristics on the water chemistry of Mountain Lakes. Arctic, Antarctic and Alpine Research 33: 404–409. https://doi.org/10.1080/15230430.2001.12003448
- Kapoor D, Kavani K, Rattan A, Landi M, Sharma A (2021) Ameliorative role of pre-sowing proline treatment in *Coriandrum sativum L.* seedlings under mercury toxicity. Phyton-International Journal of Experimental Botany 90: 489–501. https://doi.org/10.32604/PHYTON.2021.012359

- Karimi R, Chen CY, Pickhardt PC, Fisher NS, Folt CL (2007) Stoichiometric controls of mercury dilution by growth. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104: 7477–7482. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0611261104
- Kerin EJ, Gilmour CC, Roden E, Suzuki MT, Coates JD, Mason RP (2006) Mercury methylation by dissimilatory iron-reducing bacteria. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72: 7919–21. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01602-06
- Kerper LE, Ballatori N, Clarkson TW (1992) Methylmercury transport across the blood-brain barrier by an amino acid carrier. The American Journal of Physiology 262: R761–R765. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1992.262.5.R761
- Keva O, Hayden B, Harrod C, Kahilainen KK (2017) Total mercury concentrations in liver and muscle of European whitefish (*Coregonus lavaretus* (L.)) in a subarctic lake – Assessing the factors driving year-round variation. Environmental Pollution 231: 1518-1528. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2017.09.012
- Keva O, Taipale S, Hayden B, Thomas S, Vesterinen J, Kankaala P, Kahilainen K (2021) Increasing temperature and productivity change biomass, trophic pyramids and community-level omega-3 fatty acid content in subarctic lake food webs. Global Change Biology 27: 282-296. https://doi.org/10.1111/GCB.15387
- Khanna S, Rai VK (1995) Amelioration of mercury toxicity in radish *Raphanus sativus L.* seedlings by L-proline and other amino acids. Indian Journal of Experimental Biology 33: 766–770.
- King JK, Harmon SM, Fu TT, Gladden JB (2002) Mercury removal, methylmercury formation, and sulfate-reducing bacteria profiles in wetland mesocosms. Chemosphere 46: 859–870. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(01)00135-7
- Kortelainen P, Mattsson T, Finér L, Ahtiainen M, Saukkonen S, Sallantaus T (2006) Controls on the export of C, N, P and Fe from undisturbed boreal catchments, Finland. Aquatic Sciences 68: 453–468. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-006-0833-6
- Kosakowska A, Falkowski L, Lewandowska J (1988) Effect of amino acids on the toxicity of heavy metals to phytoplankton. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 40: 532– 538. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01688377
- Kozak N, Ahonen SA, Keva O, Østbye K, Taipale SJ, Hayden B, Kahilainen KK (2021) Environmental and biological factors are joint drivers of mercury biomagnification in subarctic lake food webs along a climate and productivity gradient. Science of the Total Environment 779: 146261. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.146261
- Landner L (1972) The biological alkylation of mercury. Biochemical Journal 130: 67P-69P. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ1300067P
- Langford NJ, Ferner RE (1999) Toxicity of mercury. Journal of Human Hypertension 13: 651–656. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jhh.1000896

- Lariviere K, Samia M, Lister A, Van der Kraak G, Trudeau V (2005) Sex steroid regulation of brain glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) mRNA is season-dependent and sexually dimorphic in the goldfish *Carassius auratus*. Molecular Brain Research 141: 1-9. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.MOLBRAINRES.2005.06.005
- Lavoie RA, Jardine TD, Chumchal MM, Kidd KA, Campbell LM (2013) Biomagnification of mercury in aquatic food webs: a worldwide meta-analysis. Environmental Science & Technology 47: 13385–13394. https://doi.org/10.1021/es403103t
- Li HT, Feng L, Jiang WD, Liu Y, Jiang J, Li SH, Zhou XQ (2013) Oxidative stress parameters and antiapoptotic response to hydroxyl radicals in fish erythrocytes: Protective effects of glutamine, alanine, citrulline and proline. Aquatic Toxicology 126: 169–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AQUATOX.2012.11.005
- Li P, Mai K, Trushenski J, Wu G (2009) New developments in fish amino acid nutrition: Towards functional and environmentally oriented aquafeeds. Amino Acids 37: 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00726-008-0171-1/TABLES/2
- Li X, Zheng S, Wu G (2021) Nutrition and Functions of Amino Acids in Fish. In: Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health. Springer, 133–168. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-54462-1_8
- Litchman E, Steiner D, Bossard P (2003) Photosynthetic and growth responses of three freshwater algae to phosphorus limitation and daylength. Freshwater Biology 48: 2141–2148. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1365-2427.2003.01157.X
- Liu S, Horak J, Höldrich M, Lämmerhofer M (2017) Accurate and reliable quantification of the protein surface coverage on protein-functionalized nanoparticles. Analytica Chimica Acta 989: 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ACA.2017.08.004
- Lorenzen K, Enberg K (2002) Density-dependent growth as a key mechanism in the regulation of fish populations: evidence from among-population comparisions. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London 269: 49–54. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2001.1853
- Louis VL, Rudd JWM, Kelly CA, Beaty KG, Bloom NS, Flett RJ (1994) Importance of wetlands as sources of methyl mercury to boreal forest ecosystems. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 51: 1065–1076. https://doi.org/10.1139/f94-106
- Lucotte M, Paquet S, Moingt M (2016) Climate and physiography predict mercury concentrations in game fish species in Quebec Lakes better than anthropogenic disturbances. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 70: 710-723. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00244-016-0261-0/FIGURES/7
- Madenjian CP, David SR, Pothoven SA (2012) Effects of activity and energy budget balancing algorithm on laboratory performance of a fish bioenergetics model. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 141: 1328–1337. https://doi.org/10.1080/00028487.2012.692346
- Madenjian CP, Blanchfield PJ, Hrenchuk LE, van Walleghem JLA (2014) Mercury elimination rates for adult northern pike *Esox lucius*: Evidence for a sex effect. Bulletin of Environmental

Contamination and Toxicology 93: 144–148. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00128-014-1256-Z/FIGURES/1

- Maikanov BS, Auteleyeva LT, Ismagulova GT, Wiśniewski J, Bełkot Z, Anusz K (2020) Quality and safety of agricultural products in the Shuchinsk-Burabay Resort Zone. Medycyna Weterynaryjna 76: 585–588. https://doi.org/10.21521/mw.6462
- Man Y, Yin R, Cai K, Qin C, Wang J, Yan H, Li M (2019) Primary amino acids affect the distribution of methylmercury rather than inorganic mercury among tissues of two farmed-raised fish species. Chemosphere 225: 320–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2019.03.058
- McKinney MA, Chételat J, Burke SM, Elliott KH, Fernie KJ, Houde M, Kahilainen KK, Letcher RJ, Morris AD, Muir DCG, Routti H, Yurkowski DJ (2022) Climate change and mercury in the Arctic: Biotic interactions. Science of the Total Environment 834: 155221. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2022.155221
- Merrifield JD, Davids WG, MacRae JD, Amirbahman A (2004) Uptake of mercury by thiol-grafted chitosan gel beads. Water Research 38: 3132–3138. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2004.04.008
- Mohanty B, Mahanty A, Ganguly S, Sankar T v., Chakraborty K, Rangasamy A, Paul B, Sarma D, Mathew S, Asha KK, Behera B, Aftabuddin Md, Debnath D, Vijayagopal P, Sridhar N, Akhtar MS, Sahi N, Mitra T, Banerjee S, Paria P, Das D, Das P, Vijayan KK, Laxmanan PT, Sharma AP (2014) Amino acid compositions of 27 food fishes and their importance in clinical nutrition. Journal of Amino Acids 2014. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/269797
- Mok WJ, Hatanaka Y, Seoka M, Itoh T, Tsukamasa Y, Ando M (2014) Effects of additional cysteine in fish diet on mercury concentration. Food Chemistry 147: 340–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2013.09.157
- Morel FMM, Kraepiel AML, Amyot M (1998) The chemical cycle and bioaccumulation of mercury. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 29: 543–566. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.29.1.543
- Moslemi-Aqdam M, Low G, Low M, Branfireun BA, Swanson HK (2021) Catchments affect growth rate of Northern Pike, *Esox lucius*, in subarctic lakes. Aquatic Sciences 83: 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00027-021-00817-4/FIGURES/5
- Moslemi-Aqdam M, Baker L, Baltzer J, Branfireun B, Evans M, Laird B, Low G, Low M, Swanson H (2022) Understanding amont-lake variability of mercury concentrations is Northern pike (*Esox lucius*): A whole-ecosystem study in subarctic lakes. Science of the Total Environment 822, 153430. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2022.153430
 - Nolan EM, Lippard SJ (2008) Tools and tactics for the optical detection of mercuric ion. Chemical Reviews 108: 3443–3480. https://doi.org/10.1021/CR068000Q
- Obrist D, Kirk JL, Zhang L, Sunderland EM, Jiskra M, Selin NE (2018) A review of global environmental mercury processes in response to human and natural perturbations: Changes

of emissions, climate, and land use. Ambio 47: 116–140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-017-1004-9

- Öhlund G, Hedström P, Norman S, Hein CL, Englund G (2015) Temperature dependence of predation depends on the relative performance of predators and prey. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 282: 20142254. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2014.2254
- Pacyna EG, Pacyna JM, Sundseth K, Munthe J, Kindbom K, Wilson S, Steenhuisen F, Maxson P (2010) Global emission of mercury to the atmosphere from anthropogenic sources in 2005 and projections to 2020. Atmospheric Environment 44: 2487–2499. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATMOSENV.2009.06.009
- Porvari P (1998) Development of fish mercury concentrations in Finnish reservoirs from 1979 to 1994. Science of the Total Environment 213: 279–290. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(98)00101-6
- Porvari P, Verta M, Munthe J, Haapanen M (2003) Forestry practices increase mercury and methyl mercury output from boreal forest catchments. Environmental Science & Technology 37: 2389–2393. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0340174
- Post DM (2002) Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: models, methods and assumptions. Ecology 83: 703–718. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[0703:USITET]2.0.CO;2
- R Core Team (2021) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: https://www.r-project.org/
- Rask M, Malinen T, Olin M, Nyberg K, Ruuhijärvi J, Kahilainen KK, Verta M, Vuorenmaa J, Blauberg TR, Arvola L (2021) High mercury concentrations of European perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) in boreal headwater lakes with variable history of acidification and recovery. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 232: 382. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11270-021-05303-Z/FIGURES/4
- Razavi NR, Qu M, Chen D, Zhong Y, Ren W, Wang Y, Campbell LM (2015) Effect of eutrophication on mercury (Hg) dynamics in subtropical reservoirs from a high Hg deposition ecoregion. Limnology and Oceanography 60: 386–401. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.10036
- Rennie MD, Collins NC, Shuter BJ, Rajotte JW, Couture P (2005) A comparison of methods for estimating activity costs of wild fish populations: more active fish observed to grow slower. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 62: 767–780. https://doi.org/10.1139/F05-052
- Riveiro I, Guisande C, Iglesias P, Basilone G, Cuttitta A, Giraldez A, Patti B, Mazzola S, Bonanno A, Vergara A, Maneiro I (2011) Identification of subpopulations in pelagic marine fish species using amino acid composition. Hydrobiologia 670: 189–199. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/S10750-011-0663-Y/TABLES/4
- Roos DH, Puntel RL, Lugokenski TH, Ineu RP, Bohrer D, Burger ME, Franco JL, Farina M, Aschner M, Rocha JBT, de Vargas Barbosa NB (2010) Complex methylmercury–cysteine alters

mercury accumulation in different tissues of mice. Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology 107: 789–792. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1742-7843.2010.00577.X

- Ruohtula M, Miettinen JK (1975) Retention and excretion of 203 Hg-labelled methylmercury in rainbow trout. Oikos 26: 385-390. https://doi.org/10.2307/3543511
- Rydberg J, Klaminder J, Rosen P, Bindler R (2010) Climate driven release of carbon and mercury from permafrost mires increases mercury loading to subarctic lakes. Science of the Total Environment 408: 4778-4783. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2010.06.056
- Sánchez-Hernández J, Hayden B, Harrod C, Kahilainen KK (2021) Population niche breadth and individual trophic specialisation of fish along a climate-productivity gradient. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 31: 1025–1043. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11160-021-09687-3
- Sandheinrich MB, Drevnick PE (2016) Relationship among mercury concentration, growth rate, and condition of northern pike: A tautology resolved? Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 35: 2910–2915. https://doi.org/10.1002/ETC.3521
- Schram E, Moore S, Bigwood EJ (1954) Chromatographic determination of cystine as cysteic acid. Biochem Journal 57: 33–37. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ0570033
- Sharma CM, Borgstrøm R, Huitfeldt JS, Rosseland BO (2008) Selective exploitation of large pike *Esox lucius*—Effects on mercury concentrations in fish populations. Science of the Total Environment 399: 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2008.03.026
- Simoneau M, Lucotte M, Garceau S, Laliberté D (2005) Fish growth rates modulate mercury concentrations in walleye (*Sander vitreus*) from eastern Canadian lakes. Environmental Research 98: 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2004.08.002
- Sonesten L (2003) Catchment area composition and water chemistry heavily affects mercury levels in perch (*Perca fluviatilis* L.) in circumneutral lakes. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 144: 117–139. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022974530406
- Srikanth K, Pereira E, Duarte AC, Ahmad I (2013) Glutathione and its dependent enzymes' modulatory responses to toxic metals and metalloids in fish—a review. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 20: 2133–2149. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11356-012-1459-Y
- Staehr PA, Baastrup-Spohr L, Sand-Jensen K, Stedmon C (2012) Lake metabolism scales with lake morphometry and catchment conditions. Aquatic Sciences 74: 155–169. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00027-011-0207-6/TABLES/3
- Sze YK, Davis AR, Neville GA (1975) Raman and infrared studies of complexes of mercury(II) with cysteine, cysteine methyl ester and methionine. Inorganic Chemistry 14: 1969–1974. https://doi.org/10.1021/ic50150a045
- Taipale SJ, Vuorio K, Aalto SL, Peltomaa E, Tiirola M (2019) Eutrophication reduces the nutritional value of phytoplankton in boreal lakes. Environmental Research 179: 108836. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2019.108836

- Tantrey MS, Agnihotri RK (2010) Chlorophyll and proline content of gram (*Cicer arietinum* L.) under cadmium and mercury treatments antimicrobial activity of bark and leaf extracts of morning olifera view project. Research Journal of Agricultural Sciences 1: 119–122.
- Thera JC, Kidd KA, Bertolo RF, O'Driscoll NJ (2019) Tissue content of thiol-containing amino acids predicts methylmercury in aquatic invertebrates. Science of the Total Environment 688: 567–573. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.06.225
- Thera JC, Kidd KA, Bertolo RF (2020) Amino acids in freshwater food webs: Assessing their variability among taxa, trophic levels, and systems. Freshwater Biology 65: 1101-1113. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13495
- Thera JC, Kidd KA, Stewart AR, Bertolo RF, O'Driscoll NJ (2022) Using tissue cysteine to predict the trophic transfer of methylmercury and selenium in lake food webs. Environmental Pollution 311: 119936. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2022.119936
- Thomas SM, Kiljunen M, Malinen T, Eloranta AP, Amundsen P-A, Lodenius M, Kahilainen KK (2016) Food-web structure and mercury dynamics in a large subarctic lake following multiple species introductions. Freshwater Biology 61: 500–517. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12723
- Tjerngren I, Karlsson T, Björn E, Skyllberg U (2012) Potential Hg methylation and MeHg demethylation rates related to the nutrient status of different boreal wetlands. Biogeochemistry 108: 335–350. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-011-9603-1
- Todorova S, Driscoll CT, Matthews DA, Effler SW (2015) Zooplankton community changes confound the biodilution theory of methylmercury accumulation in a recovering mercurycontaminated lake. Environmental Science & Technology 49: 4066–4071. https://doi.org/10.1021/es5044084
- Ullrich SM, Tanton TW, Abdrashitova SA (2001) Mercury in the aquatic environment: A review of factors affecting methylation. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology 31: 241–293. https://doi.org/10.1080/20016491089226
- UNEP (2013) UNEP Global Mercury Assessment 2013 Sources, Emissions, Releases and Environmental Transport. Geneva, Switzerland.
- Verta M, Salo S, Korhonen M, Porvari P, Paloheimo A, Munthe J (2010) Climate induced thermocline change has an effect on the methyl mercury cycle in small boreal lakes. Science of the Total Environment 408: 3639-3647. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2010.05.006
- Vesterinen J, Keva O, Kahilainen KK, Strandberg U, Hiltunen M, Kankaala P, Taipale SJ (2021) Nutritional quality of littoral macroinvertebrates and pelagic zooplankton in subarctic lakes. Limnology and Oceanography 66: S81–S97. https://doi.org/10.1002/LNO.11563
- Wang F, Zeng B, Sun Z, Zhu C (2009) Relationship between proline and Hg2+-induced oxidative stress in a tolerant rice mutant. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 56: 723–731. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00244-008-9226-2/TABLES/5

- Watras CJ, Back RC, Halvorsen S, Hudson RJM, Morrison KA, Wente SP (1998) Bioaccumulation of mercury in pelagic freshwater food webs. Science of the Total Environment 219: 183–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(98)00228-9
- Wetzel RG (1992) Clean water: a fading resource. In: Ilmavirta V, Jones RI (Eds), The dynamics and use of lacustrine ecosystems. Springer, Dordrecht, 21–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-2745-5_2
- Wu G (2009) Amino acids: metabolism, functions, and nutrition. Amino Acids 37: 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00726-009-0269-0
- Wu G (2013) Functional amino acids in nutrition and health. Amino Acids 45: 407–411. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00726-013-1500-6
- Wyn B, Kidd KA, Burgess NM, Allen Curry R (2009) Mercury biomagnification in the food webs of acidic lakes in Kejimkujik National Park and National Historic Site, Nova Scotia. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 66: 1532–1545. https://doi.org/10.1139/F09-097
- Xie SW, Tian LX, Li YM, Zhou W, Zeng SL, Yang HJ, Liu YJ (2015) Effect of proline supplementation on anti-oxidative capacity, immune response and stress tolerance of juvenile Pacific white shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*. Aquaculture 448: 105–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AQUACULTURE.2015.05.040
- Yoshino K, Mori K, Kanaya G, Kojima S, Henmi Y, Matsuyama A, Yamamoto M (2020) Food sources are more important than biomagnification on mercury bioaccumulation in marine fishes. Environmental Pollution 262: 113982. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2020.113982
- Yu RQ, Flanders JR, MacK EE, Turner R, Mirza MB, Barkay T (2012) Contribution of coexisting sulfate and iron reducing bacteria to methylmercury production in freshwater river sediments. Environmental Science and Technology 46: 2684–2691. https://doi.org/10.1021/ES2033718/SUPPL_FILE/ES2033718_SI_001.PDF
- Zhang Y, Dabrowski K, Hliwa P, Gomulka P (2006) Indispensable amino acid concentrations decrease in tissues of stomachless fish, common carp in response to free amino acid- or peptide-based diets. Amino Acids 31: 165–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00726-006-0345-7
- Zhang Z, Wang WX, Zheng N, Cao Y, Xiao H, Zhu R, Guan H, Xiao H (2021) Methylmercury biomagnification in aquatic food webs of Poyang Lake, China: Insights from amino acid signatures. Journal of Hazardous Materials 404: 123700. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JHAZMAT.2020.123700
- Zhao XL, Han Y, Ren ST, Ma YM, Li H, Peng XX (2015) I-proline increases survival of tilapias infected by *Streptococcus agalactiae* in higher water temperature. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 44: 33–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FSI.2015.01.025 Zimmermann LT, dos Santos DB, Colle D, dos Santos AA, Hort MA, Garcia SC, Bressan LP, Bohrer D, Farina M (2014) Methionine stimulates motor impairment and cerebellar mercury deposition in methylmercury-exposed mice. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health 77: 46–56. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2014.865582

SUPPLEMENT

HPLC-FD analysis PROTOCOL of amino acids using AQC-derivatization

Procedure is based on the following papers:

- Liu et al., Analytica Chimica Acta 989 (2017) 29-37
- Waters Kairos Amino Acid Kit_720005448en
- <u>https://perso.univ-rennes1.fr/antoine.gravot/index.htm/M2-</u>
 <u>Pro/TP%20Biochimie%20des%20graines/HydrolyseProt%C3%A9ines%20.pdf</u> [07.05.2020]

I. Sample preparation

- Cut fish white dorsal muscle avoiding bones, skin or scales. Store samples in 2 ml polypropylene tubes. Freeze-dry for 48 hours (leave it longer if needed) at -50°C and powdered with a glass rod.
- 2. Store samples at −20°C.

II. Standards

- 0.1 M HCl (e.g., To make a 500 mL of 0.1 M solution, slowly add 4.106 mL of conc. HCl solution to 125 mL ultra high quality (UHQ) water. Adjust the final volume of solution to 500 mL with UHQ water). <u>https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/chemistry/stockroom-reagents/learning-center/technical-library/molarity-calculator.html</u>
- 2. Internal standard L-norvaline
 - a) Prepare precisely approx. 20 mg L^{-1} (= μ g m L^{-1}) solution in 0.1 M HCl.
 - a. Stock solution, weigh 10 mg of L-norvaline in a 50 mL vol. bottle, fill to mark with 0.1 M HCl (= 200 mg L^{-1}).
 - b. Dilute $1/10 \rightarrow 20 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ (= $\mu \text{g mL}^{-1}$).
- 3. Calibration series

Prepare a calibration series of an amino acid standard mixture (AAS18 initial conc. 1.25 mM for cysteine, for all the other amino acids conc. is 2.5 mM) in the range of 0.004-0.5 mM (e.g. 0.004 - 0.01 - 0.025 - 0.1 - 0.5 mM) in 0.1 N HCl and use these directly for AQC derivatization. Useful hint: μ mol mL⁻¹ = mmol L⁻¹ = mM
III. Oxidation

Oxidation aims to stabilize sulfur-containing amino acids (methionine and cysteine) prior to hydrolysis step transforming methionine to methionine sulfoxide and cysteine to cysteic acid.



Reagents for methionine and cysteine oxidation

- oxidation solution (performic acid was prepared fresh by mixing formic acid and 30% hydrogen peroxide (9:1), and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour)
- □ N₂ (colorless gas)

Equipment

□ N-Evap nitrogen blowdown evaporator

Steps

- 1. Weigh 1-2 mg sample and transfer to kimax tube.
- 2. Add 100 μL of oxidation solution and leave it in room temperature for 10 min.
- 3. Dry sample with N_2 in nitrogen blowdown evaporator.

IV. Hydrolysis

The acid-hydrolysis reaction with 6 M HCl results in the addition of water to each peptide bond, dividing peptides to the desired individual amino acids. Not all amino acids are completely recovered under HCl-hydrolysis. Some amino acids, like asparagine and glutamine are hydrolyzed to their acid forms of aspartic acid and glutamic acid, respectively. Some other amino acids cannot be reliably measured. For example, tryptophan is destroyed during the reaction, while sulfur-containing amino acids (methionine and cysteine) need prior oxidation to stabilize sulfur bond.



Reagents

- □ 6 M HCl
- □ UHQ water

Equipment

Laboratory oven

Steps

- 1. To oxidized sample add 1 ml 6 M HCl.
- 2. Close kimax tubes and heat it overnight in an oven (110°C, 12-24h).
- 3. Open kimax tubes to dry samples overnight (110°C).
- 4. Dissolve the sample in 1 mL of UHQ water (amino acid target conc. 1-5 μ g mL⁻¹).

V. AQC derivatization

Primary and secondary amines are readily derivatized with commercially available amino acid derivatization reagent 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate (AQC) using easily performed experimental methodology. The reaction of amino acid derivatization with AQC reagent follows:



AQC derivatization reagent (3 mg mL⁻¹) is prepared by dissolving purified 3 mg AQC (Synchem) in 1 mL anhydrous acetonitrile

- 1. Weigh 3 mg AQC in a GC vial, add 1 mL of anhydrous acetonitrile.
- 2. Close the cap and Vortex for 10 seconds.
- 3. Heat the vial at 55 °C for 10 minutes.
- 4. Store a closed vial in a desiccator at room temperature.

Mixed solution is usable for approx. 5 days, estimate your sample amount and try to optimize the AQC use.

Equipment

Reagents

ISTD)

□ AQC solution

□ 0.2 M borate buffer (pH 8.5)

□ L-Norvaline (Internal Standard -

- Desiccator
- □ Single channel Manual Pipettes
- □ Single channel Repeater Pipettes
- Heat Block
- □ Vortex mixer

AQC derivatization procedure

- 1. Pipette 70 μL of 0.2 M borate buffer (pH 8.5) in a cone shape GC vial.
- 2. Add 10 μ L of internal standard (L-Norvaline) and 10 μ L obtained hydrolysis product into the vial, mix the solution with pipetting in and out 3 times.
- 3. Add to each solution 20 μ L of AQC solution (3 mg mL⁻¹ in acetonitrile), close vial and Vortex for 10 seconds.
- 4. Allow the vial stand at room temperature for 1 minute.
- Put vial in the heating block and allow the reaction to proceed at 55 °C for 10 min and mix the sample every 2 minutes with Vortex for few seconds.

Caution:

- Do not use higher temperatures than 55°C.
- Do not heat the vial for longer than 10 minutes.

The obtained samples containing AQC derivatives of amino acids are ready and stable for HPLC-FLD analysis for approx. 2 weeks

VI. HPLC-FLD analysis

Eluent A: 140 mM sodium acetate solution (pH = 5.0).

To make 1 L of eluent A, dissolve 11.484 g sodium acetate in volumetric flask filled half with UHQ water. Slowly add 2.27 mL 17 mM triethanolamine and 4 ml conc. acetic acid. Adjust the final volume of solution to 1 L. Filter eluent A with proper filters (0.45 μ m).

Eluent B: methanol

HPLC-FLD analysis is performed on a Shimadzu 30 series ultra-high pressure LC instrument consisting of a binary pump, autosampler, column compartment and fluorescence detector. Phenomenex Gemini C18 column (3 x 150 mm, 3 μ m) is used for the chromatographic separation. Amino acid separation is performed at 37°C with the following gradient elution:

RT (min)	Pump B (%)
0.01	20
1	20
5	20
35	80
40	80
41	20
50	20

The flow rate is set to 1 mL min⁻¹, and injection volume is 5 μ L (or 3 μ L). Detection is carried out by fluorescence detection with excitation at 250 nm and emission at 395 nm.





numbered (No) with increasing PC1 value and correspond to the numbers in Fig. S2. Selected environmental variables: altitude (Alt), mean
air temperature (Temp) and precipitation (Precip) in open-water season (June–September 1981–2010 values derived from weather stations).
Lake physical-chemical properties and morphometry: total phosphorus (totP), compensation depth (z.comp), mean depth (z.mean) and lake
ittoral percentage (Litt), lake area (LA). Catchment characteristics: agriculture percentage (Agr), forest percentage (Forest), sparse
vegetation (Sp.veg), catchment area (CA), peatland area (PA), ditch in catchment area (Ditch) and catchment-lake area ratio (CA:LA). These
variables were compressed with PCA analysis and grouped roughly as following: climate-productivity gradient (PC1), catchment properties
(PC2) and lake morphometry (PC3) that explain in total 88.6% of variation. Please see detailed PCA analysis data in Table S2.

No	Lake	Alt	Precip	Temp	totP	z.comp	z.mean	Litt	Γ	Agr	Forest	Sp veg.	CA	PA	Ditch	CA:LA	PC1	PC2	PC3
		[m a.s.l.]	[mm]	[°C]	[µg L ⁻¹]	[ш]	[ш]	[%]	[km²]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[km²]	[km²]	[km km ⁻²]		58.4%	20.0%	10.2%
1	Kuohkima	489	197	8.4	ŝ	8	2.6	66	0.3	0.00	7.10	78.30	36.17	1.07	0.00	120.58	-4.39	-0.71	1.12
2	Oiko	448	218	8.7	7	5	3.1	84	1.2	0.00	19.90	61.99	21.24	2.34	0.00	17.70	-3.10	0:30	0.27
ŝ	Kivi	445	221	8.7	7	5	2.8	84	3.5	0.00	4.70	74.23	165.03	27.65	0.00	47.15	-3.05	-0.63	0.62
4	Ropi	399	240	6	10	5	6.9	54	1.3	0.00	12.89	65.43	86.80	16.35	0.00	66.77	-2.72	-0.07	-1.89
5	Äkäs	263	256	10.5	18	4.5	m	77	13.1	0.20	56.13	14.36	74.04	11.14	0.12	5.65	0.22	1.39	0.67
9	Särkilompolo	255	256	10.5	36	2.5	3.7	30	1.3	0.10	68.96	8.36	36.93	2.84	0.20	28.41	0.76	1.01	-1.71
7	Aalis	177	257	11.4	45	1.5	3.2	19	9	0.30	62.25	16.14	72.25	9.85	5.42	12.04	2.73	1.21	-0.80
8	Rattos	118	257	11.6	47	1.5	2.1	32	4.1	0.70	72.96	13.62	58.06	2.68	4.71	14.16	2.95	0.97	-0.33
6	Pasma	164	257	11.3	48	1.5	1.6	66	8.4	1.00	65.03	16.08	134.63	15.21	4.60	16.03	3.29	1.02	2.23
10	Vaatto	156	257	11.2	30	1.5	1.8	33	2.3	0.90	65.03	13.49	637.97	113.31	4.76	277.38	3.32	-4.49	-0.17

phic level	
lerived tro	
^{.5} N, d ¹³ C) c	sal muscle
isotope (d	white dor
th, stable i	mercury of
tion, grow-	cted total r
sex propor	age corre
size, age,	eight) and
, including	DW, dry w
cal metrics	ury (THg,
of biologic	total mero
age values	ance, raw
S2. Avera	ittoral reli
Table	and li

Lake	Type	c	Total length	Weight	Age	Sex prop	Growth rate	Trophic	Pelagic	THg	THg _{age.corr}
			[cm]	[kg]	[years]	[female %]	[cm year ^{_1}]	level	reliance	[ng mg ⁻¹ DW]	[ng mg ⁻¹ DW]
Kuohkima	oligotrophic	6	44.8±14.5	0.661 ± 0.665	7.8±3.3	33	7.1 ± 1.3	3.9 ± 0.1	0.0±0.0	980 ± 514	1072 ± 185
Oiko	oligotrophic	∞	58.9 ± 12.2	1.281 ± 0.739	10.0 ± 4.2	25	7.1 ± 1.4	3.8 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.1	2463 ± 1492	2025 ± 440
Kivi	oligotrophic	∞	60.2 ± 7.3	1.308 ± 0.468	10.3 ± 3.2	38	7.6 ± 2.0	3.9 ± 0.1	0.0 ± 0.0	1890 ± 843	1552 ± 311
Ropi	oligotrophic	7	37.0 ± 4.1	0.346 ± 0.146	4.7 ± 1.1	22	7.0 ± 1.1	3.4 ± 0.3	0.0 ± 0.1	588 ± 205	1070 ± 191
Äkäs	mesotrophic	S	48.6 ± 21.9	1.135 ± 1.215	5.8±2.0	20	7.7 ± 2.0	2.9±0.5	0.6 ± 0.5	727 ± 332	1054 ± 191
Särkilompolo	eutrophic	10	52.8±19.8	1.192 ± 1.518	6.9 ± 3.3	60	8.5 ± 1.1	3.0 ± 0.1	1.0 ± 0.0	1303 ± 534	1706 ± 434
Aalis	eutrophic	10	69.5 ± 17.1	2.205 ± 1.399	9.0±3.9	70	9.0 ± 1.7	3.9±0.3	0.1 ± 0.1	2260 ± 1315	2101 ± 552
Rattos	eutrophic	10	60.0 ± 18.5	1.503 ± 1.179	8.7±3.6	50	7.4 ± 1.0	4.3 ± 0.1	0.8 ± 0.1	2110 ± 912	2094 ± 519
Pasma	eutrophic	10	66.3 ± 10.1	1.515 ± 0.728	11.1 ± 2.7	06	6.8 ± 0.8	3.9 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.1	2929 ± 1493	2202 ± 885
Vaatto	eutrophic	10	55.6±15.9	1.150 ± 1.210	10.0 ± 3.2	60	7.0 ± 1.2	5.1 ± 0.3	0.0 ± 0.0	2575 ± 1397	2259 ± 877
all lakes		87	56.3±17.0	1.269 ± 1.096	8.6±3.6	51	7.6 ± 1.5	3.9±0.6	0.3±0.4	1875 ± 1258	1778 ± 692

Table S3. Mean stomach content [%] in pike per lake population. Population size (n) is under the lake name. Stomach contents were category was estimated. Further details on pike biological parameters are presented in Table S2. Empty stomach percentage is analyzed with points method (Hynes 1950), where stomach fullness was visually determined, and relative proportion of each prey presented in the last row.

Prey	Kuohkima	Oiko	Kivi	Ropi	Äkäs	Särkilompolo	Aalis	Rattos	Pasma	Vaatto
	6	8	~~	8	7 5	10	10	10	10	10
Gammarus spp.	NA	NA	N/	A N/	A NA	NA	NA	6.25	NA	NA
Coregonus spp.	NA	NA	Ń	∆ 69.25	3 NA	52.94	NA	NA	NA	NA
Lemming	60.34	NA	Ń	A N/	A NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Bait fish	NA	50	Ń	A N/	A NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Minnow	20.69	NA	Ń	A N/	A NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
LSR whitefish	NA	27.78	0	2 N/	4 66.67	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Bleak	NA	NA	Ń	A N/	A NA	NA	NA	NA	AN	100
Ruffe	NA	11.11	Ń	A N/	A NA	NA	23.33	56.25	6.67	NA
Vendace	NA	NA	Ń	A N/	A NA	NA	16.67	NA	AN	NA
Roach	NA	NA	Ń	A N/	A NA	NA	43.33	31.25	33.33	NA
Perch	NA	NA	Ń	A N/	A NA	23.53	NA	NA	26.67	NA
Alpine bullhead	10.34	11.11	Ń	A N/	A NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Burbot	NA	NA	4	8 15.38	8 NA	NA	NA	NA	AN	NA
Pike	1.72	NA	Ń	A N/	A NA	NA	NA	NA	AN	NA
Unidentified fish	6.9	NA	N,	△ 15.38	33.33	23.53	16.67	6.25	33.33	NA
Empty stomach (%)	37.5	40	22.2	2 4(37.5	80	40	42.86	60	50

valine (Val), methionine (Met), cysteic acid (Cys), arginine (Arg), proline (Pro), tyrosine (Tyr), serine (Ser), glutamic acid (Glu), glycine (Gly), alanine (Ala), aspartic acid (Asp), essential amino acids (EAA), non-essential amino acids (NEAA), and total amino acids (totAA). Table S4. Average amino acids content. Abbreviations: histidine (His), isoleucine (IIe), Iysine (Lys), phenylalanine (Phe), threonine (Thr), EAA and NEAA are marked with orange and blue colors, respectively.

No	Lake	His	lle	Lys	Phe	Thr	Val	Met	Cys	Arg	Pro	Tyr	Ser	Glu	Gly	Ala	Asp	EAA	NEAA	totAA
										[nm	iol mg ⁻ í	[W]								
Ч	Kuohkima	38.0	101.3	165.6	107.5	133.9	117.7	50.9	5.7	87.7	57.4	52.9	32.3	34.2	118.4	176.5	91.0	918.7	452.4	1371.1
2	Oiko	38.4	93.9	137.5	100.2	121.7	109.2	34.1	4.4	86.6	61.0	50.5	23.8	27.6	116.5	158.8	69.1	837.4	395.8	1233.2
ε	Kivi	36.4	96.6	154.3	99.4	132.1	112.6	46.4	5.8	83.2	63.9	41.1	29.0	44.7	115.4	165.6	84.1	871.8	438.7	1310.5
4	Ropi	34.2	86.4	136.8	94.6	116.0	102.3	55.9	6.8	78.2	57.4	45.1	26.4	25.8	109.6	152.7	71.5	813.7	386.1	1199.8
S	Äkäs	33.1	88.3	140.8	93.2	117.2	103.2	55.0	6.5	75.8	55.8	50.9	29.7	38.9	102.4	149.2	75.6	819.8	395.7	1215.6
9	Särkilompolo	35.7	93.1	150.2	99.4	125.2	108.2	68.0	7.1	82.3	62.4	50.1	27.2	35.4	110.9	162.2	76.2	881.8	411.8	1293.6
7	Aalis	31.5	77.5	115.6	85.0	104.9	89.5	36.1	4.3	71.6	57.2	50.6	14.9	28.8	95.1	132.9	51.1	723.8	322.7	1046.5
∞	Rattos	31.7	78.8	113.3	87.2	100.0	91.2	73.3	8.5	73.5	60.0	53.8	9.7	10.5	91.6	133.3	34.9	771.4	279.9	1051.4
6	Vaatto	37.7	6.96	154.4	105.4	121.0	115.1	90.2	7.8	88.2	6.69	56.6	22.4	28.7	118.3	171.4	6.69	946.2	410.7	1356.9
10	Pasma	31.4	 	147.7	9.66	103.2	104.2	80.7	7.4	77.3	64.1	53.2	18.1	15.9	103.5	161.3	56.8	858.5	355.6	1214.1
11	all lakes	34.8	90.6	141.6	97.1	117.5	105.3	59.1	6.4	80.4	60.9	50.5	23.4	29.0	108.2	156.4	68.0	844.3	384.9	1229.3

Table S5 Stable isotopes of carbon and nitrogen of baseline organisms (d¹³C and d¹⁵N, respectively). Baseline organisms set as zooplankton (zpl = base1) and snails (snail = base2) in calculation for trophic level (TL) and pelagic reliance (α). Zpl data was extracted from Kozak et al. (2021) and snail data was extracted from Hayden et al. (2019).

		.12	.45	.12	.45
No	Lake	d ¹³ C.zpl (‰)	d ¹⁵ N.zpl (‰)	d ¹³ C.snail (‰)	d ¹⁵ N.snail (‰)
1	Kuohkima	-33.45	3.68	-23.90	1.50
2	Oiko	-32.06	4.16	-24.56	4.13
3	Kivi	-31.23	3.05	-25.66	3.62
4	Ropi	-31.40	3.48	-26.52	3.32
5	Äkäs	-24.61	8.24	-23.60	9.50
6	Särkilompolo	-29.95	5.05	-30.70	4.23
7	Aalis	-29.90	6.31	-24.00	1.80
8	Rattos	-27.22	1.46	-20.90	1.20
9	Pasma	-29.71	3.55	-26.20	2.90
10	Vaatto	-34.18	6.31	-32.80	4.10

Table S6. Statistics of significant individual variables of final (4-component) and best-fitted (5-component) age corrected THg model for pike
with selected in best subsets model for generalized linear multiple regression analysis based on minimum AIC and Δ AIC score < 2 (see model
details in Table 1). The mean ± SD value is a slope with standard error. For each variable, we calculated t-value (t) and p-value (p) with
significance indicators (asterisk indicates significant individual variables and dot the borderline cases) and first and third quartile (Q25 and
Q75, respectively). The adjusted coefficient of determination (adj. R ²), residual standard error (RSE), and AIC values are presented for every
step with added variables to the model. Variables: trophic level (TL), climate-productivity gradient (PC1), catchment properties (PC2),
cysteine content (Cys), and growth rate (GR).

Model	Variable	mean ± SD	t	d		adj. R²	Q25	Q75	VIF
final model	(Intercept)	6.39 ± 0.31	20.83	<0.001	***		5.78	7.00	
4-component	ΤL	0.31 ± 0.08	4.00	<0.001	* * *	0.25	0.16	0.47	
	PC1	0.05 ± 0.01	3.71	<0.001	* * *	0.36	0.02	0.08	
	Cys	-0.03 ± 0.01	-2.96	0.004	* *	0.42	-0.05	-0.01	
	PC2	-0.05 ± 0.03	-1.72	060.0		0.44	-0.10	0.01	
best-fitted	(Intercent)	5 07 + N 36	16 60	100.07	* * *				
model	(ווויבו רב' הי)		00.01				5.25	6.68	
5-component	ТГ	0.33±0.08	4.30	<0.001	***	0.25	0.18	0.48	
	PC1	0.05 ± 0.01	3.59	0.001	* * *	0.36	0.02	0.07	
	Cys	-0.03 ± 0.01	-2.77	0.007	* *	0.42	-0.05	-0.01	
	GR	0.04 ± 0.02	2.13	0.036	*	0.45	00.0	0.08	
	PC2	-0.04 ± 0.03	-1.509	0.136		0.46	-0.09	0.01	



Fig. S1. Northern Fennoscandia indicating (a) the location of Tornio-Muonio watercourse on the border of Sweden and Finland (b). Studied tributary lakes are numbered (1–10) corresponding to lake numbers in Table S1. Constant lines indicate the occurrence of coniferous treelines, asterisks indicate meteorological stations with values of mean temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm) of open water season (June–September) in 1981–2010 and arrows indicate flowing direction of the watercourse (modified from Hayden et al. 2017). Symbol legend in the lower right corner indicates lake trophic state.



PCA biplots of loadings (arrows) and scores (points) of climate-productivity gradient (PC1), catchment properties (PC2) and d) lake Fig. S2. a) Variance of first 10 PCs with marked eigenvalue, b) PCA cumulative variance plot with marked cut-off for PC#, c) environmental morphometrics (PC3), and e) PCA loadings. Abbreviations: altitude (Alt), precipitation (Precip), mean air temperature (Temp), total phosphorus (totP), compensation depth (z.comp), agriculture percentage (Agr), forest percentage (Forest), sparse vegetation (Sp.veg), ditch in catchment area (Ditch), catchment area (CA), peatland area (PA), and catchment-lake area ratio (CA:LA), mean depth (z.mean), ake littoral percentage (Litt), and lake area (LA).







Fig. S4. Studentized residuals plot of observations in the final (4-component) model. The outliers were deleted when residual divided by its estimated standard deviation was > 3 (red bar).



Fig. S5. Linear regression of THg [ng g⁻¹ dry weight] and cysteine [nmol mg⁻¹ dry weight] content of all observation (n = 87). Figures a) and b) differ in color indicating a) lake trophy and b) pike age.

Paper II

Mercury growth dilution in different fish species along a climate-productivity gradient of subarctic lakes

AUTHORS: Natalia Kozak^{*1}, Kjartan Østbye^{1, 2}, Brian Hayden³, Kari Nyberg⁴, Sami J. Taipale⁵, Kimmo K. Kahilainen^{6,4}

Affiliations

¹Department of Forestry and Wildlife Management, Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Campus Evenstad, Anne Evenstad veg 80, NO-2480 Koppang, Norway

²Centre for Ecological and Evolutionary Synthesis (CEES), Department of Biosciences, University of Oslo, P.O.Box 1066, Blindern, NO-0316 Oslo, Norway

³Biology Department, Canadian Rivers Institute, University of New Brunswick, Fredericton, NB E3B 5A3, Canada

⁴Kilpisjärvi Biological Station, University of Helsinki, Käsivarrentie 14622, FI-99490 Kilpisjärvi, Finland

⁵Department of Biological and Environmental Science, University of Jyväskylä, P.O.Box 35 (YA), FI-40014 Jyväskylä, Finland

⁶Lammi Biological Station, University of Helsinki, Pääjärventie 320, FI-16900 Lammi, Finland

* Corresponding author: e-mail: natalia.kozak@inn.no



Graphical abstract

Highlights

- Total mercury; THg and growth were measured in six fish species in subarctic lakes.
- THg content was negatively related to the growth rate in all species.
- Growth rate; GR and THg showed opposite patterns along climate-productivity gradient.
- Mercury growth ratio; THg/GR was developed to estimate mercury growth dilution.
- Mercury growth ratio showed a u-shaped pattern along climate-productivity gradient.

Abstract

Mercury is a toxic metal that enters aquatic consumers through diet and bioaccumulates with increasing size and age. Total mercury content (THg), growth and their derivate mercury growth dilution are evidently affected by environmental and biotic factors, but a holistic understanding of variability in mercury growth dilution among different foraging and thermal fish guilds is missing. In this study, THg growth dilution effect in six fish species in subarctic lakes was tested. First, the growth rate and THg relationship were examined and followed by calculating a novel metric of mercury growth ratio (MGR), that uses simplified ratio of THg and growth rate in age range with linear growth (3-6 years old). Secondly, MGR was plotted along climate-productivity gradient. Finally, general linear model was run to test the most important factors related to MGR. The results showed a mercury growth dilution effect in fish, with significant negative linear relationship observed in four out of six tested species. MGR indicated stronger mercury growth dilution in mesotrophic lakes, with intermediate climaticproductivity conditions, and these u-shaped patterns were significant for perch and ruffe. Fish community density, prey density, asymptotic length and lake morphometry explained 30% of observed variation in MGR. The results showed that MGR greatly varies among species. In general, relatively low fish density and high prey availability in larger lakes support mercury growth dilution. Throughout the studied watercourse, intermediate conditions in warmer and slightly more productive mesotrophic lakes lead to more effective growth dilution. The use of MGR allows to establish how much mercury is bioaccumulated per centimetre growth. MGR is a simple metric using mercury content, fish age and size, that could be used to unify the approach of mercury growth dilution level in aquatic systems.

Keywords: fish density, foraging guild, growth rate, mercury growth ratio, prey, thermal guild

1. Introduction

Mercury (Hg) is a toxic metal, that bioaccumulates in organisms, especially in the form of methylmercury (MeHg) (Watras et al. 1998, WHO 2007). MeHg affects the neurological system causing damage to the brain, reproduction, and muscle coordination (Chang 1977), and in humans, is mainly obtained from fish meals (Mozaffarian and Rimm 2006). More than 90% of total mercury (THg) in adult fish muscle is MeHg, thus THg and MeHg are often used interchangeably (Bloom 1992, Watras et al. 1998). Many studies showed that mercury content in lacustrine fish can exceed the human consumption-based maximum acceptable level of mercury issued by health authorities (Evans et al. 2005, Campbell et al. 2006, Ahonen et al. 2018). Thus, it is important to understand the underlying factors and the spatio-temporal ecosystem dynamics behind mercury bioaccumulation rates in fish (Ahonen et al. 2018, Johnston et al. 2005, Dittman and Driscoll 2009, Dang and Wang 2012, Kahilainen et al. 2017). Total length of fish is highly dependent on growth, which is species and population specific, thus different mercury dynamics and bioaccumulation rates can be expected.

Growth is a major physiological phenomenon in organisms, where the surplus energy, after covering the basic metabolic demands, is used to increase mass (Dumas et al. 2010). The amount of energy allocated for growth differs among and within species. Energy in animals is derived from consumed prey, where the quantity and quality of prey are key factors determining growth rate (e.g. Jensen et al. 2008, Vesterinen et al. 2021). However, many pelagic fish species that consume large amounts of prey have slow growth rates due to high energetic costs used for constant swimming to search for food (Webb 1971, Trudel et al. 2001, Kahilainen et al. 2014). Juvenile fish use surplus energy for somatic growth up to maturity, and afterwards a significant part of the energy is allocated to gonad production with a subsequent reduction in the overall growth rate (Roff 1983). Therefore, foraging behaviour, biological interactions and life history stage are decisive factors differentiating growth rates (Weatherley 1976, Weber et al. 2007, Shved et al. 2009). Furthermore, many environmental variables can affect growth rates between populations. Multiple variables such as temperature, turbidity, nutrients and oxygen concentration affect respiration, water clarity, availability of prey and fish activity, i.e. in optimal conditions, fish use minimum energy cost that is exceeded by

energy intake, whereas in extreme conditions, fish have high energy costs or insufficient energy intake (Kramer 1987, Beyers et al. 1999, Anacleto et al. 2018). Lake size and bathymetry shape lake habitats: light in shallow lakes can penetrate the water column down to the bottom of the whole lake area resulting in only littoral habitat in the lake, while larger and deeper lakes have more diverse habitats including littoral, pelagic, and profundal. Increasing turbidity towards productive murky lakes reduces light penetration in the water column which extends the proportion of profundal habitat (Hayden et al. 2019). Therefore, high environmental and morphometrical complexity of lakes make them very different with regard to prey availability, fish community, density and predation risk that subsequently affects fish behaviour, activity, and growth rates (Jensen et al. 2008, Hayden et al. 2014b, Tunney et al. 2014).

The current study concerns, mercury content and growth rate of six fish species with different life-histories, foraging and thermal guilds inhabiting subarctic lakes along a climateproductivity gradient (Hayden et al. 2017, Ahonen et al. 2018, Hayden et al. 2019). Vendace (Coregonus albula) and whitefish (C. lavaretus) are salmonids adapted to cold waters (e.g. Helland et al. 2007), however, vendace is a small-sized planktivorous pelagic fish with a short lifespan, while whitefish is a generalist that may reach >60 cm in length (Hayden et al. 2013). Furthermore, vendace has high metabolic rate related to constant swimming to feed on zooplankton, while whitefish has lower need for swimming as it use more benthic prey (Trudel et al. 2001, Ohlberger et al. 2008, Kahilainen et al. 2014). European perch (Perca fluviatilis) and ruffe (Gymnocephalus cernua) represent cool water-adapted species, however, perch is a generalist growing to large size via piscivory, and ruffe is a small-sized benthivore with short life span (Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021). Roach (Rutilus rutilus) is omnivorous warm-water adapted cyprinid fish, feeding mainly in littoral habitat in subarctic lakes and may reach a medium size (>30 cm) and old age (>20 years) (Hayden et al. 2019, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021). Lastly, northern pike (Esox lucius) is a cool water adapted top predatory fish, that may reach a very large size (>100 cm) and old age (>20 years) (Craig 2008; Kozak et al. 2021). Pike is an obligate piscivore and, in subarctic lakes, it mostly uses littoral habitat to feed on all kinds of fish (Thomas et al. 2017, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021). Furthermore, pike use less energy for swimming, therefore might allocate more energy to growth (Lucas et al. 1991, Johansson and Andersson 2009).

The study watercourse is located along a climatic-productivity gradient representing oligotrophic, mesotrophic, and eutrophic subarctic lakes with a variety of catchment properties, lake size and depth, and different fish communities with salmonids dominating in northern lakes and changing towards percids and cyprinids towards southern lakes (Hayden et al. 2017). The variety of environmental and biological factors along the watercourse allows to study both growth rate and mercury level changes. The strong environmental factor is a climatic gradient affecting fish activity, growing season length and habitat preference, with subsequent effects on growth rate differences among populations (Hayden et al. 2017, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021). Cool adapted species may inhabit reduced habitat of deeper profundal water layers of warm lakes, and thus fish diet and growth rate can be limited (Headrick and Carline 1993, Pierce et al. 2013, Barneche and Allen 2018). Additionally, more humid and warmer climate may increase mercury input from catchments and enhance biomagnification within food webs (Hudelson et al. 2019, Kozak et al. 2021). Lake productivity is strongly affecting community structure and abundance. Higher growth rates could be expected in more productive lakes due to higher available food sources, however, much higher fish abundance and resource competition may inhibit growth rate (Hayden et al. 2017, Hayden et al. 2019). In contrast, mercury levels in predatory fish from densely populated lakes may decrease due to biodilution processes, where mercury is diluted in greater biomass (Lorenzen and Enberg 2002, Kozak et al. 2021). Climate and productivity are highly correlated along the studied watercourse, and both factors affect growth rates as well as mercury levels cohesively and independently. Catchment properties affect nutrients and pollutants run off to lakes regulating lake productivity as well as mercury species and concentration in the water column (Sonesten 2003a, Ukonmaanaho et al. 2016, Bravo et al. 2017). Increased nutrient and carbon runoff from catchments, and high temperature and bacterial activity enhance mercury methylation by increasing mercury transfer into the food web (Ullrich et al. 2001). Lastly lake morphometry may limit habitat availability, community structure and mercury dynamics (Fee et al. 1996, Hayden et al. 2014a, Eloranta et al. 2015).

Against above-described watercourse environmental and biotic variation present in subarctic Tornio-Muonio watercourse, three main predictions were tested. First, (P1) THg would decrease with increasing growth rate in different fish species despite of their different lifehistory traits, thermal and foraging guilds. Mercury growth ratio (MGR) is a novel metric developed to evaluate mercury growth dilution in further analysis, that allows to use individual data to recover greater sample size. MGR is a simple ratio of fish mercury content to growth rate. Both fish growth rate and mercury content are affected by climatic and productivity changes of lakes. Therefore, the second prediction (P2) tested mercury growth dilution differed among fish populations in a climate-productivity gradient and expected to most effective at the best-growing conditions for fish when resources are highly available in respect to fish density. If growth rate and mercury content are clearly linked, their relation could be described as their ratio, mercury to growth ratio. The third prediction (P3) tested how well mercury growth ratio can be explained by the combination of environmental conditions (climate, habitat availability, catchment properties) and biological variables (resource availability, fish density, predation risk) using different types of lakes.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Study area

Six fish species, northern pike, perch, ruffe, roach, vendace, and a single whitefish morph defined as large sparsely rakered (LSR) whitefish, were sampled from nineteen tributary lakes in the subarctic Tornio-Muonio watercourse in August-September 2009-2014. The watercourse is located on a latitudinal climate-productivity gradient from 69.0°N to 66.5°N on the Swedish-Finnish border (Fig. 1). The northernmost, cold (open-water season air temperature 8.4–9.0°C), oligotrophic lakes (TP: $\leq 10 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$) were located on relatively high mountain birch forest area (399–559 m a.s.l.) with low anthropogenic activity and limited landuse (Table S1). The catchment areas along the watercourse do not contain permafrost. Mesotrophic lakes (TP: 10–30 μ g L⁻¹) are located in the lower latitudinal part of the watercourse (247–346 m a.s.l.), with higher air temperature (9.4–10.4°C). Catchment of these lakes have higher forested area (mostly below the northernmost distribution lines of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris) and Norway spruce (Picea abies), see Fig. 1) and human activity, including forestry (Table S1). Southernmost lakes are north of Arctic Circle, though on plain terrain with the densest human populations and intensified forestry activity (Jussila et al. 2014). These lakes are warmer (10.5–11.3°C), turbid and eutrophic (TP: \geq 30 µg L⁻¹) exposed to intense ditching of peatland for forestry activities. Extremely high drainage ditch density in the catchment area is a rich source of nutrients and carbon input to lakes (Jussila et al. 2014, Finer et al. 2021; Härkönen et al. 2023).



Fig. 5. Northern Fennoscandia region (a) with marked location of Tornio-Muonio watercourse (b) (Hayden et al. 2017). Environmental principal component analysis (PCA) biplots of loadings (arrows) and scores (points) of climate-productivity gradient (PC1), catchment properties (PC2) (c) and lake morphometrics (PC3) (d). Studied tributary lakes are numbered (1–19) corresponding to warmer climate and increasing productivity (PC1). Black, bolded, and constant lines indicate the occurrence of coniferous treelines, asterisks indicate meteorological stations with mean temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm) in open water season (June–September) in 1981–2010, and arrows indicate watercourse flow direction. Symbol legend in the lower right corner indicates lake trophic state and PC axis loadings. Labels in PCA plots are listed in Table S1.

2.2. Sampling

Zooplankton and benthic macroinvertebrates were collected from all lakes to calculate prey density (see details in Hayden et al. 2017, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021). Pelagic zooplankton was sampled with zooplankton net (25 cm diameter, 50 μ m mesh size) in triplicate vertical hauls (max 0-20 m) in the deepest point in each lake and immediately stored in a 5% formalin solution. Benthic macroinvertebrates were collected with Ekman grab (272 cm²) in littoral

habitat at depths 1-2 m. Samples were sieved on 500 μ m mesh size and stored in buckets with lake water, and immediately transported to the field laboratory for identification, sorting and counting for littoral abundance calculation (ρ_{BMI} , [n m⁻²]). Zooplankton was identified as cladocerans and copepods, counted under the microscope estimating abundance (ρ_{ZPL} [n L⁻¹]).

Fish sampling was conducted with two methods; using a series of eight gillnets of 30×1.8 m size and varying knot-to-knot mesh sizes (12, 15, 20, 25, 30, 35, 45 and 60 mm) and one Nordic multi-mesh gillnet of 30×1.5 m size (mesh sizes: 5–55 mm) with 12 equidistant panels of 2.5 m (Hayden et al. 2017). Due to the low density and gill net susceptibility of pike, these samples were supplemented by angling. Minimum of three nets were set overnight (10–12 h) per habitat (pelagic, littoral and profundal, if applicable) in each of the nineteen lakes. Sampling proceeded through 3–5 consecutive nights to get representative samples of the fish community. Fish were removed from nets, euthanized with a cerebral concussion, and stored in ice for further analysis.

All fish individuals were identified to species and measured for total length ($\pm 1 \text{ mm}$) and weight ($\pm 0.1 \text{ g}$). A piece of white dorsal fish muscle was cut, freeze-dried for 48 hours at -50° C, then powdered with a glass rod and stored frozen at -20° C for mercury analysis. The age of fish was determined by inspection of clear and burned otoliths, whereas the age of pike was determined from cleithrum bone and scale impressions (Thomas et al. 2016, Kahilainen et al. 2017, Kahilainen et al. 2019). In total, 1841 fish individuals comprising six fish species were selected in the age range from 3 to 6 years old individuals with linear growth rate and included in further analysis (Table 1).

Number of fish species (n_{sp}) was calculated as the total count of fish species found in each lake. The relative abundance of fish community was estimated from Catch Per Unit Effort (CPUE_{TOT}; fish individuals net series⁻¹ h⁻¹). Additionally, we calculated the ratio of piscivorous fish CPUE and CPUE_{TOT} to estimate predation risk (PR).

2.3. Total mercury

Total mercury content (ng g⁻¹ dry weight) in white dorsal fish muscle was analysed with a direct mercury analyser (Milestone DMA-80, Sorisole, Italy). Duplicates of each sample (20– 30 mg) were analyzed for variability control when the sample amount was sufficient. Only duplicates with <10% difference were approved for further analyses. Each running set was

WIIIe	remare p	Jercentag	e represent a	iverage	Iema	le percentage o	r populations.					
Species	Main	Thermal	Foraging	n ind. n	pop.	Weight	Total length	Age	Female	Growth rate	THg _{w.corr}	MGR
	habitat	guild	guild			[g]	[cm]	[years]	[%]	[cm year ⁻¹]	[ng g ⁻¹ DW]	
Ruffe	benthic	cool	benthivore	437	12	9.9 (1.2–50.4)	9.3 (4.9–16.2)	4.1 (3–6)	56	2.3 (1.2–4.0)	469 (20–1878)	242 (5–1251)
Vendace	pelagic	cold	planktivore	375	10	20.0 (3.5–74.7)	13.7 (8.4–20.7)	4.4 (3–6)	43	3.2 (2.1–5.8)	471 (81–2429)	167 (21–992)
Roach	littoral	warm	omnivore	137	9	14.4 (1.5–63.3)	10.8 (5.5–18.2)	4.6 (3–6)	31	2.4 (1.5–4.4)	659 (64–3092)	295 (22–1385)
Perch	benthic	cool	generalist	364	12	40.5 (4.3–248.3)	14.0 (7.6–25.4)	4.3 (3–6)	55	3.3 (2.0–5.2)	629 (51–3182)	215 (13–1460)
Whitefish	benthic	cold	generalist	394	17	119.3 (12–734.4)	22.5 (11.3–41.1)	4.2 (3–6)	44	5.5 (2.3–10.8)	591 (24–4424)	143 (3–1883)
Pike	littoral	cool	piscivore	155	13 4	155.6 (31.5–2166.0)	39.8 (17.6–70.4)	4.8 (3–6)	41	8.4 (4.5–12.8)	1255 (120–6430)	169 (11–998)
AII				1862	20	78.5 (1.2–2166.0)	16.5 (4.9–70.4)	4.3 (3–6)	46	3.9 (1.2–12.8)	606 (20–6430)	199 (3–1883)

Table 4. Species traits, number of individuals (n ind.), number of populations (n pop.) and mean (min-max) values of weight (g), total length (cm), age (years), female percentage (%), growth rate (cm year⁻¹), weight corrected THg (ng g⁻¹ DW) and weight corrected mercury growth ratio (MGR) in studied fish species and all fish combined. Statistics represent mean (min-max) values of individuals from all studied lakes, uniation. while form preceded and completed with blank control and DORM-4 certified reference material (National Research Council Canada, Canada, powdered fish protein, mean THg \pm SD, 410.0 \pm 55.0 ng g⁻¹). The sample recovery was good (mean \pm SD, 404.9 \pm 17.6 ng g⁻¹, mean recovery = 98.8%, n = 206) and all results were corrected by blanks (mean \pm SD, 2.0 \pm 4.4 ng g⁻¹). THg values were weight corrected to standardize populations to the average species weight:

$$THg_{w.corr} = \frac{THg_{ind} * W_{ave}}{W_{ind}}$$
[1],

where $THg_{w.corr}$ = weight corrected THg, THg_{ind} = measured THg of individual fish, W_{ave} = mean weight of 3-6 years old individuals per species (g), W_{ind} = weight of individual fish (g). $THg_{w.corr}$ were further on used in the analysis.

2.4. Environmental variables

In total, sixteen environmental variables were measured on-site or acquired from archives (Hayden et al. 2017, Ahonen et al. 2018, Hayden et al. 2019). Mean air temperature (Temp [°C]) and precipitation (Precip [mm]) describing climatic gradient were obtained in the openwater season (June-September) from six meteorological stations along the studied watercourse (Fig. 1, marked with asterisks) from long-term archives (1981-2010) of the Finnish Meteorological Institute, Klein Tank et al. (2002), and calculated for individual lakes. Lake altitude (Alt [m a.s.l.]) was read from the Land Survey of Finland. Compensation depth (z.comp [m]), a depth where 1% of surface light is left, was measured using LI-A250 light meter (LI-COR Biosciences, Lincoln, NE, U.S.A.). Other lake characteristics such as mean depth (z.mean [m]), lake area (LA [km²]) and volume (LV [10⁶ m³]) were derived from Finnish Environment Institute database HERTTA, or in case of missing data bathymetry were done in current project (Hayden et al. 2017). Total nitrogen and total phosphorus (totN and totP, respectively [µg L⁻¹]) were obtained from Lapland Centre for Economic Development, Transport and Environment. Catchment area (CA [km²]), peatland area (PA [km²]), tree volume in a forested area (Tree [m³ ha⁻¹]), forest percentage and sparse vegetation percentage in catchment area (Forest and Sp.veg, respectively [%]) and ditch length in catchment area (Ditch [km km⁻²]) were obtained from Finnish Environment Institute or calculated from open data (National Land Survey of Finland, Natural Resources Institute Finland) by using ESRI ArcMap 10.3.1 software (Ahonen et al. 2018). Additionally, catchment to lake area ratio (CA:LA) was calculated. All sixteen environmental variables were used in Principal Component Analysis

(PCA) to estimate major axis describing environmental variation. The first and strongest component axis was climate-productivity gradient (PC1) which explained 54.8% of variance, the second axis PC2 (16.8%) described catchment properties, while the third axis PC3 (16.1%) combined lake morphometry variables (Table S1, Fig. 1). All principal components were used further in the model.

2.5. Calculated metrics and statistical analysis

Mean values and population estimates were calculated for populations greater than five individuals, giving in total 70 populations from six species (Table S2). Simplified growth rate (GR) was calculated as a simple ratio of total length to fish age:

$$GR = \frac{TL [cm]}{t [years]}$$
[2],

where TL represents total length of fish in cm and t is the age of fish in years. Linear regression was generated to test correlation of mercury and growth rate in six fish species. In addition, the theoretical maximum body size for each population was derived from von Bertalanffy growth equation (von Bertalanffy 1938) as asymptotic length (L_{∞}):

$$L_t = L_{\infty} * (1 - e^{-K(t-t_0)})$$
 [3],

where L_t = total length at age t, K = growth coefficient and t_0 = theoretical age at length zero. Mercury growth ratio (MGR) was calculated for each individual as mercury content divided by the simplified growth rate describing mercury growth dilution:

$$MGR = \frac{THg_{w.corr} [ng g^{-1} DW]}{GR [cm \ year^{-1}]}$$
[4],

where THg_{w.corr} is the individual fish mercury content in ng g⁻¹ DW in fish white muscle and GR is the individual fish growth rate in cm year⁻¹. MGR can give any value depending on species, but generally lowering value of MGR means less mercury accumulated per centimeters growth (higher mercury growth dilution). Furthermore, mean MGR for each lake population was calculated (n = 70). MGR had a bimodal distribution, therefore was not normalized with log-transformation in Generalized Linear Model (GLM). This model was conducted to test environmental and population biological factors affecting MGR. The full initial model included 10 variables:

$$MGR \sim SP + PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + CPUE_{TOT} + \rho_{ZPL} + \rho_{BMI} + n_{sp} + L_{\infty} + PR$$
[5],

where SP represents factor variable of fish species, PC1 is climate-productivity gradient, PC2 is catchment properties and PC3 indicate lake morphometry, $CPUE_{TOT}$ represents a relative total fish abundance as total fish catch per unit effort (n [net series⁻¹ h⁻¹]), ρ_{ZPL} is pelagic zooplankton density (n [L⁻¹]), ρ_{BMI} is littoral benthic macroinvertebrates density (n [m⁻²]), n_{sp} is number of fish species present in the lake, L_∞ is asymptotic length and PR is predation risk ($CPUE_{predator} CPUE_{TOT}$ -1). Additionally, density of benthic macroinvertebrates was standardized with mean and SD values in the GLM using scaling method (Kenkel and Orloci 1986). All statistical analyses had a significance limit of α = 0.05 and were conducted with R version 3.5.2 using FactoMineR, factoextra and olss packages (R Core Team 2021).

3. Results

3.1. P1: THg decrease with growth rate

Both growth rate and THg were high in pike in comparison to other studied fish (Table 1). High growth rates with low THg were found in whitefish. Relatively low THg and growth rates were found in ruffe and roach. Mean age among collected fish species were comparable (ranged 4.1-4.8 years), however there was a wide weight and length range (Table 1). On average, close to 50% of populations were female individuals but in general, there was variability in size, growth, and THg (Table 1).

THg was negatively related to growth rate in each fish species and the fitted linear regressions were statistically significant for four species, pike, perch, ruffe, and whitefish (Fig. 2). The steepest negative slopes of THg and growth rate were found in ruffe (n = 12, b = -1.65) and perch (n = 12, b = -1.27). THg to growth rate in roach and vendace were on the border of significance ($R^2 = 0.58$, p-value = 0.077 and $R^2 = 0.31$, p-value = 0.094, respectively). Vendace and roach populations were small (n < 5 ind.) in all oligotrophic lakes. Whitefish had the greatest growth rate variation among populations ranging from 2.3 to 10.8 cm year⁻¹ (Table 1).

3.2. P2: MGR along climate-productivity gradient

Climate-productivity gradient (PC1) ranged from -4.25 to 4.09, where the lowest values indicate cold and less productive lakes with increasing productivity, warmer and wetter



Fig. 6. Linear regressions of total mercury (*In*THg [ng g⁻¹ DW]) to growth rate in six fish species (a-f). Each point represents mean values of lake population. Linear regression (solid line) and 95% confidence intervals (dashed lines) are present for significant regressions (p < 0.05). Each plot contains fish species common name, significance code in brackets according to p-value [0 (***) 0.001 (**) 0.01 (*) 0.05 (.) 0.1 () 1], number of populations (n), coefficient of determination (R²) and regression equation.

climate towards higher PC1 scores (Table S1, Fig. 1). Both THg and growth rates among populations along the watercourse climate-productivity gradient had non-linear trends (Fig. S1). The high values of THg in all species tend to be observed in high or low PC1 values (Fig. S1). The greatest THg range between populations was observed in pike, which ranged from 120 ng g⁻¹ DW (in oligotrophic population) to 6430 ng g⁻¹ DW (in eutrophic population) (Table 1). THg in fish along climate-productivity gradient followed polynomial trend of "U" shape in each fish species, with populations from all three lake trophic categories, where populations caught in intermediate habitat conditions (mesotrophic lakes) had the lowest THg. On the contrary, growth rates in all fish species followed a unimodal polynomial trend with the highest growth rates in intermediate climate-productivity conditions (mesotrophic lakes) (Fig. S1). Both growth and THg are species-specific, therefore the merged growth rate or THg of all species along climate-productivity gradient had high dispersion and explained only 16% and 23% of variation (Fig. S2).

MGR along climate-productivity gradient follows polynomial trend of "U" shape (Fig. 3). Mean MGR in pike, perch, and ruffe populations from eutrophic lakes was higher than mean MGR in oligotrophic lakes, however reversed observation was found in whitefish. Significant regressions were found in perch and ruffe, which explained 96%, and 62% of variation, respectively. No other species showed statistically significant regressions. The developed MGR metric is comparable among species explaining 25% of fish community, where combined all species showed the lowest MGR in mesotrophic lakes (Fig. S3).



Fig. 7. Polynomial regressions of total mercury and growth rate ratio (MGR [ng g⁻¹ DW per cm year⁻¹]) along climate-productivity gradient (PC1) in six fish species (a-f). Each dot represents mean values of lake population. Model regression (solid line) and 95% confidence intervals (dashed lines) are present for significant regressions (p < 0.05). Each plot contains fish species common name, significance code in brackets according to p-value [0 (***) 0.001 (**) 0.01 (*) 0.05 (.) 0.1 () 1], coefficient of determination (R²) and regression equation.

3.3. P3: Explanatory model of MGR

The full GLM model for MGR initially had ten explanatory variables (Eq. [4]). The final bestfitted model was selected from a subset of predictors with the best objective criterion, such as having the largest adjusted coefficient of determination (Adj. R²), the lowest AIC value and Δ AIC < 2 indicating no significant difference between nested models (Table 2). The final model form was MGR ~ CPUE_{TOT} + ρ_{BMI} + L_∞ + PC3, which explained 30% of variation. The next nested model (from three components [No 3]) showed no significant difference from the 4component model (Δ AIC < 2) and decreased Adj. R² by up to two percentage point. Only MGR of 70 populations were modelled, hence more complex models (No 8-10) were discarded due to overfitting. No collinearity was found among the independent numerical values (VIF < 5) (Table S3). Individual variable linear regressions of selected final, nested and full MGR model are present in Table S3.

Table 5. Selection of model with best subset of predictors based on the lowest AIC value with estimated adjusted coefficient of determination (Adj. R²) and deltaAIC (Δ AIC). The final selected model is bolded, while overfitted models are marked grey. Variables: species factor (SP), relative total fish abundance (CPUE_{TOT}), littoral benthic macroinvertebrates density (ρ_{BMI}), pelagic zooplankton density (ρ_{ZPL}), number of fish species in a lake (n_{sp}), asymptotic length (L_{∞}), predation risk (PR), climate-productivity and land-use gradient (PC1), catchment properties (PC2) and lake morphometrics (PC3). See Table S3 for details.

No	Model	Adj. R ²	AIC	ΔΑΙϹ
1	CPUE _{TOT}	0.16	919.47	-46.66
2	$CPUE_{TOT} + \rho_{BMI}$	0.23	914.06	-41.25
3	$CPUE_{TOT} + \rho_{BMI} + L_{\infty}$	0.28	874.11	-1.30
4	CPUE _{<i>TOT</i>} + ρ _{BMI} + L _∞ + PC3	0.30	872.81	0.00
5	$CPUE_{TOT} + \rho_{BMI} + L_{\infty} + PC3 + SP$	0.26	881.13	-8.32
6	$CPUE_{TOT} + \rho_{BMI} + L_{\infty} + PC3 + SP + PR$	0.25	882.56	-9.75
7	$CPUE_{TOT} + \rho_{BMI} + L_{\infty} + PC3 + SP + PR + PC1$	0.25	883.72	-10.91
8	$CPUE_{TOT} + \rho_{BMI} + L_{\infty} + PC3 + SP + PR + PC1 + \rho_{ZPL}$	0.25	885.22	-12.41
9	$CPUE_{TOT} + \rho_{BMI} + L_{\infty} + PC3 + SP + PR + PC1 + \rho_{ZPL} + PC2$	0.23	887.12	-14.31
10	$CPUE_{TOT} + \rho_{BMI} + L_{\infty} + PC3 + SP + PR + PC1 + \rho_{ZPL} + PC2 + n_{sp}$	0.21	889.11	-16.30

4. Discussion

4.1. Main results

THg was found to decrease with increasing growth rate in all fish species, however, the rate was species-specific and only four species had statistically supported negative relationships. MGR along watercourse showed that intermediate climate-productivity conditions had the highest mercury growth dilution, especially evident in ruffe and perch. Both growth rate and THg were highly dependent on both biotic and environmental factors, where the most parsimonious GLM model (30% of variation explained) for MGR included a relative abundance of fish, littoral benthic macroinvertebrates density, lake morphometry and the asymptotic length.

4.2. P1: THg decrease with the growth rate

Growth rate is a species-specific life-history trait that varies among populations according to environmental factors, population dynamics, community structure, fish abundance, and prey availability (Weatherley 1976, Bagenal and Tesch 1978). Many studies have confirmed that growth rate is related to mercury content in aquatic animals in many trophic levels starting from zooplankton (Karimi et al. 2007), as well as omnivorous (Wang and Wang 2012), generalist (Ward et al. 2010) and piscivorous fish (Stafford and Haines 2001). This study confirmed that in all studied six fish species had lower THg in fast-growing populations, however, relationships were significant only for pike, perch, ruffe, and whitefish. Roach and vendace did not show significant patterns, due to the low sample size centered in mesotrophic and eutrophic lakes.

In general, larger fish with longer lifespan and late maturation had a higher range of growth rates, while small and fast maturing fish had relatively slow growth rates with deviations among and within populations caused by environmental conditions and individual developmental stages, respectively. On average, pike and whitefish sizes were the largest of species with the highest value (pike) or highest range (whitefish) of growth rates, however, they had very different THg. Whilst both fish species inhabit the littoral niche, pike is a piscivore feeding on a higher trophic level fish, which had high THg due to biomagnification, while LSR whitefish is a generalist feeding mainly on benthic invertebrates with the lowest mean THg of all fish (Hayden et al. 2014a, Kozak et al. 2021, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021). The largest, fastest growing, and late maturing whitefish with low mercury content are usually found from shallow lakes with high abundance of zoobenthos, whereas whitefish populations in deeper subarctic lakes are often foraging zooplankton, grow slowly, mature early and contain higher amount of mercury (Hayden et al. 2013, Kahilainen et al. 2017, Ahonen et al. 2018). Pike is always piscivorous, but the mercury content is often low in shallow oligo- and mesotrophic lakes (Ahonen et al. 2018). Pike mercury content peaked in eutrophic lakes, perhaps mainly related to higher prey mercury content.

By contrast, smaller fish, i.e., ruffe, roach, and perch, had slow growth rates with relatively low deviations, where all three species showed great variability in THg between populations most likely due to different foraging guilds. Pelagic zooplankton often contain more mercury in

comparison to littoral zoobenthos (Back et al. 2003, Karimi et al. 2016, Kahilainen et al. 2017). Of these three smaller species, the lowest THg was found in ruffe, that is feeding mostly on chironomids and amphipods in subarctic lakes (Hayden et al. 2013, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021). Higher THg were found in omnivore roach and generalist perch (Hayden et al. 2017, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021). Perch shift to piscivory, and had higher THg compared to roach feeding on invertebrates and algae in these lakes (Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021). Whitefish and vendace growth depends greatly on intraspecific population density (Mayr 2001, Amundsen et al. 2002, Kahilainen et al. 2017, Marjomäki et al. 2021), which may explain growth rates deviations among populations.

4.3. P2-3: MGR decrease in habitats with beneficial conditions for growth

Previous studies showed that climate and productivity are important factors affecting mercury bioaccumulation in fish and biomagnification in food webs directly, as well as indirectly via environmental changes and food web structure (Ahonen et al. 2018, Kozak et al. 2021). Increased temperature enhances mercury methylation releasing more MeHg in catchments and lakes (Rydberg et al. 2010, Verta et al. 2010). Warmer climate and higher lake productivity increase food web biomass as well as food web complexity and may cause mercury biodilution (Hayden et al. 2017, Keva et al. 2021, Kozak et al. 2021). Intuitively, increased productivity and prey biomass should boost consumption rates and fish growth, while high temperature intensifies metabolic rate in some fish species (Weatherley 1976, Guderley 2004, Harvey 2009). However, the increase in prey biomass is not linear and likely reflects the increased amount of predation by increasing fish population density documented in this watercourse (Hayden et al. 2017, Keva et al. 2021; Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021). The overall response of fish communities to warming climate and increasing productivity is high density and biomass increase that elevate both intra- and interspecific competition (Hayden et al. 2017, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021).

Mesotrophic lakes with the most diverse habitat and prey diversity presented the best growing conditions for studied species. Such nonlinear patterns of mercury content and growth rates were observed, where maximum growth rate and minimum mercury were observed in mesotrophic lakes. Cool water adapted species perch and ruffe, showed a significant trend of MGR and climate-productivity gradient and these intermediate thermal
and productivity conditions are likely closest to their optimal. The lowest MGR in mesotrophic lakes was observed in conditions of high prey and habitat availability in relation to fish abundance and predation risk. Furthermore, benthic macroinvertebrates density and lake morphometry were selected as the most important factors, negatively affecting MGR. In other words, greater benthic prey density supports mercury growth dilution. In the studied locations, such abundant benthic prey conditions occur in mesotrophic lakes. Both fish abundance and prey density are highly correlated (Hayden et al. 2017, Sánchez-Hernández et al. 2021) and combined represent overall lake biomass (Lorenzen and Enberg 2002; Keva et al. 2021). This corresponds to conditions with significant growth dilution, as all fish species showed the best mercury growth dilution effect in intermediate climate-productivity conditions.

All species differ in size, habitat, foraging and thermal guild. Trophic level itself affects greatly THg due to biomagnification processes (Kozak et al. 2021). MGR model did not select species factor, most probably because both THg and growth rate are species-specific traits. This combination allowed to create universal metric for inter- and intraspecific comparisons. Mercury is mainly derived from the diet (Hall et al. 1997), and thus prey selection has the key importance both as mercury source content as well as energy source fuelling fish growth. Especially important is the growth conversion efficiency i.e. how much body mass can be attained per consumed prey mass (Hanson et al. 1997). For example, most pelagic planktivores must constantly swim in their foraging activities, which generally means a high metabolic cost compared to more stationary benthic species (Webb 1984, Trudel et al. 2001, Kahilainen et al. 2014). This often means lower growth rate and growth conversion efficiency in pelagic species, where large amount of prey derived energy is used for swimming metabolism and prey derived mercury is stored in predator muscle tissue. Both THg and growth rate are thus affected by a complex set of biotic and abiotic variables.

5. Conclusions

Growth rate was negatively related to THg in different fish species. Both growth rate and THg depend on fish size and age, but also on diverse biotic and environmental factors. Fast-growing populations showed significantly lower mercury content in four fish species. To better understand growth rate effect on THg, a novel metric of mercury growth ratio (MGR) was

established and showed different effects among fish populations and species. Perch and ruffe showed a significant trend of MGR, indicating the lowest values in intermediate climateproductivity conditions were represented mostly in mesotrophic lakes. Furthermore, general linear model included four factors explaining MGR. The model indicated MGR varies due to fish density, benthic prey availability, lake morphology, and maximum length. Overall, MGR includes three simple measurements of total length, age, and THg. This effective and simple calculation may contribute to more harmonized comparisons among populations, species, and regions.

Acknowledgements

We thank numerous people involved in field and laboratory analysis as well as Kilpisjärvi Biological Station, Muonio Fish Harbour and Nuottavaara Village Association for facilities. Funding was received from the Academy of Finland (projects 1140903, 1268566 to KKK), and Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences PhD scholarship for NK. All authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Ahonen S.A., Hayden B., Leppänen J.J., Kahilainen K.K., 2018. Climate and productivity affect total mercury concentration and bioaccumulation rate of fish along a spatial gradient of subarctic lakes. Sci. Total Environ. 637–638: 1586–1596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.436
- Amundsen P.A., Kristoffersen R., Knudsen R., Klemetsen A., 2002. Long-term effects of a stock depletion programme: The rise and fall of a rehabilitated whitefish population. Adv. Limnol. 57: 577–588.
- Anacleto P., Figueiredo C., Baptista M., Maulvault A.L., Camacho C., Pousão-Ferreira P., Valente L.M.P., Marques A., Rosa R., 2018. Fish energy budget under ocean warming and flame retardant exposure. Environ. Res. 164: 186–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2018.02.023
- Back R.C., Gorski P.R., Cleckner L.B., Hurley J.P., 2003. Mercury content and speciation in the plankton and benthos of Lake Superior. Sci. Total Environ. 304: 349–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(02)00580-6
- Bagenal T.B., Tesch F.W., 1978. Age and growth. In: Bagenal T (Ed.), Methods for assessment of fish production in fresh waters. Blackwell Sci. Publ., pp. 101–136.
- Barneche D.R., Allen A.P., 2018. The energetics of fish growth and how it constrains food-web trophic structure. Ecol. Lett. 21: 836–844. https://doi.org/10.1111/ELE.12947

- Beyers D.W., Rice J.A., Clements W.H., Henry C.J., 1999. Estimating physiological cost of chemical exposure: integrating energetics and stress to quantify toxic effects in fish. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 56: 814–822. https://doi.org/10.1139/F99-006
- Bloom N.S., 1992. On the chemical form of mercury in edible fish and marine invertebrate tissue. Can. J. Fish. Aqua. Sci. 49: 1010–1017. https://doi.org/10.1139/F92-113
- Bravo A.G., Bouchet S., Tolu J., Björn E., Mateos-Rivera A., Bertilsson S., 2017. Molecular composition of organic matter controls methylmercury formation in boreal lakes. Nat. Commun. 8: 14255. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14255
- Campbell L., Hecky R.E., Dixon D.G., Chapman L.J., 2006. Food web structure and mercury transfer in two contrasting Ugandan highland crater lakes (East Africa). Afr. J. Ecol. 44: 337–346. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2028.2006.00582.x
- Chang L.W., 1977. Neurotoxic effects of mercury—A review. Environ. Res. 14: 329–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-9351(77)90044-5
- Cizdziel J., Hinners T., Cross C., Pollard J., 2003. Distribution of mercury in the tissues of five species of freshwater fish from Lake Mead, USA. J. Environ. Monit. 5: 802-807. https://doi.org/10.1039/b307641p
- Craig J.F., 2008. A short review of pike ecology. Hydrobiol. 601: 5–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10750-007-9262-3
- Dang F., Wang W.X., 2012. Why mercury concentration increases with fish size? Biokinetic explanation. Environ. Pollut. 163: 192–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2011.12.026
- Dittman J.A., Driscoll C.T., 2009. Factors influencing changes in mercury concentrations in lake water and yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*) in Adirondack lakes. Biogeochem. 93: 179–196. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-009-9289-9
- Dumas A., France J., Bureau D., 2010. Modelling growth and body composition in fish nutrition: Where have we been and where are we going? Aquac. Res. 41: 161–181. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2109.2009.02323.X
- Eloranta A.P., Kahilainen K.K., Amundsen P.A., Knudsen R., Harrod C., Jones R.I., 2015. Lake size and fish diversity determine resource use and trophic position of a top predator in high-latitude lakes. Ecol. Evol. 5: 1664–1675. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1464
- Estlander S., Kahilainen K.K., Horppila J., Olin M., Rask M., Kubečka J., Peterka J., Říha M., Huuskonen H., Nurminen L., 2017. Latitudinal variation in sexual dimorphism in life-history traits of a freshwater fish. Ecol. Evol. 7: 665–673. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2658
- Evans M.S., Lockhart W.L., Doetzel L., Low G., Muir D., Kidd K., Stephens G., Delaronde J., 2005. Elevated mercury concentrations in fish in lakes in the Mackenzie River Basin: The role of physical, chemical, and biological factors. Sci. Total Environ. 351–352: 479–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2004.12.086
- Fee E.J., Hecky R.E., Kasian S.E.M., Cruikshank D.R., 1996. Effects of lake size, water clarity, and climatic variability on mixing depths in Canadian Shield lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 41: 912–920. https://doi.org/10.4319/LO.1996.41.5.0912

- Guderley H., 2004. Metabolic responses to low temperature in fish muscle. Biol. Rev. 79: 409–427. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1464793103006328
- Hall B.D., Bodaly R.A., Fudge R.J.P., Rudd J.W.M., Rosenberg D.M., 1997. Food as the dominant pathway of methylmercury uptake by fish. Water, Air, and Soil Pollut. 100: 13–24. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018071406537
- Hanson P.C., Johnson T.B., Schindler D.E., Kitchell J.F., 1997. Fish bioenergetics 3.0 software for Windows. University of Wisconsin, Sea Grant Institute, Madison, Wis.
- Harvey B., 2009. A Biological Synopsis of Northern Pike (*Esox lucius*). Can. Manusc. Rep. Fish.Aquat. Sci. 2885: v + 31p.
- Hayden B., Holopainen T., Amundsen P.A., Eloranta A.P., Knudsen R., Præbel K., Kahilainen K.K.,
 2013. Interactions between invading benthivorous fish and native whitefish in subarctic lakes.
 Freshw. Biol. 58: 1234–1250. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12123
- Hayden B., Harrod C., Kahilainen K.K., 2014a. Dual fuels: intra-annual variation in the relative importance of benthic and pelagic resources to maintenance, growth and reproduction in a generalist salmonid fish. J. Anim. Ecol. 83: 1501–1512. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12233
- Hayden B., Harrod C., Kahilainen K.K., 2014b. Lake morphometry and resource polymorphism determine niche segregation between cool-and cold-water-adapted fish. Ecol. 95: 538–552. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-0264.1
- Hayden B., Myllykangas J.P., Rolls R.J., Kahilainen K.K., 2017. Climate and productivity shape fish and invertebrate community structure in subarctic lakes. Freshw. Biol. 62: 990–1003. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12919
- Hayden B., Harrod C., Thomas S.M., Eloranta A.P., Myllykangas J.P., Siwertsson A., Præbel K.,
 Knudsen R., Amundsen P.A., Kahilainen K.K., 2019. From clear lakes to murky waters tracing the functional response of high-latitude lake communities to concurrent 'greening' and 'browning.' Ecol. Lett. 22: 807–816. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13238
- Härkönen L.H., Lepistö A., Sarkkola S., Kortelainen P., Räike A., 2023. Reviewing peatland forestry: Implications and mitigation measures for freshwater ecosystem browning. For. Ecol. Manag. 531: 120776. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2023.120776
- Headrick M.R., Carline R.F., 1993. Restricted summer habitat and growth of northern pike in two southern Ohio impoundments. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 122: 228–236. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1993)122<0228:RSHAGO>2.3.CO;2
- Heibo E., Magnhagen C., Vøllestad L.A., 2005. Latitudinal variation in life-history traits in Eurasian perch. Ecol. 86: 3377–3386. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-1620
- Helland I.P., Freyhof J., Kasprzak P., Mehner T., 2007. Temperature sensitivity of vertical distributions of zooplankton and planktivorous fish in a stratified lake. Oceol. 151: 322–330. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00442-006-0541-X/FIGURES/5
- Hudelson K.E., Muir D.C.G., Drevnick P.E., Köck G., Iqaluk D., Wang X., Kirk J.L., Barst B.D., Grgicak-Mannion A., Shearon R., Fisk A.T., 2019. Temporal trends, lake-to-lake variation, and climate effects on Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*) mercury concentrations from six High Arctic lakes in

Nunavut, Canada. Sci. Total Environ. 678: 801–812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.04.453

- Jensen H., Kahilainen K.K., Amundsen P.A., Gjelland K.Ø., Tuomaala A., Malinen T., Bøhn T., 2008. Predation by brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) along a diversifying prey community gradient. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.65: 1831–1841. https://doi.org/10.1139/F08-096
- Johansson F., Andersson J., 2009. Scared fish get lazy, and lazy fish get fat. J. Anim. Ecol.78: 772–777. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2656.2009.01530.X
- Johnston T.A., Lescord G.L., Quesnel M., Savage P.L., Gunn J.M., Kidd K.A., 2022. Age, body size, growth and dietary habits: What are the key factors driving individual variability in mercury of lacustrine fishes in northern temperate lakes? Environ. Res. 213: 113740. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2022.113740
- Jussila M., Liljaniemi P., Karvonen L., Johansson M., 2014. TRIWA III-Forestry Task ; Water protection in regeneration cutting and site preparation areas ; Guidelines and practices in the field. Cent. Econ. Dev., Transp., Environ. Lapland 72: 1–36.
- Kahilainen K.K., Patterson W.P., Sonninen E., Harrod C., Kiljunen M., 2014. Adaptive radiation along a thermal gradient: preliminary results of habitat use and respiration rate divergence among whitefish morphs. PLOS ONE 9: e112085. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0112085
- Kahilainen K.K., Thomas S.M., Nystedt E.K.M., Keva O., Malinen T., Hayden B., 2017.
 Ecomorphological divergence drives differential mercury bioaccumulation in polymorphic
 European whitefish (*Coregonus lavaretus*) populations of subarctic lakes. Sci. Total Environ.
 599–600: 1768–1778. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2017.05.099
- Kahilainen K.K., Thomas S.M., Harrod C., Hayden B., Eloranta A.P., 2019. Trophic ecology of piscivorous Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus* (L.)) in subarctic lakes with contrasting food-web structures. Hydrobiol. 840: 227–243. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-018-3845-z
- Karimi R., Chen C.Y., Pickhardt P.C., Fisher N.S., Folt C.L., 2007. Stoichiometric controls of mercury dilution by growth. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104: 7477–7482. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0611261104
- Karimi R., Chen C.Y., Folt C.L., 2016. Comparing nearshore benthic and pelagic prey as mercury sources to lake fish: the importance of prey quality and mercury content. Sci. Total Environ. 565: 211–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2016.04.162
- Kenkel N.C., Orloci L., 1986. Applying metric and nonmetric multidimensional scaling to ecological studies: Some New Results. Ecol. 67: 919–928. https://doi.org/10.2307/1939814
- Keva O., Hayden B., Harrod C., Kahilainen K.K., 2017. Total mercury concentrations in liver and muscle of European whitefish (*Coregonus lavaretus* (L.)) in a subarctic lake - Assessing the factors driving year-round variation. Environ. Pollut. 231: 1518–1528. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2017.09.012
- Keva O., Taipale S.J., Hayden B., Thomas S.M., Vesterinen J., Kankaala P., Kahilainen K.K., 2021. Increasing temperature and productivity change biomass, trophic pyramids and communitylevel omega-3 fatty acid content in subarctic lake food webs. Glob. Chang. Biol.27: 282–296. https://doi.org/10.1111/GCB.15387

- Klein Tank A.M.G., Wijngaard J.B., Können G.P., Böhm R., Demarée G., Gocheva A., Mileta M., Pashiardis S., Hejkrlik L., Kern-Hansen C., Heino R., Bessemoulin P., Müller-Westermeier G., Tzanakou M., Szalai S., Pálsdóttir T., Fitzgerald D., Rubin S., Capaldo M., Maugeri M., Leitass A., Bukantis A., Aberfeld R., van Engelen A.F., Forland E., Mietus M., Coelho F., Mares C., Razuvaev V., Nieplova E., Cegnar T., López A. J., Dahlström B., Moberg A., Kirchhofer W., Ceylan A., Pachaliuk O., von Alexander L., Petrovic P., 2002. Daily dataset of 20th-century surface air temperature and precipitation series for the European Climate Assessment. Int. J. Climatol. 22: 1441–1453. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.773
- Kozak N., Ahonen S.A., Keva O., Østbye K., Taipale S.J., Hayden B., Kahilainen K.K., 2021.
 Environmental and biological factors are joint drivers of mercury biomagnification in subarctic lake food webs along a climate and productivity gradient. Sci. Total Environ. 779: 146261. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.146261
- Kramer D.L., 1987. Dissolved oxygen and fish behavior. Environ. Biol. Fish. 18: 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00002597
- Lorenzen K., Enberg K., 2002. Density-dependent growth as a key mechanism in the regulation of fish populations: evidence from among-population comparisons. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B: Biol. Sci. 269: 49–54. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2001.1853
- Lucas M.C., Priede I.G., Armstrong J.D., Gindy A.N.Z., de Vera L., 1991. Direct measurements of metabolism, activity and feeding behaviour of pike, *Esox lucius* L., in the wild, by the use of heart rate telemetry. J. Fish. Biol. 39: 325–345. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1095-8649.1991.TB04366.X
- Marjomäki T.J., Valkeajärvi P., Karjalainen J., 2021. Lifting the vendace, *Coregonus albula*, on the life table: survival, growth and reproduction in different life-stages during very high and low abundance regimes. Ann. Zool. Fenn 58: 177–189. https://doi.org/10.5735/086.058.0406
- Mayr C., 2001. The influence of population density on growth of whitefish (*Coregonus lavaretus* L.) in four prealpine lakes. Limnol. 31: 53–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0075-9511(01)80049-9
- Moslemi-Aqdam M., Baker L.F., Baltzer J.L., Branfireun B.A., Evans M.S., Laird B.D., Low G., Low M., Swanson H.K., 2022. Understanding among-lake variability of mercury concentrations in Northern Pike (*Esox lucius*): A whole-ecosystem study in subarctic lakes. Sci. Total Environ. 822: 153430. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2022.153430
- Mozaffarian D., Rimm E.B., 2006. Fish intake, contaminants, and human health. JAMA 296: 1885. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.296.15.1885
- Ohlberger J., Mehner T., Staaks G., Hölker F., 2008. Temperature-related physiological adaptations promote ecological divergence in a sympatric species pair of temperate freshwater fish, *Coregonus* spp. Funct. Ecol. 22: 501–508. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2435.2008.01391.X
- Pierce R.B., Carlson A.J., Carlson B.M., Hudson D., Staples D.F., 2013. Depths and thermal habitat use by large versus small northern pike in three Minnesota lakes. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 142: 1629– 1639. https://doi.org/10.1080/00028487.2013.822422
- Porvari P., Verta M., 2003. Total and methyl mercury concentrations and fluxes from small boreal forest catchments in Finland. Environ. Pollut. 123: 181–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(02)00404-9

- R Core Team, 2021. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: https://www.r-project.org/. [14.03.2022]
- Roff D.A., 1983. An allocation model of growth and reproduction in fish. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 40: 1395–1404. https://doi.org/10.1139/F83-161
- Rolls R.J., Hayden B., Kahilainen K.K., 2017. Conceptualising the interactive effects of climate change and biological invasions on subarctic freshwater fish. Ecol. Evol. 7: 4109-4128. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2982
- Rydberg J., Klaminder J., Rosén P., Bindler R., 2010. Climate driven release of carbon and mercury from permafrost mires increases mercury loading to sub-arctic lakes. Sci. Total Environ. 408: 4778–4783. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2010.06.056
- Sánchez-Hernández J., Hayden B., Harrod C., Kahilainen K.K., 2021. Population niche breadth and individual trophic specialisation of fish along a climate-productivity gradient. Rev. Fish. Biol. Fish. 31: 1025–1043. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11160-021-09687-3
- Shved N., Baroiller J.F., Eppler E., 2009. Further insights into the insulin-like growth factor-I system of bony fish pituitary with special emphasis on reproductive phases and social status. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1163: 517–520. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1749-6632.2008.03632.X
- Simoneau M., Lucotte M., Garceau S., Laliberté D., 2005. Fish growth rates modulate mercury concentrations in walleye (*Sander vitreus*) from eastern Canadian lakes. Environ. Res. 98: 73– 82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2004.08.002
- Sonesten L., 2003a. Catchment area composition and water chemistry heavily affects mercury levels in perch (*Perca fluviatilis* L.) in circumneutral lakes. Water, Air, and Soil Pollut. 144: 117–139. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022974530406
- Sonesten L., 2003b. Fish mercury levels in lakes—adjusting for Hg and fish-size covariation. Environ. Pollut. 125: 255–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(03)00051-4
- Stafford C.P., Haines T.A., 2001. Mercury contamination and growth rate in two piscivore populations. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 20: 2099–2101. https://doi.org/10.1002/ETC.5620200933
- Thomas S.M., Harrod C., Hayden B., Malinen T., Kahilainen K.K. (2017) Ecological speciation in a generalist consumer expands the trophic niche of a dominant predator. Sci. Rep. 7: 8765. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-08263-9
- Thomas S.M., Kiljunen M., Malinen T., Eloranta A.P., Amundsen P.A., Lodenius M., Kahilainen K.K., 2016. Food-web structure and mercury dynamics in a large subarctic lake following multiple species introductions. Freshw. Biol. 61: 500–517. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12723
- Trudel M., Tremblay A., Schetagne R., Rasmussen J.B., 2001. Why are dwarf fish so small? An energetic analysis of polymorphism in lake whitefish (*Coregonus clupeaformis*). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 58: 394–405. https://doi.org/10.1139/F00-252
- Tunney T.D., McCann K.S., Lester N.P., Shuter B.J., 2014. Effects of differential habitat warming on complex communities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 111: 8077–8082. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1319618111
- Ukonmaanaho L., Starr M., Kantola M., Laurén A., Piispanen J., Pietilä H., Perämäki P., Merilä P., Fritze H., Tuomivirta T., Heikkinen J., Mäkinen J., Nieminen T.M., 2016. Impacts of forest

harvesting on mobilization of Hg and MeHg in drained peatland forests on black schist or felsic bedrock. Environ. Monit. Assess. 188: 228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-016-5210-x

- Ullrich S.M., Tanton T.W., Abdrashitova S.A., 2001. Mercury in the aquatic environment: A review of factors affecting methylation. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 31: 241–293. https://doi.org/10.1080/20016491089226
- Verta M., Salo S., Korhonen M., Porvari P., Paloheimo A., Munthe J., 2010. Climate induced thermocline change has an effect on the methyl mercury cycle in small boreal lakes. Sci. Total Environ. 408: 3639–3647. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2010.05.006
- Vesterinen J., Keva O., Kahilainen K.K., Strandberg U., Hiltunen M., Kankaala P., Taipale S.J., 2021. Nutritional quality of littoral macroinvertebrates and pelagic zooplankton in subarctic lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 66: S81–S97. https://doi.org/10.1002/LNO.11563
- von Bertalanffy L., 1938. A quantitative theory of organic growth. Hum. Biol. 10: 181-213.
- Wang R., Wang W.X., 2012. Contrasting mercury accumulation patterns in tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) and implications on somatic growth dilution. Aquat. Toxicol. 114–115: 23–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AQUATOX.2012.02.014
- Ward D.M., Nislow K.H., Chen C.Y., Folt C.L., 2010. Rapid, efficient growth reduces mercury concentrations in stream-dwelling Atlantic salmon. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 139: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1577/T09-032.1
- Watras C.J., Back R.C., Halvorsen S., Hudson R.J.M., Morrison K.A., Wente S.P., 1998. Bioaccumulation of mercury in pelagic freshwater food webs. Sci. Total Environ. 219: 183–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(98)00228-9
- Weatherley A.H., 1976.) Factors affecting maximization of fish growth. J. Fish. Board Can. 33: 1046–1058. https://doi.org/10.1139/F76-133
- Webb P.W., 1971. The swimming energetics of trout II. Oxygen consumption and swimming efficiency. J. Exp. Biol. 55: 521–540. https://doi.org/10.1242/JEB.55.2.521
- Webb P.W., 1984. Form and Function in Fish Swimming. Sci. Am. 251: 72–82.
- Weber G.M., Moore A.B., von Sullivan C., 2007. In vitro actions of insulin-like growth factor-I on ovarian follicle maturation in white perch (*Morone americana*). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 151: 180–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YGCEN.2007.01.007
- WHO, 2007. Preventing disease through healthy environments; exposure to mercury: a major public health concern. Geneva, Switzerland

Ţa	ble S1. Clii o) with inc	matic cor reasing F	ndition C1 val	is, lake ue and	physic corre	cal-chei spond (mistry, to the	, lake n numbe	norphoi srs in Fi _i	metry, g. 1. S(, and ca elected	itchmei enviro	nt area nment	types al varia	of the ables: a	studied Iltitude (lakes. L Alt), me	akes are ean air to	e numbei emperati	ed Jre
(T€	mp) and	precipita	tion (F	recip)	in op€	en-wat(er sea	nl) nos	ne–Sep	temb€	er 1981	-2010	values	derive	ed fron	ר weath	er stati	ons). Lal	ke physic	al-
Ċ	emical pro	perties a	om pu	rphom	etry: to	otal nit	rogen	(totN),	total pl	hosph	orus (to	otP), col	mpens	ation c	lepth (;	z.comp),	mean o	lepth (z.	mean), la	ake
07	ume (LV) ;	and area	(LA). C	atchm	ent cha	aracter	istics: i	forest k	oercent.	age (Fi	orest), i	tree vol	ume ir	forest	ed are	a (Tree),	sparse	vegetati	on (Sp.ve	:g),
cai	chment a	rea (CA),	peatla	and are	ea (PA)), ditch	length	n in cat	chmen	t area	(Ditch)	and ca	atchme	nt-lake	e area	ratio (CA	v:LA). TI	nese var	iables w	ere
8	npressed	with PC/	4 anal)	/sis an	d grou	iped rc	ylnghly	as foll	owing:	climat	te-prod	uctivity	r gradi	ent (P(C1), ca	tchment	proper	ties (PC	2) and la	ake
ŭ	rphometr	۲ (PC3), إ	please	see de	tailed l	PCA an	alysis (data in	Fig. 1.											
No	Lake	Alt	Temp	Precip	totN	totP	z.comp	z.mean	۲۸	ΓA	Forest	Tree	Sp.veg	CA	ΡA	Ditch	CA:LA	PC1	PC2	PC3
		(m a.s.l.)	(°C)	(mm)	(µg L ⁻¹)	(µg L ⁻¹)	(m)	(m)	(10 ⁶ m ³)	(km²)	(%)	(m³ ha ⁻¹)	(%)	(km²)	(km²)	(km km ⁻²)		(54.8%)	(16.8%)	(16.1%)
1	Kilpis	473	8.4	197	120	4	10.0	19.4	728.0	37.3	8.9	18.7	70.6	260.4	12.6	0.0	7.0	-4.25	-3.05	5.11
2	Siilas	484	8.4	197	159	S	15.0	5.2	4.9	1.0	5.6	1.0	84.4	54.2	2.8	0.0	54.2	-4.05	0.16	-0.95
e	Tsahkal	559	8.4	197	140	2	7.5	9.0	10.1	1.1	2.0	7.0	89.4	28.8	1.6	0.0	26.2	-3.86	0.37	-0.45
4	Kolta	490	8.4	197	97	ĸ	9.0	1.1	1.4	1.3	6.9	13.0	79.1	31.0	1.4	0.0	23.9	-3.38	0.77	-1.18
ß	Kuohkima	489	8.4	197	200	£	8.0	2.6	0.8	0.3	7.1	12.4	78.3	36.2	1.1	0.0	120.6	-3.17	0.04	-1.60
9	Oiko	448	8.7	218	215	7	5.0	3.1	3.7	1.2	19.9	20.2	62.0	21.2	2.3	0.0	17.7	-2.09	0.92	-0.72
7	Kivi	445	8.7	221	201	7	5.0	2.8	9.7	3.5	4.7	24.2	74.2	165.0	27.7	0.0	47.2	-2.09	-0.43	-1.10
80	Ropi	399	9.0	240	273	10	5.0	6.9	8.9	1.3	12.9	24.0	65.4	86.8	16.4	0.0	66.8	-1.58	-0.12	-0.63
6	Palo	346	9.4	224	470	21	3.0	0.8	3.0	3.5	31.5	23.3	31.4	134.4	45.3	0.0	38.4	-0.03	-0.20	-1.01
10	Vaggoval	331	9.8	236	590	12	4.0	0.5	0.8	1.8	36.0	32.6	0.3	6.0	3.1	0.0	3.4	0.29	1.53	-0.35
11	Akas	263	10.5	256	350	18	4.5	3.0	39.1	13.1	56.1	81.8	14.4	74.0	11.1	0.1	5.7	1.29	0.64	0.92
12	Jeris	258	10.5	256	550	25	3.5	3.4	80.8	23.5	56.0	76.1	9.5	98.9	10.7	0.2	4.2	1.68	0.37	1.77
13	Särki	261	10.5	256	520	25	1.5	5.1	26.0	5.0	58.2	74.8	9.3	14.7	0.9	0.4	2.9	1.75	1.28	0.77
14	Toras	247	10.4	256	600	18	3.5	3.0	14.7	4.9	62.3	80.6	9.2	215.3	25.8	0.1	44.0	1.98	-0.16	0.04
15	Särkilompolo	255	10.5	256	420	36	2.5	3.7	4.7	1.3	69.0	74.2	8.4	36.9	2.8	0.2	28.4	2.02	1.16	0.25
16	Aalis	177	11.4	257	830	45	1.5	3.2	19.3	6.0	62.3	71.1	16.1	72.3	9.9	5.4	12.0	3.67	0.70	0.61
17	Rattos	118	11.6	257	520	47	1.5	2.1	8.6	4.1	73.0	78.6	13.6	58.1	2.7	4.7	14.2	3.72	0.94	0.46
18	Vaatto	156	11.2	257	470	30	1.5	1.8	4.2	2.3	65.0	70.5	13.5	638.0	113.3	4.8	277.4	4.01	-5.44	-2.51
19	Pasma	164	11.3	257	1100	48	1.5	1.6	13.0	8.4	65.0	71.5	16.1	134.6	15.2	4.6	16.0	4.09	0.53	0.58

SUPPLEMENT

Table S2. Average mercury growth ratio (MGR) values for each fish population with population (size [n], age [t (years)] and asymptotic length [L_{∞} (cm)] from von Bertalanffy growth model, relative total fish abundance [CPUE_{TOT} (individuals h⁻¹ gill net series⁻¹)], pelagic zooplankton and littoral benthic macroinvertebrates density [ρ_{zpl} (n L⁻¹) and ρ_{BMl} (n m²), respectively], predation risk [PR] i.e. proportion of piscivorous fish from total catch, and number of fish species [n_{sp}]), and environmental characteristics from principal component analysis (climate–productivity gradient [PC1], catchment properties [PC2] and lake morphometrics [PC3]).

No	species	Lake	n	t	MGR	L∞	CPUE _{TOT}	ρ _{zpl}	<i>ρ_{вмі}</i>	PR	n _{sp}	PC1	PC2	PC3
1	ruffe	Oiko	24	5.3	180	9.93	9.28	1.42	2558	0.02	13	-2.09	0.92	-0.72
2	ruffe	Palo	54	3.2	92	16.91	5.57	3.13	6139	0.16	12	-0.03	-0.20	-1.01
3	ruffe	Vaggoval	36	4.1	265	26.81	7.16	0.12	5520	0.07	8	0.29	1.53	-0.35
4	ruffe	Äkäs	33	4.0	47	11.2	27.28	0.4	5551	0.02	12	1.29	0.64	0.92
5	ruffe	Jeris	34	4.4	73	13.28	24.18	0.93	3698	0.02	9	1.68	0.37	1.77
6	ruffe	Särki	34	3.3	29	15.4	21.52	0.46	7096	0.01	9	1.75	1.28	0.77
7	ruffe	Toras	42	4.2	144	16.85	22.44	0.53	10715	0.02	14	1.98	-0.16	0.04
8	ruffe	Särkilompolo	21	4.1	12	9.98	13.37	1.64	5434	0.01	12	2.02	1.16	0.25
9	ruffe	Aalis	46	4.5	536	12.14	29.94	1.97	2726	0.01	14	3.67	0.7	0.61
10	ruffe	Rattos	37	4.5	607	17.88	89.92	4.36	4393	0	12	3.72	0.94	0.46
11	ruffe	Vaatto	28	4.5	530	16.19	150.5	3	3811	0.02	11	4.01	-5.44	-2.51
12	ruffe	Pasma	43	4.4	262	9.88	112.42	3.47	4509	0	11	4.09	0.53	0.58
13	vendace	Palo	22	3.6	35	18.49	5.57	3.13	6139	0.16	12	-0.03	-0.20	-1.01
14	vendace	Äkäs	47	5.3	160	13.54	27.28	0.4	5551	0.02	12	1.29	0.64	0.92
15	vendace	Jeris	49	4.5	97	19.31	24.18	0.93	3698	0.02	9	1.68	0.37	1.77
16	vendace	Särki	43	5.0	48	20.68	21.52	0.46	7096	0.01	9	1.75	1.28	0.77
17	vendace	Toras	46	3.7	97	26.38	22.44	0.53	10715	0.02	14	1.98	-0.16	0.04
18	vendace	Särkilompolo	42	5.2	411	14.53	13.37	1.64	5434	0.01	12	2.02	1.16	0.25
19	vendace	Aalis	50	3.8	268	12.94	29.94	1.97	2726	0.01	14	3.67	0.7	0.61
20	vendace	Rattos	32	4.3	317	13.6	89.92	4.36	4393	0	12	3.72	0.94	0.46
21	vendace	Vaatto	13	3.3	71	NA	150.5	3	3811	0.02	11	4.01	-5.44	-2.51
22	vendace	Pasma	31	4.4	44	19.9	112.42	3.47	4509	0	11	4.09	0.53	0.58
23	roach	Äkäs	15	5.0	52	21.03	27.28	0.4	5551	0.02	12	1.29	0.64	0.92
24	roach	Toras	15	5.0	64	24.26	22.44	0.53	10715	0.02	14	1.98	-0.16	0.04
25	roach	Aalis	32	5.5	228	26.54	29.94	1.97	2726	0.01	14	3.67	0.7	0.61
26	roach	Rattos	20	4.3	320	25.21	89.92	4.36	4393	0	12	3.72	0.94	0.46
27	roach	Vaatto	25	4.2	601	29.86	150.5	3	3811	0.02	11	4.01	-5.44	-2.51
28	roach	Pasma	25	3.5	368	30.93	112.42	3.47	4509	0	11	4.09	0.53	0.58
29	perch	Kivi	8	5.3	167	41.19	17.37	0.32	3238	0.14	12	-2.09	-0.43	-1.10
30	perch	Palo	24	4.6	67	47.68	5.57	3.13	6139	0.16	12	-0.03	-0.20	-1.01
31	perch	Vaggoval	44	4.2	78	40.68	7.16	0.12	5520	0.07	8	0.29	1.53	-0.35
32	perch	Äkäs	46	4.2	82	27.58	27.28	0.4	5551	0.02	12	1.29	0.64	0.92
33	perch	Jeris	41	3.7	105	31.7	24.18	0.93	3698	0.02	9	1.68	0.37	1.77
34	perch	Särki	24	3.7	143	21.53	21.52	0.46	7096	0.01	9	1.75	1.28	0.77
35	perch	Toras	44	4.3	111	27.15	22.44	0.53	10715	0.02	14	1.98	-0.16	0.04
36	perch	Särkilompolo	23	4.0	211	27.03	13.37	1.64	5434	0.01	12	2.02	1.16	0.25
37	perch	Aalis	25	4.4	444	46.56	29.94	1.97	2726	0.01	14	3.67	0.7	0.61
38	perch	Rattos	32	4.9	452	29.47	89.92	4.36	4393	0	12	3.72	0.94	0.46
39	perch	Vaatto	29	4.4	503	31.99	150.5	3	3811	0.02	11	4.01	-5.44	-2.51

40	perch	Pasma	24	4.4	442	33.73	112.42	3.47	4509	0	11	4.09	0.53	0.58
41	whitefish	Kilpis	11	3.4	210	37.55	1.74	1.38	2018	0.09	15	-4.25	-3.05	5.11
42	whitefish	Siilas	26	4.2	42	39.2	1.43	0.37	3876	0.04	11	-4.05	0.16	-0.95
43	whitefish	Tsahkal	9	4.7	769	42.64	5.04	0.64	2895	0.1	7	-3.86	0.37	-0.45
44	whitefish	Kolta	36	3.1	32	57.08	1.92	2.23	4888	0.12	5	-3.38	0.77	-1.18
45	whitefish	Kuohkima	11	4.3	124	42.16	4.59	4.67	1171	0.06	10	-3.17	0.04	-1.60
46	whitefish	Oiko	22	4.8	670	29.76	9.28	1.42	2558	0.02	13	-2.09	0.92	-0.72
47	whitefish	Kivi	24	4.0	316	30.22	17.37	0.32	3238	0.14	12	-2.09	-0.43	-1.10
48	whitefish	Ropi	23	4.6	88	27.38	9.79	0.29	1987	0.03	16	-1.58	-0.12	-0.63
49	whitefish	Palo	22	4.1	10	53.81	5.57	3.13	6139	0.16	12	-0.03	-0.20	-1.01
50	whitefish	Vaggoval	19	3.5	21	42.16	7.16	0.12	5520	0.07	8	0.29	1.53	-0.35
51	whitefish	Äkäs	9	4.9	53	28.37	27.28	0.4	5551	0.02	12	1.29	0.64	0.92
52	whitefish	Jeris	38	4.0	40	33.88	24.18	0.93	3698	0.02	9	1.68	0.37	1.77
53	whitefish	Särki	23	4.4	225	NA	21.52	0.46	7096	0.01	9	1.75	1.28	0.77
54	whitefish	Toras	24	4.2	54	34.39	22.44	0.53	10715	0.02	14	1.98	-0.16	0.04
55	whitefish	Särkilompolo	57	4.8	60	42.86	13.37	1.64	5434	0.01	12	2.02	1.16	0.25
56	whitefish	Vaatto	11	4.4	335	28.58	150.5	3	3811	0.02	11	4.01	-5.44	-2.51
57	whitefish	Pasma	27	4.6	62	32.02	112.42	3.47	4509	0	11	4.09	0.53	0.58
58	pike	Kilpis	6	5.0	46	93.69	1.74	1.38	2018	0.09	15	-4.25	-3.05	5.11
59	pike	Kolta	11	4.5	280	77.75	1.92	2.23	4888	0.12	5	-3.38	0.77	-1.18
60	pike	Kuohkima	9	4.4	398	81.41	4.59	4.67	1171	0.06	10	-3.17	0.04	-1.60
61	pike	Oiko	10	4.6	142	74.19	9.28	1.42	2558	0.02	13	-2.09	0.92	-0.72
62	pike	Kivi	6	4.7	109	65.36	17.37	0.32	3238	0.14	12	-2.09	-0.43	-1.10
63	pike	Ropi	19	4.3	86	58.37	9.79	0.29	1987	0.03	16	-1.58	-0.12	-0.63
64	pike	Palo	6	4.5	31	92.49	5.57	3.13	6139	0.16	12	-0.03	-0.20	-1.01
65	pike	Vaggoval	21	4.8	184	51.82	7.16	0.12	5520	0.07	8	0.29	1.53	-0.35
66	pike	Äkäs	5	5.2	95	NA	27.28	0.4	5551	0.02	12	1.29	0.64	0.92
67	pike	Särkilompolo	10	4.8	265	103.13	13.37	1.64	5434	0.01	12	2.02	1.16	0.25
68	pike	Aalis	23	5.5	79	113.37	29.94	1.97	2726	0.01	14	3.67	0.7	0.61
69	pike	Rattos	13	5.2	160	91.16	89.92	4.36	4393	0	12	3.72	0.94	0.46
70	pike	Vaatto	7	4.4	418	118.06	150.5	3	3811	0.02	11	4.01	-5.44	-2.51

Table S3. Statistics of individual variables of the selected final (4-component), nested (3component), and full (10-component) models of MGR build with generalized linear multiple (GLM) regression analysis based on minimum AIC (Akaike Information Criterion) values (see details Table 2). GLM statistics for each model are presented in the first column. Mean \pm SD value is a slope with standard error. Each variable had t-value, p-value with significance indicators [0 (***) 0.001 (**) 0.01 (*) 0.05 (.) 0.1 () 1], and adjusted coefficient of determination increase with each added variable to the model (Adj. R²). Final model description is bolded. Variables: climate-productivity and land-use gradient (PC1), catchment properties (PC2), lake morphometrics (PC3), species factor (SP), number of fish species in a lake (n_{sp}), asymptotic length (L $_{\infty}$), relative fish abundance (CPUE_{TOT}), pelagic zooplankton density (ρ_{ZPL}), littoral benthic macroinvertebrate density (ρ_{BMI}) and predation risk (PR).

model statistics	Variable	mean	SD	t-value	p-value		Adj. R ²	VIF
best fitted final model:	MGR ~ ρ _{<i>вмі</i>} + C	PUE _{tot} + P	C3 + L∞					
4-component	(Intercept)	191.1	41.4	4.62	< 0.001	***		
r ² = 0.30	CPUE _{TOT}	1.5	0.4	3.43	0.001	**	0.16	1.1
RSE = 155.1	Рвмі	-61.8	19.7	-3.15	0.003	* *	0.23	1.1
F4,62 = 8.14	PC3	-25.4	14.4	-1.77	0.082		0.24	1.1
p < 0.001	L∞	-0.8	0.8	-1.09	0.282		0.30	1.1
AIC = 872.81								
nested model:	MGR ~ ρ_{BMI} + CF	PUE ₇₀₇ + L₀	ø					
3-component	(Intercept)	173.8	40.9	4.25	< 0.001	***		
r ² = 0.28	CPUE _{TOT}	1.7	0.4	4.02	< 0.001	***	0.16	1.0
RSE = 157.7	Рвмі	-59.2	19.9	-2.97	0.004	* *	0.23	1.1
F3,63 = 9.49	L∞	-0.6	0.8	-0.81	0.423		0.28	1.1
p < 0.001								
AIC = 874.11								
full model:	MGR ~ CPUE _{TOT}	$+ \rho_{BMI} + L_{\circ}$	∞ + PC3 ·	+ SP + PR -	+ PC1 + ρ _{ZP}	L + PC2	2 + n _{sp}	
10-component	(Intercept)	160.6	176.0	0.91	0.366			
r ² = 0.21	Рвмі	-55.5	24.8	-2.24	0.029	*	0.10	1.2
RSE = 164.7	PC3	-29.0	17.0	-1.71	0.094		0.15	1.2
F14,52 = 2.27	SP: perch	80.8	69.3	1.17	0.249		0.15	1.3
p = 0.017	PR	-720.9	639.5	-1.13	0.265		0.19	1.6
AIC = 889.11	CPUE _{TOT}	1.1	1.3	0.89	0.380		0.21	2.8
	SP: ruffe	73.8	86.6	0.85	0.398		0.21	1.3
	SP: roach	73.7	91.3	0.81	0.423		0.21	1.3
	PC1	-12.4	17.7	-0.70	0.486		0.21	2.2
	ρ _{ZPL}	14.7	21.4	0.69	0.496		0.20	1.5
	SP: vendace	37.7	90.4	0.42	0.678		0.20	1.3
	PC2	-5.8	20.3	-0.29	0.775		0.19	1.8
	SP: pike	-25.6	119.1	-0.22	0.830		0.19	1.3
	n _{sp}	-0.8	10.5	-0.08	0.936		0.17	1.2
	L∞	0.1	2.2	0.07	0.948		0.21	2.8



Fig. S1. Regression plots of weight corrected THg (*In*THg [ng g⁻¹ DW]) (black points, left axis) and growth rate (*In*GR [cm year⁻¹]) (blue points, right axis) along climate–productivity gradient (PC1) in six fish species (a-f). Polynomial regression models (solid lines) with 95% confidence intervals (polygons) were drawn only for statistically significant regressions (p < 0.05). Regression significance code is expressed in brackets above plots, where p–value ranges between 0 (***) 0.001 (**) 0.01 (*) 0.05 (.) 0.1 () 1 followed by coefficient of determination (R²). Statistics text color corresponds to appropriate variable, black for THg along PC1 and blue to GR along PC1.



Fig. S2. Regression plot of weight corrected THg (*In*THg [ng g⁻¹ DW]) (black points, left axis) and growth rate (*In*GR [cm year⁻¹]) (blue points, right axis) along climate–productivity gradient (PC1) in six fish species combined. Polynomial regression models (solid lines) with 95% confidence intervals (polygons) were drawn only for statistically significant regressions (p < 0.05). Regression significance code is expressed in brackets above plots, where p–value ranges between 0 (***) 0.001 (**) 0.01 (*) 0.05 (.) 0.1 () 1 followed by coefficient of determination (R²). Statistics text color corresponds to appropriate variable, black for THg along PC1 and blue to GR along PC1.



Fig. S3. Cumulative regression plot of MGR along climate-productivity gradient (PC1). Polynomial regression model (solid line) with confidence intervals (dashed lines) were drawn for all six fish species. Regression significance code is expressed in brackets above, where p-value ranges between 0 (***) 0.001 (**) 0.01 (*) 0.05 (.) 0.1 () 1 followed by coefficient of determination (R^2).

Paper III

Science of the Total Environment 779 (2021) 146261



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Science of the Total Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Environmental and biological factors are joint drivers of mercury biomagnification in subarctic lake food webs along a climate and productivity gradient

Natalia Kozak ^{a,*}, Salla A. Ahonen ^b, Ossi Keva ^b, Kjartan Østbye ^{a,c}, Sami J. Taipale ^b, Brian Hayden ^d, Kimmo K. Kahilainen ^{e,f}

^a Department of Forestry and Wildlife Management, Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Campus Evenstad, Anne Evenstad veg 80, 2480 Koppang, Norway

^b Department of Biological and Environmental Science, University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland

^c Centre for Ecological and Evolutionary Synthesis (CEES), Department of Biosciences, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

^d Biology Department, Canadian Rivers Institute, University of New Brunswick, Fredericton, NB E3B 5A3, Canada

^e Lammi Biological Station, University of Helsinki, Pääjärventie 320, 16900 Lammi, Finland

^f Kilpisjärvi Biological Station, University of Helsinki, Käsivarrentie 14622, 99490 Kilpisjärvi, Finland

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT



- Iropic magnification slope (IMS) of IHg was negatively related to food chain length.
- TMS and THg baseline were related to food chain length, environment, and predators.
- Forestry related eutrophication elevated THg baseline and lowered TMS.
- THg content of the top predator (northern pike) increased with lake productivity.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 December 2020 Received in revised form 25 February 2021 Accepted 28 February 2021 Available online 9 March 2021

Editor: Mae Sexauer Gustin

Keywords: Climate change Fish Food chain length Invertebrates Land-use Stable isotopes



ABSTRACT

Subarctic lakes are getting warmer and more productive due to the joint effects of climate change and intensive land-use practices (e.g. forest clear-cutting and peatland ditching), processes that potentially increase leaching of peat- and soil-stored mercury into lake ecosystems. We sampled biotic communities from primary producers (algae) to top consumers (piscivorous fish), in 19 subarctic lakes situated on a latitudinal (69.0–66.5° N), climatic (+3.2°C temperature and +30% precipitation from north to south) and catchment land-use (pristine to intensive forestry areas) gradient. We first tested how the joint effects of climate and productivity influence mercury biomagnification in food webs focusing on the trophic magnification slope (TMS) and mercury baseline (THg baseline) level, both derived from linear regression between total mercury ($lo_{10}THg$) and organism trophic level (TL). We examined a suite of environmental and biotic variables thought to explain THg baseline and TMS with stepwise generalized multiple regression models. Finally, we assessed how climate and lake productivity affect the THg content of top predators in subarctic lakes. We found biomagnification of mercury in all studied lakes, but with variable TMS and THg baseline values. In stepwise multiple regression models, TMS was best explained by negative relationships with food chain length, climate-productivity gradient, catchment properties, and elemental C:N ratio of the top predator (full model R² = 0.90, *p* < 0.001). The model examining variation in THg baseline values included the same variables with positive relationships (R² = 0.69, *p* = 0.014). Mass-

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: natalia.kozak@inn.no (N. Kozak).



0048-9697/© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

standardized THg content of a common top predator (1 kg northern pike, *Esox lucius*) increased towards warmer and more productive lakes. Results indicate that increasing eutrophication via forestry-related land-use activities increase the THg levels at the base of the food web and in top predators, suggesting that the sources of nutrients and mercury should be considered in future bioaccumulation and biomagnification studies.

© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

1. Introduction

Mercury (Hg) is a toxic metal monitored worldwide due to the fact it bioaccumulates in organisms and biomagnifies in food webs. Mercury occurs naturally in the environment in low concentrations, however, increased concentrations of environmental mercury since the Industrial Revolution has negatively impacted wildlife and human health (Streets et al., 2011). Most anthropogenic emissions consist of elemental mercury, which can be transported long distances and deposited even in the most sparsely populated Arctic regions (Pacyna et al., 2010).

While Arctic regions are typically considered the least impacted by pollution, many regions have relatively high concentrations of mercury in the environment and biota (Macdonald et al., 2005; Schindler and Smol, 2006; AMAP, 2011; Obrist et al., 2017). The majority of this mercury is transported via long-distance air masses from industrial and populated areas, condensed and deposited (by both wet and dry deposition) in cold Arctic regions in ice, snow, soil and water (Barrie et al., 1992; Pacyna et al., 2010; Streets et al., 2011; Amos et al., 2013). Mercury leaching to lakes is continuously observed to occur during spring thawing of snow and ice (Douglas and Blum, 2019), but far less is known on how land-use activities may contribute to the mercury leaching.

Arctic areas are warming faster than the global average (IPCC, 2014), with annual air temperature and precipitation predicted to rise by 3-8 °C and 30-60% respectively by the end of this century (IPCC, 2014). In response to this, faster thawing of ice and snow has been detected in Arctic areas (Sharma et al., 2016). These changes in the environment are causing mercury storage in permafrost and frozen grounds to leach into lakes in spring and summer (Schuster et al., 2018). Early ice melt in spring exposes lakes to solar radiation enhancing productivity, while snowmelt and ground thawing elongate the growing season resulting in increased length of the growing season and support overall vegetation growth and a northward extension of the tree-line in subarctic regions (Serreze et al., 2000; AMAP, 2011; Stern et al., 2012). In addition, intensifying anthropogenic activities such as deforestation, ditching of peatlands, oil drilling, road construction and mining all increase leaching of mercury from the terrestrial to aquatic systems (Schindler and Smol, 2006; Huntington et al., 2007; Jussila et al., 2014; Cott et al., 2015). In combination, the joint effects of warming, increased intensity of precipitation events and land-use activities increase the flux of mercury to lakes from the surrounding environment (Schroeder and Munthe, 1998; Sanei et al., 2010; Hudelson et al., 2019). These processes expose soil, increasing the runoff of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus, with dissolved organic carbon (DOC) acting as a carrier of mercury from the catchment to the aquatic environment (Watras et al., 1998; Kolka et al., 1999; Poste et al., 2019).

Once deposited in anoxic conditions, such as peatland or lake sediments, Hg can be methylated to organic methylmercury (MeHg) via bacterial activity (Ullrich et al., 2001; Bravo et al., 2017). Methylmercury is the most toxic form of Hg, it bioaccumulates in organisms and biomagnifies in food webs (Watras and Bloom, 1992; Watras et al., 1998). Primary producers including both pelagic phytoplankton and benthic periphyton uptake different forms of mercury from lake water via active and passive processes (e.g. Morel et al., 1998; Douglas et al., 2012). Therefore, the baseline level of THg (i.e. the amount of THg observed in primary producers, hereafter THg baseline) is determined by the THg level in the waterbody, to which primary producers are exposed (van der Velden et al., 2013). From primary producers onwards Hg is transported through the food web is via dietary sources (Hall et al., 1997). The proportion of MeHg increases from primary producers (c. 15% of THg) to primary consumers (c. 30%), and finally to adult fish muscle, where most of THg (>90%) is composed of MeHg (Watras and Bloom, 1992; Watras et al., 1998; Lescord et al., 2018). The rate of mercury transfer in food webs can be described with trophic magnification slope (TMS), i.e. a linear regression between log₁₀THg and trophic level (TL) of organisms (Borgå et al., 2012; Lavoie et al., 2013). High TMS indicates great magnification, while low TMS designate poor magnification within the food web.

The trophic magnification slope can be affected by various environmental and biotic factors (Lavoie et al., 2013; Clayden et al., 2013; Lescord et al., 2015), but there is a general need for detailed studies along many environmental gradients to understand the role of different drivers. Lavoie et al. (2013) conducted a global study of mercury biomagnification in aquatic food webs and found TMS increasing towards higher latitudes, but no significant relationship with total phosphorus. However, other studies have reported that climatic conditions and nutrients may show positive, negative or no relationships with TMS (Gantner et al., 2010; Kidd et al., 2012; Clayden et al., 2013; Sumner et al., 2019). These contrasting results from large and smaller spatial scales suggest that the mechanisms affecting mercury biomagnification in freshwater food webs are complex and likely driven by multiple factors including both within lake and catchment processes. Here, lake size, depth and catchment to lake size ratio are likely important, as they may affect pelagic and benthic energy and Hg pathways as well as residence time and flux of Hg runoff (Lee and Iverfeldt, 1991; Hammerschmidt et al., 2006; Gantner et al., 2010; Kidd et al., 2012; Thomas et al., 2016). Land cover type (i.e. peatland, forest, barren), prevailing Hg deposition rate and the degree of methylation processing in soils, in addition to land-use activities, change the structure of soils exposing historical Hg from deeper layers to water and air interactions (Schindler and Smol, 2006; Jussila et al., 2014; Cott et al., 2015; Ahonen et al., 2018). Furthermore, the joint effects of latitude, lake size and productivity are connected to species richness and food chain length, which may affect THg biomagnification rate e.g. via a varying number of trophic links, trophic levels and energy pathways (Post et al., 2000; Hillebrand, 2004; Takimoto and Post, 2013). Long-lived predatory fish accumulate THg over time, their presence may steepen THg biomagnification slope of a whole food web (Gantner et al., 2010; Ahonen et al., 2018).

We used detailed spatial, environmental and biotic data to test the potential changes in the THg baseline levels and TMS in a subarctic watercourse spanning a pronounced climatic $(+3.2 \,^{\circ}C$ temperature and +30% precipitation) and productivity $(+45 \,\mu\text{g L}^{-1} \text{ of total phosphorus [TP]})$ gradient. The climatic gradient is primarily determined by latitude and elevation, whereas productivity is primarily related to land-use change, ranging from pristine headwater lakes to intensive forestry managed catchments in southern reaches (Hayden et al., 2017; Ahonen et al., 2018). Tributary lakes of this watercourse include oligotrophic, mesotrophic to eutrophic lakes with biotic communities ranging from cold to warm water adapted taxa (Hayden et al., 2017). This subarctic watercourse represents an excellent environment to study joint effects of climate and productivity on THg baseline and TMS in a food web. We tested three main predictions: With the ongoing climate change and intensification of land-use activities, the mercury cycle is

expected to change due to intensified mercury run off from soil and biomagnify in food web. Thus, we first predicted P1) that increased temperature and productivity would elevate the THg baseline via increasing forestry-related leaching of mercury and decrease TMS due to the increasing complexity of the food web (Hayden et al., 2019; Keva et al., 2021). Secondly, we predicted (P2) that "best fit" regression models of THg baseline and TMS would include temperature and productivity as well as food chain length and number of fish species in each lake. Finally, we predicted (P3) that, leaching of mercury with intensified forestryrelated land-use would result in an increase of THg concentrations in top predators.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Study area and sampling

We sampled the food webs of nineteen tributary lakes in the subarctic Tornio-Muoniojoki watercourse located on a latitudinal climateproductivity gradient from 69.0°N to 66.5°N on the Swedish-Finnish border region in August–September 2009–2013 (Fig. 1). All study lakes are situated north of the Arctic circle and considered subarctic in the current study (AMAP, 1998). The studied lakes are numbered according to climate-productivity gradient (roughly following latitudinal north-south direction), where the northernmost, oligotrophic lakes (TP: $\leq 10 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$) are located in the mountain birch forest area with low anthropogenic activity and limited land-use focusing mainly on reindeer herding and nature tourism. Mesotrophic lakes (TP: 10–30 $\mu g \ L^{-1}$) are located in the increasingly forested area mostly below the northernmost distribution lines of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) and Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) facing an increased human activity, including forestry (Table S1). Southernmost lakes are turbid, eutrophic systems (TP: \geq 30 µg L⁻¹) with high nutrient content, densest human populations and intensive land-use activity focusing on commercial forestry and related activities (clear-cutting, site preparation, peatland ditching and dense forest road network) (Jussila et al., 2014; Hayden et al., 2019). Ditching of peatland for forestry activities has been very intense in the southern range of the study region, where circa 50–100 cm deep ditches are dug with caterpillars and excavators leading to very high ditch density in the drainage area network (e.g. Nieminen et al., 2018). Such activities are the main sources of nutrients and carbon (e.g. Finér et al., 2021) as there are very few agricultural areas or sewage water leaching to lakes in the study area. Permafrost is absent from the catchment areas of all study lakes.

Fish were collected with series of eight gillnets of 30×1.8 m size and varying knot-to-knot mesh sizes (12, 15, 20, 25, 30, 35, 45 and 60 mm) and one Nordic multi-mesh gillnet of 30×1.5 m size (mesh sizes: 5–55 mm) with 12 equidistant panels of 2.5 m (Hayden et al., 2017). Due to the low density and gill net susceptibility of some predator fish species such as pike (*Esox lucius*) and burbot (*Lota lota*), these samples were supplemented by angling. Nets were set overnight (10–12 h) in each habitat (pelagic, littoral and profundal) of each lake, with a minimum of three nets per habitat in each lake. Sampling proceeded through 3–5 consecutive nights to get representative samples of the fish community. Fish were removed from nets, euthanized with a cerebral concussion and stored in ice for transport to the laboratory.

Biofilm was collected from littoral rocks and plants by scraping the green surface. Pelagic algae samples were restricted to the sampling of blue-green algal blooms in some of the lakes with a 50 µm mesh net using horizontal hauls. Due to sampling difficulties caused by weather conditions and late growing season, algae were collected only in nine



Fig. 1. Northern Fennoscandia indicating (a) the location of Tornio-Muonio watercourse on the border of Sweden and Finland (b). Studied tributary lakes are numbered (1–19) corresponding to lake numbers in Table 1. Constant lines indicate the occurrence of coniferous tree lines, asterisks indicate meteorological stations with values of mean temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm) of open water season (June–September) in 1981–2010 and arrows indicate flowing direction of the watercourse (modified from Hayden et al., 2017). Symbol legend in the lower right corner indicates lake trophic state.

out of nineteen lakes (Table S2). For lakes with missing data, average values of carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes and THg were calculated from the nearest similar lake i.e. for the oligotrophic lakes above Scots pine distribution line (lakes no 1-8), mesotrophic lakes below Scots pine distribution line (9–14) and eutrophic lakes near the Arctic circle (15–19) (Table S2, Table S4). Pelagic zooplankton were collected with a 50 µm mesh net using vertical hauls (max 0-20 m) from the deepest sampling point in each lake (Hayden et al., 2019). Benthic macroinvertebrates were collected from the lake shoreline (depth 0-0.5 m) using handpicking from stones and vegetation and kick-net sampling (500 µm mesh). In addition, we collected a benthic soft-sediment transect from littoral to deepest part of each lake (depths from 1, 2, 3, 5, 10, 15, 20, 30 and 40 m, if maximum depth allows) with Ekman grab (surface area 272 cm^2) by using three replicates in each depth (Hayden et al., 2017). Samples were stored separately in clean 2 ml polypropylene tubes and transported to the laboratory for identification and sorting.

2.2. Environmental variables

The climate measurements (mean air temperature [°C] and precipitation [mm]) in open-water season (June-September) were obtained from long-term archives (1981-2010) of the Finnish Meteorological Institute and Klein Tank et al. (2002) (total of six meteorological stations in the study area Fig. 1). Lake habitat characteristics (compensation depth [m], mean depth [m], lake volume [m³] and area [m²]), altitude [m a.s.l.], total nitrogen [μ g L⁻¹], and total phosphorus [μ g L⁻¹]) were measured on-site and catchment properties (forest percentage [%], tree volume in a forested area [m³ ha⁻¹], sparse vegetation [%], catchment area [km²], peatland area [km²], and ditch in catchment area [km km⁻²]) and catchment-lake area ratio were obtained from own sampling (lake morphology), Lapland Centre for Economic Development, Transport and Environment (nutrients), Finnish Environment Institute (catchment land-use) and Land Survey of Finland (lake altitude) (for details; Hayden et al., 2017, 2019; Ahonen et al., 2018). A principal component analysis (PCA) was conducted on environmental variables of all studied lakes (Tables S1 and S3, Fig. S1) to reduce the number of explanatory variables into the following three principal components (PC1-PC3). The first principal component (PC1) explained 54.8% of variation in the lake environmental data set and spanned from north to south describing a climate-productivity gradient including altitude [m a.s.l.], air temperature [°C], precipitation [mm], forested area [%], tree volume in a forested area [m³ ha⁻¹], sparse vegetation [%], total phosphorus [µg L⁻¹], total nitrogen [µg L⁻¹], compensation depth in a lake [m] and ditch length [km km⁻²] at the end with lower importance (Fig. S1, Table S1, Table 1). PC2 explained 16.8% of the total variance in lake environmental data and was determined by catchment characteristic related variables (catchment area [km²], peatland area [km²] and the ratio of catchment and lake areas) (Fig. S1, Table S3, Table 1). The third principal component (PC3) explained 16.1% of the total variance and represented lake morphometry (lake area [km²], lake volume [m³] and lake mean depth [m]) (Fig. S1, Table S3, Table 1).

2.3. Fish

Nineteen fish species were sampled in the studied area including nine-spined stickleback (Pungitius pungitius), common sculpin (Cottus gobio), dace (Leuciscus leuciscus), Alpine bullhead (Cottus poecilopus), roach (Rutilus rutilus), grayling (Thymallus thymallus), ide (Leuciscus idus), minnow (Phoxinus phoxinus), brown trout (Salmo trutta), bleak (Alburnus alburnus), European whitefish (Coregonus lavaretus), smelt (Osmerus eperlanus), perch (Perca fluviatilis), ruffe (Gymnocephalus cernua), burbot, vendace (Coregonus albula), peled whitefish (Coregonus peled), Arctic charr (Salvelinus alpinus) and pike (Table S2). Whitefish occur in two morphs i.e. large sparsely rakered whitefish (LSR) and densely rakered whitefish (DR) in Lake Ropi (8) (Hayden et al., 2013). Four lakes (11, 13, 14, 15) contain whitefish × vendace hybrids, which have distinct diet and life-history traits. Both whitefish morphs and hybrids are ecologically divergent groups and have a significant role in energy and mercury flows in subarctic lake food webs potentially also affecting biomagnification (Thomas et al., 2016; Kahilainen et al., 2017). Salmonids dominate in the northernmost lakes of the study region, percids in the mesotrophic lakes and cyprinids in the eutrophic lakes (Hayden et al., 2017).

Each fish individual was identified to species (whitefish were identified to morph and hybrid level based on head morphology and a number of gill rakers in the first left gill arch (Kahilainen

Table 1

Biomagnification regression intercepts (\pm SE) i.e. THg baseline and slopes (\pm SE) i.e. TMS of log₁₀THg (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) versus trophic level for 19 lakes numbered by PC1 value in Tornio-Muoniojoki watercourse with adjusted coefficient of determination (adj. r²), probability value (p), trophic magnification factor (TMF) and THg level at the base of food web (basal THg) (ng g⁻¹ d.w.). The linear regressions were calculated from average values for each group (fish species, algae, zooplankton and littoral benthos). Number of fish species in each lake (n_{spc}), total number of samples (n_{sample}), average THg content of 1 kg pike (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) (Pike THg_{adi}) and variables selected by backward stepwise model for GLM (climate-productivity (PC1), catchment properties (PC2), lake morphometrics (PC3), food chain length (FCL), top predator Qe_{age}), top predator C:N ratio (P_{C:N}) and zooplankton C:N ratio (Z_{C:N})). For more detailed samples sizes in each group see Table 25 and for GLM details see Section 3.3. In pike column, NA indicates species is not present in lake or data is too limited to calculate value for 1 kg pike. Lakes trophy are marked with a grey triangle for oligotrophic lakes, black circles for mesotrophic lakes and grey square for eutrophic lakes corresponding to Fig. 1.

No	Lake name	THg baseline;	TMS;	Adj. r ²	р	n _{spc}	n _{sample}	basal THg	TMF	Pike THg _{adj}	PC1	PC2	PC3	FCL	Page	P _{C:N}	Z _{C:N}
		Intercept \pm SE	Slope \pm SE														
1	Kilpis 🛦	0.583 ± 0.22	0.602 ± 0.08	0.87	< 0.001	8	277	3.8	4.0	490	-4.36	3.14	5.11	3.80	6.65	3.43	5.13
2	Siilas 🛆	0.775 ± 0.17	0.633 ± 0.07	0.92	< 0.001	6	70	6.0	4.3	NA	-4.16	-0.16	-0.95	2.83	4.17	3.40	6.34
3	Tsahkal 🛆	0.959 ± 0.36	0.579 ± 0.08	0.79	0.017	4	164	9.1	3.8	NA	-3.96	-0.38	-0.45	3.18	6.83	3.26	6.58
4	Kolta 🛆	0.509 ± 0.33	0.862 ± 0.14	0.86	0.007	6	112	3.2	7.3	670	-3.47	-0.79	-1.18	2.64	5.44	3.23	5.80
5	Kuohkima 🛆	0.630 ± 0.14	0.627 ± 0.09	0.97	< 0.001	6	152	4.3	4.2	1080	-3.26	-0.04	-1.60	3.51	6.50	3.18	5.35
6	Oiko 🛆	1.050 ± 0.20	0.499 ± 0.11	0.88	< 0.001	9	264	11.2	3.2	1925	-2.15	-0.94	-0.72	3.86	6.72	3.20	4.58
7	Kivi 🛆	0.973 ± 0.17	0.670 ± 0.10	0.95	< 0.001	9	271	9.4	4.7	1570	-2.15	0.45	-1.10	3.26	8.24	3.23	5.40
8	Ropi 🛆	0.888 ± 0.16	0.533 ± 0.08	0.90	< 0.001	11	308	7.7	3.4	1020	-1.63	0.12	-0.63	3.81	8.06	3.24	4.78
9	Palo 🔴	0.268 ± 0.20	0.814 ± 0.16	0.93	< 0.001	8	260	1.9	6.5	555	-0.03	0.21	-1.01	3.11	4.47	3.21	4.59
10	Vaggoval 🔵	0.605 ± 0.19	0.655 ± 0.13	0.92	< 0.001	7	188	4.0	4.5	1075	0.30	-1.57	-0.35	3.17	4.41	3.16	4.18
11	Äkäs 🔵	0.688 ± 0.25	0.477 ± 0.14	0.82	< 0.001	8	328	4.9	3.0	705	1.32	-0.65	0.91	3.85	4.83	3.25	3.77
12	Jeris 🔴	0.873 ± 0.11	0.431 ± 0.06	0.96	< 0.001	9	229	7.5	2.7	NA	1.73	-0.38	1.77	3.99	4.00	3.21	4.76
13	Särki 🔵	0.983 ± 0.12	0.310 ± 0.06	0.93	< 0.001	6	279	9.6	2.0	NA	1.80	-1.32	0.77	4.41	3.00	3.23	4.85
14	Toras 🔴	0.876 ± 0.18	0.459 ± 0.08	0.87	< 0.001	10	325	7.5	2.9	NA	2.03	0.16	0.04	3.92	5.67	3.21	5.57
15	Särkilompolo 🗖	0.806 ± 0.26	0.451 ± 0.12	0.80	< 0.001	8	295	6.4	2.8	1215	2.07	-1.20	0.25	4.23	5.29	3.19	4.51
16	Aalis 🗖	0.932 ± 0.24	0.638 ± 0.13	0.85	< 0.001	9	332	8.6	4.3	1485	3.77	-0.72	0.61	3.25	6.81	3.21	4.50
17	Rattos 🗖	0.937 ± 0.19	0.508 ± 0.09	0.88	< 0.001	8	321	8.6	3.2	1630	3.83	-0.97	0.46	3.86	6.54	3.22	4.70
18	Vaatto 🗖	0.984 ± 0.24	0.553 ± 0.14	0.84	< 0.001	8	289	9.6	3.6	2300	4.12	5.59	-2.51	3.80	7.46	3.20	4.57
19	Pasma 🗖	1.096 ± 0.24	0.513 ± 0.12	0.80	< 0.001	8	261	12.5	3.3	1875	4.21	-0.55	0.58	3.50	8.38	3.21	4.55

et al., 2011a, 2011b), and measured in total length ($\pm 1 \text{ mm}$) and weight ($\pm 0.1 \text{ g}$). For stable isotopes and total mercury analyses, a piece of white dorsal fish muscle was frozen at -20 °C, freezedried for 48 h at -50 °C and powdered with a glass rod. The age of top predatory fish was determined by inspection of clear and burned otoliths for Arctic charr and burbot, whereas ageing of pike was determined from cleithrum bone and scale impressions (Thomas et al., 2016; Ahonen et al., 2018).

2.4. Lower trophic levels

Algal and biofilm samples were viewed under a preparation microscope and any inorganic or organic non-plant material was removed. The remaining material was stored in 2 ml polypropylene tubes. Zooplankton composite samples containing rotifers, cladocerans, and copepods were concentrated on 50 µm mesh and stored in 2 ml polypropylene tubes. Benthic macroinvertebrates were sorted to genus or family level and stored in 2 ml polypropylene tubes directly, except for Mollusca that was first dissected from their shells to avoid the effect of carbonate on stable isotope analyses. Due to the small amount of biomass of benthic and pelagic primary producers available in each lake, biofilm and pelagic phytoplankton were combined for subsequent statistical analyses, hereafter referred to as algae. All samples were first frozen to $-20~^\circ\text{C}$ followed by freeze-drying ($-50~^\circ\text{C}$ for 48 h). Freeze-dried samples were homogenized to a fine powder using a glass rod and maintained at -20 °C until further analyses.

2.5. Stable isotopes

Subsamples of fish, invertebrates and primary producers were weighed (1 \pm 0.1 mg) into tin cups for analyses of elemental carbon and nitrogen ratio (C:N ratio) and nitrogen stable isotope ratio. Elemental composition and δ^{15} N were determined using an elemental analyzer coupled to a continuous-flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer. Laboratory specific standards were calibrated against atmospheric nitrogen used for δ^{15} N. The analytical error was 0.2‰ for the δ^{15} N. The trophic level of each fish was calculated from δ^{15} N by using formula (Post, 2002b):

$$TL_{consumer} = \frac{\delta^{15} N_{consumer} - \delta^{15} N_{baseline}}{\Delta^{15} N} + \lambda \tag{1}$$

where λ is the trophic level of the baseline organism (TL = 1 for primary producers), TL_{consumer} is the trophic level of a given consumer, δ - $^{15}N_{consumer}$ and $\delta^{15}N_{baseline}$ are the nitrogen stable isotope values of a given consumer and baseline organism (i.e. mean of algae) in a given lake, respectively, and Δ^{15} N is a trophic fractionation factor which was set to 3.4‰ per trophic level (Post, 2002b). We acknowledge that trophic fractionation can be variable from primary producers to top consumers (Bunn et al., 2013), but without more detailed evidence from these lakes, we adopted 3.4% trophic fractionation (van der Velden et al., 2013). We tested the sensitivity of our approach by calculating trophic levels for fish using one-source algae and zooplankton (TL.alg and TL.zpl) or two source-model of zooplankton and littoral benthic macroinvertebrates (TL.zpl&bmi) (Fig. S2). All models provided similar results (one-way ANOVA between all groups, p-value = 0.126, F-value = 2.16, df = 2; paired *t*-test for TL.alg vs TL.zpl, p-value = 0.328, t-value = 1.00, df = 18; for TL.alg vs TL.zpl&bmi, p-value = 0.198, tvalue = -1.34, df = 17; for TLzpl vs TLzpl&bmi, p-value = 0.092, tvalue = 0.09, df = 17) (Fig. S2) and we therefore chose a one source model with algae as the baseline as this allowed us to assess TMS across four trophic levels in the subsequent analyses. For each lake, we identified a top consumer species with the highest mean trophic level which was also used to define food chain length (FCL) (Cabana and Rasmussen, 1996; Post et al., 2000).

2.6. Total mercury

Total mercury content (ng g⁻¹ dry weight) of algae, invertebrates and fish white dorsal muscle was analyzed with direct mercury analyzer (Milestone DMA-80, Italy). For controlling the variability, two duplicates of each sample (20–30 mg) were analyzed when the sample amount was not limiting. Only duplicates with <10% of percentage difference were accepted for further analyses. All sets were analyzed with blank control and DORM-4 certified reference material (National Research Council Canada, Canada, powdered fish protein, mean THg concentration \pm SD, 410.0 \pm 55.0 ng g⁻¹) at the beginning and ending of each set run (mean \pm SD, 403.7 \pm 18.6 ng g⁻¹, mean recovery = 98.5%, n = 635) corrected by blanks (mean \pm SD, 2.0 \pm 2.9 ng g⁻¹). In this study, the sample size (n) for THg analyses was 4718.

2.7. Statistical analysis

Biomagnification of THg in food webs was evaluated with the slope (b coefficient) from the \log_{10} THg and trophic level linear regression Eq. (2) and is hereafter called TMS (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) (Borgå et al., 2012; Lavoie et al., 2013). From the same equation, the intercept (a coefficient) indicates the THg exposure level of primary producers and is hereafter called THg baseline (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) (Borgå et al., 2012). Additionally, Trophic Magnification Factor (TMF) was calculated from the TMS (3), to establish an increase of THg content per trophic level (Fisk et al., 2001; Borgå et al., 2012). Furthermore, we converted THg baseline back to a linear scale (4) to estimate the difference of basal THg intake by primary producers between lakes independently of the original exposure level (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) (van der Velden et al., 2013):

$$\log_{10} THg = a + b \cdot TL \tag{2}$$

$$TMF = 10^{b}$$
(3)

basal THg =
$$10^a$$
 (4)

In mercury biomagnification calculations, we used average values for each group to avoid bias in different sample sizes among the groups (Table 1). Two general multiple regression models with stepwise backward direction model selection based on AIC score were built to test the role of environmental (climate-productivity gradient [PC1], catchment properties [PC2], lake morphometrics [PC3]) and ecological variables (food chain length [FCL], number of fish species in the lake[n_{sp}] as a proxy for food web complexity, top predator age [P_{age}] as a proxy for predator size and longevity, and C:N ratio as a lipid content proxy (Kiljunen et al., 2006; Fagan et al., 2011) for top predator and zooplankton [P_{C:N} and Z_{C:N}, respectively]) potentially explaining TMS and THg baseline in lakes. The full model takes the form:

TMS/THg baseline ~ PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + FCL +
$$n_{sp}$$
 + P_{age} + $P_{C:N}$ + $Z_{C:N}$ (5)

Pike was the top predator in most lakes, except for three cases in the north, where the top predator was Arctic charr (Lake Kilpis [1]) or burbot (Lake Tsahkal [3] and Lake Ropi [8]) (Table S4). Zooplankton refers to a bulk sample containing both copepods and cladocerans, where the former are more lipid-rich than later. THg content in 1 kg pike, commonly used as standardization of mercury values (see Åkerblom et al., 2014), was calculated with linear regression of THg content and weight in each lake. In all statistical analyses, a significance limit of $\alpha = 0.05$ was used. Statistical analyses were conducted with R version 1.1.463 (R Core Team, 2019) and by using FactoMineR package (Lê et al., 2008) for PCA analysis and MASS package (Venables and Ripley, 2002) for regression models.

3. Results

3.1. Prediction 1: TMS and THg baseline of food web

THg content was positively correlated with trophic level in all lakes and the fitted linear regression slopes were statistically significant, collectively indicating that biomagnification occurs in all measured food webs (Fig. 2). Mean \pm SD of TMS was 0.81 ± 0.21 (range: 0.27-1.10) and the mean \pm SD of the adjusted coefficient of determination (r²) was 0.57 ± 0.13 (range: 0.31-0.86). TMS was negatively related to climate-productivity gradient (PC1; r² = 0.20; p-value = 0.055), as oligo- and mesotrophic lakes tended to have steeper slopes than eutrophic lakes (Fig. 3). TMS was negatively related to food chain length (r² = 0.83, *p* < 0.001), as oligo-trophic lakes had simpler and shorter food chains (mean \pm SD FCL = 3.36 ± 0.43), than mesotrophic (FCL = 3.87 ± 0.46) or eutrophic lakes with only littoral habitat tended to have shorter food chains (Table S1).

Shallow oligotrophic lakes had the highest TMF of all lakes with an average of 4.36 (Table 1). The lowest TMF scores were found in mesotrophic lakes (mean value 3.43) and slightly higher TMF values in eutrophic lakes (mean value 3.44) (Table 1). THg baseline in food webs in the subarctic Tornio-Muoniojoki watercourse had a mean \pm SD value of 0.81 \pm 0.21 ng g⁻¹ d.w. (Table 1). The THg baseline was positively, but not significantly related to PC1 (r² = 0.14; p-value = 0.113) and FCL (r² = 0.20, p-value = 0.052). However, when examined by lake type, eutrophic lakes tended to have higher basal THg values (9.14 ng g⁻¹ d.w.) and longer food chains (FCL = 3.73) compared to oligotrophic lakes (basal THg = 6.53 ng g⁻¹ d.w., FCL = 3.36) (Table 1, Fig. 3).

3.2. Prediction 2: Regression model of TMS and THg baseline

The full GLM model for TMS and THg baseline initially had eight explanatory variables (Eq. (5)). The final and most parsimonious TMS model was TMS ~ PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + FCL + P_{C:N}, explaining 90% of the variation, and for THg baseline the final model was THg baseline ~ PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + FCL + P_{c:N} + P_{age} which explained 69% of variation (Table 2; Table S5). Individual variable linear regressions with TMS and THg baseline are presented in Table S6.

3.3. Prediction 3: THg content of top predator of food web in climaticproductivity gradient

Top predator THg content was calculated for 1 kg pike in each study lake, where this species exists (Table 1). There was a significant positive relationship between THg content of 1 kg pike and climate productivity index (PC1) (Fig. 3e). In the average 1 kg pike, adjusted THg content of all the study lakes was 1209 ng THg g⁻¹ d.w., with mean \pm SD ranged from 890 \pm 219 ng g⁻¹ d.w. in mesotrophic, 1126 \pm 494 ng g⁻¹ d.w. in oligotrophic to 1658 \pm 368 ng g⁻¹ d.w. in eutrophic lakes.



Fig. 2. Linear regression of average THg (log₁₀THg) (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) and trophic level (TL) for each group from primary producers (algae) to top fish consumers in each lake. Lakes are ordered with increasing climate-productivity gradient (PC1 value). For equation coefficients and statistical details, see Table 1 and further info on sample sizes, THg content and combined TMS plot (Table 2S, Table S4, Fig. S3, respectively). Abbreviations: litoBMI - littoral benthic macroinvertebrates; zpl - zooplankton.



Fig. 3. The relationship of THg baseline (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) (a, b) and trophic magnification slopes (TMS) (ng g⁻¹ d.w.) (c, d) along climate-productivity gradient (PC1) and food chain length (FCL) with 95% confidence interval for significant relationships. Average THg content [ng g¹ d.w.] of 1 kg pike in 14 lakes along climate-productivity gradient (e).

4. Discussion

4.1. Main results

Mercury biomagnification in food webs was found in all 19 lakes studied. Our predictions that increasing temperature and productivity would decrease the trophic magnification slope (TMS) and increase mercury baseline levels (THg baseline), were not statistically supported by the data. Instead, the ecological processes underlying these relationships were more complex and final explanatory models for trophic magnification slope and THg baseline included both biotic (food chain length, top predator age, lipid content of primary and top consumers) and abiotic (climate-productivity, catchment properties and lake morphometry) factors. Additionally, mercury content in a size standardized 1 kg pike, the apex predator in the lakes, increased towards warmer and more productive lakes. 4.2. Prediction 1: Climate and productivity relationship with THg biomagnification

Subarctic watercourses provide model systems to understand climate and productivity drivers of THg biomagnification in lake food webs and predict potential future with warming climate and land-use. In a global study of TMS in lakes, Lavoie et al. (2013) observed a positive relationship between TMS and latitude, but we did not find this trend in our smaller regional scale study. However, we cannot directly compare TMS values of these studies as they used δ^{15} N values and mercury content as wet weight values (Lavoie et al., 2013). Our results are more comparable with studies from Canadian Arctic and subarctic lakes, where TMS (calculated from \log_{10} THg [ng g⁻¹ d.w.] against δ^{15} N derived trophic level in each lake) range between 0.30 and 0.72 (mean 0.48) (van der Velden et al., 2013). The slightly lower mean values in the Canadian lakes compared to our study lakes likely relate to

Table 2

Selection of backward stepwise model for generalized linear multiple regression analysis based on minimum AIC values. The final selected models are bolded (further details in Table S5). Climate-productivity gradient (PC1), catchment properties (PC2), lake morphometrics (PC3), food chain length (FCL), number of fish species in lake (n_{spc}) , top predators age (P_{age}) and C:N ratio of top predator and zooplankton $(P_{C:N}, Z_{C:N})$.

Model	r ²	AIC	Deviance	Final model statistics
Trophic magnification slope (TMS)				$r^2 = 0.90,$
$FCL + PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + P_{C:N} + Z_{C:N} + P_{age} + n_{spc}$	0.91	-106.06	0.03	RSE = 0.05,
$FCL + PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + P_{C:N} + Z_{C:N} + P_{age}$	0.91	-108.05	0.03	$F_{5,13} = 24.48$,
$FCL + PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + P_{C:N} + Z_{C:N}$	0.91	-109.92	0.03	p <0.001,
$FCL + PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + P_{C:N}$	0.90	-110.67	0.03	AIC = -110.67
Intercept (THg baseline)				$r^2 = 0.69$,
$FCL + PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + P_{C:N} + P_{age} + Z_{C:N} + n_{spc}$	0.71	-65.23	0.24	RSE = 0.15,
$FCL + PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + P_{C:N} + P_{age} + Z_{C:N}$	0.71	-67.23	0.24	$F_{6,12} = 4.42$,
$FCL + PC1 + PC2 + PC3 + P_{C:N} + P_{age}$	0.69	-67.86	0.26	p = 0.014,
				AIC = -67.86

regression calculations, as we used average THg values for different groups. In the Canadian Arctic and subarctic lakes, there was no clear latitudinal trend in either TMS or THg baseline (Gantner et al., 2010; van der Velden et al., 2013) corresponding to our results. The presence of Arctic charr as the dominant species in all the study lakes in both of these studies suggests that those lakes are oligotrophic, which may explain the less pronounced latitudinal pattern compared to our study, which includes lakes of a range of different trophic states.

Lake productivity is often related to biodilution of THg in organisms (Pickhardt et al., 2002; Chen and Folt, 2005; Borgå et al., 2012; Poste et al., 2015; Razavi et al., 2015); increased productivity results in longer and more complex food webs with increased biomass at each trophic level, and THg is distributed across this biomass decreasing biomagnification in the food web. However, no statistical support for this was found in the global lake comparisons (Lavoie et al., 2013), in Arctic lakes (Gantner et al., 2010) or subarctic lakes in the current study. Thus inconsistency in the relationship between eutrophication and mercury biomagnification may originate from different sources of nutrients i.e. natural or anthropogenic sources. Verburg et al. (2014) studied natural, geothermal lakes with different nutrient levels in New Zealand and found that biomagnification was most elevated in a eutrophic lake. In contrast, increasing level of eutrophication via agricultural and sewage sourced eutrophication decrease biomagnification in subtropical and tropical lakes via biodilution in algae (Poste et al., 2015; Razavi et al., 2015). In the eutrophic lakes analyzed here, increased productivity is derived from both increasing nutrient levels, eutrophication and browning via intensive forestry activities, especially peatland ditching. Such catchment modification likely induces considerable leaching of sequestered mercury from the peatland, elevating THg in primary producers and subsequent trophic levels. Our THg baseline values (mean \pm SD; 0.81 \pm 0.20) are comparable to Canadian Arctic and subarctic studies, where THg baseline varied between 0.32 and 2.14 (mean 1.55 \log_{10} THg ng g⁻¹ d.w.) (van der Velden et al., 2013). In contrast, TMS was positively correlated with total phosphorus and negatively correlated with THg baseline along a gradient of the Canadian boreal lakes, with similar nutrient values to our study (Kidd et al., 2012). The difference may originate from much larger lakes in the Canadian study supporting more complex food webs. Nutrients (total nitrogen [TN], TP) explained a relatively small amount of variation in TMS (mean 0.23) in Canadian boreal lakes (Lescord et al., 2019), but a joint nutrient (TN, TP, total organic carbon [TOC]) and cation (calcium [Ca], chlorine [Cl]) PCA axis explained 30% of TMS variance (mean 0.17) in coastal Nova Scotian lakes (Clayden et al., 2013). Observed variation is likely due to regional disparities, where catchment, lake properties and nutrient sources are very different (Riget et al., 2000; Eloranta et al., 2015). Furthermore, contrasting results of productivity effects on TMS are likely linked to very drastic changes in biotic communities and food webs often present along our studied climateproductivity gradients (Hayden et al., 2017, 2019). For future THg biomagnification studies, we suggest that mercury TMS should be calculated as a function of trophic level instead of $\delta^{15}N$ values as this makes both spatial and literature comparisons possible.

A change to the food web structure in southern lakes caused TMS to have a stronger relationship with food chain length (FCL), than with climate-productivity index (PC1). Here, TMS decreased (83% variance explained) and THg baseline increased (20%) with increasing FCL. While FCL is well-known to elevate contaminant content (e.g. Rasmussen et al., 1990; Cabana et al., 1994), there is a little landscapelevel evidence on how food chain length relates to TMS and THg baseline. Food chain length is positively correlated with ecosystem size, where larger lakes tend to have also more habitats and species (Post et al., 2000; Post, 2002a; Vander Zanden and Fetzer, 2007; Takimoto and Post, 2013). While the biodilution process is more robust in highly productive lakes, other variables such as ecosystem size, lake chemistry or food source preference can cause deviation in THg biomagnification and mask the biodilution in long food webs (Ouédraogo et al., 2015). Kidd et al. (2012) found a positive relationship between lake size and TMS, while the opposite was true with THg baseline. The very pronounced differences among regions highlight the need for comprehensive explanatory models including different abiotic and biotic variables to explain THg biomagnification in different lake types.

4.3. Prediction 2: Explanatory models of THg biomagnification

The best fit model for TMS included PC1, PC2, PC3, FCL, and $P_{C:N}$, which together explained 90% of total variation in TMS. The THg baseline model included the same variables, but with inverse relationships, and top predator age (P_{age}). While many studies have used regression models to explain TMS and THg baseline in food webs (e.g. Kidd et al., 2012; Clayden et al., 2013; Lescord et al., 2015), we are not aware of any studies which included the same set of variables we used here. Below, we overview how each variable in both models contributes to the observed variation.

Food chain length displayed a strong negative relationship with the climate-productivity gradient, and was the most important factor in the TMS model, explaining 83% of total variation. The main process behind FCL is likely biodilution that was found in multiple studies (Chen and Folt, 2005; Keva et al., 2021). Subsequently, THg is distributed among greater variety and biomass of species at each trophic level (Poste et al., 2015; Razavi et al., 2015). Increased FCL in the more productive lakes is also related to the dominance of pike at the top of food chain as well as an increasing number of fish species, especially in the pelagic habitats (Ahonen et al., 2018).

Increasing lake productivity is related to changing catchment properties (PC2), where sparsely populated areas change towards increasingly modified catchments with forest clear-cutting, site preparation, and ditched peatlands (Jussila et al., 2014). Ditching of peatlands for forestry use releases historically accumulated mercury storages of the catchment. Site preparation and ditching activities are known to increase mercury methylation hotspots in lake catchments elsewhere (Eklöf et al., 2016; Ukonmaanaho et al., 2016), and this may contribute to our estimated THg baselines in the southern lakes. An intensive drainage network of the whole catchment will likely transport a large amount of nutrients and historical mercury into these lakes, elevating THg baseline. While anthropogenic eutrophication via agricultural fertilizers and sewage is generally considered to lower mercury concentrations in the base of the food web and organisms, it does not necessarily bring much mercury into the system. This difference between these ultimate sources of eutrophication should be considered when interpreting mercury bioaccumulation and biomagnification. Moreover, catchment derived nutrients and dissolved organic matter in southernmost murky lakes probably enhance anoxic conditions, which are known to promote methylation processes within lakes (Ullrich et al., 2001: Bravo et al., 2017). Increased dissolved organic matter also increases bacterial primary production in subarctic lakes and may further elevate THg baseline (Forsström et al., 2013; Lescord et al., 2018) and also THg content in top predators. Additionally, smaller lakes have a greater THg concentration in the water, which, according to our model, also elevates THg baseline.

On the contrary, TMS model showed a positive correlation with PC3, indicating that THg biomagnification was lower in small lakes, but this trend is far from clear. Both food web structure and catchment properties are highly dependent on climatic factors such as air temperature and precipitation (Hayden et al., 2017; Obrist et al., 2018). Thus, PC3 alone might not have a significant correlation with TMS or THg baseline (Fig. 3), even though it has a significant impact when included in the multiple regression model (an increase of r^2 in the model of 1% for TMS and 7% for THg baseline) (Table S5). In general, biotic fauna shift from cold-adapted lipid-rich species (e.g. copepods, salmonid fishes) to warmer adapted lean species (e.g.cladocerans, cyprinid and percid fishes) along the lake gradient (Hiltunen et al., 2016; Kahilainen et al., 2016; Hayden et al., 2017; Keva et al., 2021). This was observed as a

higher C:N ratio of top predator and zooplankton in the northern oligotrophic lakes and a lower C:N ratio in the eutrophic lakes (Table 1). In our study, Arctic charr and burbot were at the top of food chain only in the northernmost oligotrophic lakes, while pike was the top predator in all meso- and eutrophic lakes, and indeed in several oligotrophic lakes too. While all these species are piscivorous, pike has the ability to use a much wider range of all types of fish prey including cannibalism (Kahilainen and Lehtonen, 2003; Kahilainen et al., 2019). Arctic charr is more lipid-rich fish (mean C:N ratio 3.43) than pike (3.22) or burbot (3.25), which likely explains why predator C:N ratio was included in the model (one-way ANOVA test of C:N ratio between predator species p-value = 0.003, F-value = 8.12, df = 2).

THg baseline models included top predator age (P_{age}) as a significant variable (in final model, t-value = 3.65, p-value = 0.003) (Table S5). Top predator age itself is positively correlated to THg baseline (r^2 = 0.24, p-value = 0.033), but there is no correlation to TMS (r^2 = 0.01, p-value = 0.636) (Table S6). Age, length and mass of fish are directly related to THg bioaccumulation. While predator constantly accumulates THg with age and size, there is little impact of detoxication process (Kasper et al., 2009; Dang and Wang, 2012; Wang, 2012). THg baseline indicates THg input to the aquatic ecosystem, which later biomagnifies in top predators, thus our explanatory model used P_{age} to indicate greater THg input to the aquatic environment, however, this conclusion might be misleading, as fish in stable environmental conditions (i.e. predators from one lake) likewise bioaccumulate THg with time (Simoneau et al., 2005).

4.4. Prediction 3: Top predator THg in food webs along climate-productivity gradient

Top predator fish such as Arctic charr, burbot, and pike are an important component in the indigenous people diet in this region throughout the year (Sjölander, 2011; Thomas et al., 2016). According to health standards set by United Nations, the maximum level for mercurv acceptable in fish muscle tissue for human consumption is 2500 ng g^{-1} d.w. for non-predatory fish and 5000 ng g^{-1} d.w. for predatory fish, based on the consumption of two fish meals per week (UNEP, 2008). We found several pike (n = 5) and perch (n = 12) which exceeded these limits from oligotrophic (Lake Oiko [6] and Kivi [7]) and eutrophic (Lake Aalis [16], Rattos [17] and Vaatto [18]) lakes. On the average, those individuals were old and large (perch average values: age = 13, total length = 32.0 cm; pike average values: age = 16, total length = 90.8 cm). We found that THg content of a standardized 1 kg pike increased with increasing temperature and productivity. This indicates potential adverse health effects for local fish consumers in the Fennoscandia contingent on the progressing climate and land-use change towards the end of this century.

5. Conclusions

TMS was negatively related to increasing temperature, productivity and food chain length, whereas the opposite was evident for THg baseline. This indicates that mercury biomagnification will be lowered in warmer and more productive conditions most likely due to an increased number of pelagic species and more complex food webs where mercury is biodiluted. THg baseline models indicate that the same variables increase the mercury content at basal resources. This may contribute to the overall higher mercury content in different trophic levels as we found increasing mercury content of a standardized 1 kg pike towards warmer and more productive lakes. The studied watercourse gradient corresponds to conservative future climatic scenarios for this region, but in addition, included a strong land-use gradient from near-pristine to intensive forestry catchments. Based on the current data, we cannot directly point out how much both the TMS and THg baseline will shift with future climate as land-use has to be also considered. Accordingly, results generally indicate the direction of change in the future rather

than the accurate prediction of change with certain climatic and landuse conditions.

Our results were opposite relative to the vast majority of previous studies and showed that eutrophication can increase THg baseline and THg content of top predator. However, it is very important to define the sources of nutrients as in most cases eutrophication originates from leaching agricultural fertilizers or direct sewage inputs, whereas in our case nutrients and carbon originate from ditched peatlands and peatland forests those leaching their historical mercury storages into lakes. In such conditions, leaching mercury from ditched catchment to the lakes elevates THg content of different trophic levels from baseline to top predators. Based on the results, we suggest that the sources of eutrophication should be always considered in the mercury bioaccumulation and biomagnification studies.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Natalia Kozak: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Visualization. Salla A. Ahonen: Investigation, Data curation, Writing – review & editing. Ossi Keva: Methodology, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. Kjartan Østbye: Writing – review & editing. Sami J. Taipale: Resources, Writing – review & editing. Brian Hayden: Resources, Writing – review & editing. Kimmo K. Kahilainen: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Investigation, Resources, Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank numerous technicians, students, researchers and colleagues involved in collecting samples, performing laboratory analysis and building the database during all these years. Thanks to Kilpisjärvi Biological Station, Muonio Fish Facility and Nuottavaara Village Association, which kindly provided facilities. Funding was received from the Academy of Finland (projects 1140903, 1268566 to KKK), and Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences PhD scholarship for NK. All authors declare no conflict of interest. We thank three anonymous reviewers and editor for their constructive comments.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146261.

References

- Ahonen, S.A., Hayden, B., Leppänen, J.J., Kahilainen, K.K., 2018. Climate and productivity affect total mercury concentration and bioaccumulation rate of fish along a spatial gradient of subarctic lakes. Sci. Total Environ. 637–638, 1586–1596.
- Åkerblom, S., Bignert, A., Meili, M., Sonesten, L., Sundbom, M., 2014. Half a century of changing mercury levels in Swedish freshwater fish. Ambio. 43, 91–103.
- AMAP, 1998. AMAP Assessment Report: Arctic Pollution Issues. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo, Norway.
- AMAP, 2011. Arctic Assessment 2011: Mercury in the Arctic. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo, Norway.
- Amos, H.M., Jacob, D.J., Streets, D.G., Sunderland, E.M., 2013. Legacy impacts of all-time anthropogenic emissions on the global mercury cycle. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 27, 410–421.
- Barrie, L.A., Gregor, D., Hargrave, B., Lake, R., Muir, D., Shearer, R., Tracey, B., Bidleman, T., 1992. Arctic contaminants: sources, occurrence and pathways. Sci. Total Environ. 122, 1–74.

N. Kozak, S.A. Ahonen, O. Keva et al.

- Borgå, K., Kidd, K.A., Muir, D.C., Berglund, O., Conder, J.M., Gobas, F.A., Kucklick, J., Malm, O., Powell, D.E., 2012. Trophic magnification factors: considerations of ecology, ecosystems, and study design. Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag. 8, 64-84.
- Bravo, A.G., Bouchet, S., Tolu, J., Björn, E., Mateos-Rivera, A., Bertilsson, S., 2017. Molecular composition of organic matter controls methylmercury formation in boreal lakes. Nat. Commun. 8, 1–9.
- Bunn, S.E., Leigh, C., Jardine, T.D., 2013. Diet-tissue fractionation of δ 15 N by consumers from streams and rivers. Limnol. Oceanogr. 58, 765–773.
- Cabana, G., Rasmussen, J.B., 1996. Comparison of aquatic food chains using nitrogen isotopes. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 93, 10844-10847.
- Cabana, G., Tremblay, A., Kalff, J., Rasmussen, J.B., 1994. Pelagic food chain structure in Ontario lakes: a determinant of mercury levels in lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 51, 381–389.
- Chen, C.Y., Folt, C.L., 2005. High plankton densities reduce mercury biomagnification. Environ, Sci. Technol, 39, 115-121.
- Clayden, M.G., Kidd, K.A., Wyn, B., Kirk, J.L., Muir, D.C.G., O'Driscoll, N.J., 2013. Mercury biomagnification through food webs is affected by physical and chemical characteristics of lakes. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 12047-12053.
- Cott, P.A., Schein, A., Hanna, B.W., Johnston, T.A., MacDonald, D.D., Gunn, J.M., 2015. Implications of linear developments on northern fishes. Environ. Rev. 23, 177-190.
- Dang, F., Wang, W.X., 2012. Why mercury concentration increases with fish size? Biokinetic explanation. Environ. Pollut. 163, 192–198.
- Douglas, T.A., Blum, J.D., 2019. Mercury isotopes reveal atmospheric gaseous mercury deposition directly to the Arctic coastal snowpack. Environ. Sci. Technol. 6, 235-242.
- Douglas, T.A., Loseto, L.L., Macdonald, R.W., Outridge, P., Dommergue, A., Poulain, A., Amyot, M., Barkay, T., Berg, T., Chételat, J., Constant, P., Evans, M., Ferrari, C., Gantner, N., Johnson, M.S., Kirk, J., Kroer, N., Larose, C., Lean, D., Nielsen, T.G., Poissant, L., Rognerud, S., Skov, H., Sørensen, S., Wang, F., Wilson, S., Zdanowicz, C.M., 2012. The fate of mercury in Arctic terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems, a review. Environ. Chem. 9, 321-355.
- Eklöf, K., Lidskog, R., Bishop, K., 2016. Managing Swedish forestry's impact on mercury in fish: defining the impact and mitigation measures. Ambio. 45, 163-174.
- Eloranta, A.P., Kahilainen, K.K., Amundsen, P.A., Knudsen, R., Harrod, C., Jones, R.I., 2015. Lake size and fish diversity determine resource use and trophic position of a top predator in high-latitude lakes. Ecol. Evol. 5, 1664–1675. Fagan, K.A., Koops, M.A., Arts, M.T., Power, M., 2011. Assessing the utility of C:N ratios for
- predicting lipid content in fishes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 68, 374-385.
- Finér, L., Lepistö, A., Lepistö, K., Räike, A., Härkönen, L., Huttunen, M., Joensuu, S., Kortelainen, P., Mattsson, T., Piirainen, S., Sallantaus, T., Sarkkola, S., Tattari, S., Ukonmaanaho, L., 2021. Drainage for forestry increases N, P and TOC export to boreal surface waters. Sci. Total Environ. 762, 144098.
- Fisk, A.T., Hobson, K.A., Norstrom, R.J., 2001. Influence of chemical and biological factors on trophic transfer of persistent organic pollutants in the Northwater Polynya marine food web. Environ. Sci. Technol. 35, 732-738.
- Forsström, L., Roiha, T., Rautio, M., 2013. Responses of microbial food web to increased allochthonous DOM in an oligotrophic subarctic lake. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 68, 171-184.
- Gantner, N., Power, M., Iqaluk, D., Meili, M., Borg, H., Sundbom, M., Solomon, K.R., Lawson, G., Muir, D.C., 2010. Mercury concentrations in landlocked Arctic char (Salvelinus alpinus) from the Canadian Arctic. Part I: Insights from trophic relationships in 18 lakes. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 29, 621-632.
- Hall, B.D., Bodaly, R.A., Fudge, R.J.P., Rudd, J.W.M., Rosenberg, D.M., 1997. Food as the dominant pathway of methylmercury uptake by fish. Water Air Soil Pollut. 100, 13-24.
- Hammerschmidt, C.R., Fitzgerald, W.F., Lamborg, C.H., Balcom, P.H., Tseng, C.M., 2006. Bio geochemical cycling of methylmercury in lakes and tundra watersheds of Arctic Alaska, Environ, Sci. Technol, 40, 1204–1211.
- Hayden, B., Holopainen, T., Amundsen, P.-A., Eloranta, A.P., Knudsen, R., Praebel, K., Kahilainen, K.K., 2013. Interactions between invading benthivorous fish and native whitefish in subarctic lakes morphometry and resource availability will alter the competitive balance between native and invasive species. Freshw. Biol. 58, 1234-1250
- Hayden, B., Myllykangas, J.P., Rolls, R.J., Kahilainen, K.K., 2017. Climate and productivity shape fish and invertebrate community structure in subarctic lakes. Freshw. Biol. 62, 990-1003.
- Hayden, B., Harrod, C., Thomas, S.M., Eloranta, A.P., Myllykangas, J.-P., Siwertsson, A., Præbel, K., Knudsen, R., Amundsen, P.-A., Kahilainen, K.K., 2019. From clear lakes to murky waters - tracing the functional response of high-latitude lake communities to concurrent 'greening' and 'browning'. Ecol. Lett. 22, 807-816.
- Hillebrand, H., 2004. On the generality of the latitudinal diversity gradient. Am. Nat. 163, 192-211.
- Hiltunen, M., Taipale, S.J., Strandberg, U., Kahilainen, K.K., Kankaala, P., 2016. High intraspecific variation in fatty acids of Eudiaptomusin boreal and subarctic lakes. J. Plankton Res. 38, 468-477.
- Hudelson, K.E., Muir, D.C.G., Drevnick, P.E., Köck, G., Iqaluk, D., Wang, X., Kirk, J.L., Barst, B.D., Grgicak-Mannion, A., Shearon, R., Fisk, A.T., 2019. Temporal trends, lake-tolake variation, and climate effects on Arctic char (Salvelinus alpinus) mercury concentrations from six high Arctic lakes in Nunavut, Canada, Sci. Total Environ, 678, 801-812
- Huntington, H.P., Boyle, M., Flowers, G.E., Weatherly, J.W., Hamilton, L.C., Hinzman, L., Gerlach, C., Zulueta, R., Nicolson, C., Overpeck, J., 2007. The influence of human activity in the Arctic on climate and climate impacts. Clim. Change 82, 77–92.
- IPCC, 2014. Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. p. 151 (Geneva, Switzerland).
- Jussila, M., Liljaniemi, P., Karvonen, L., Johansson, M., 2014. TRIWA III-Forestry Task; Water Protection in Regeneration Cutting and Site Preparation Areas; Guidelines

and Practices in the Field. Report 72. Centre for Economic Development, Transport, and the Environment for Lapland, pp. 1-36.

- Kahilainen, K., Lehtonen, H., 2003. Piscivory and prey selection of four predator species in a whitefish dominated subarctic lake. J. Fish Biol. 63, 659-672
- Kahilainen, K.K., Østbye, K., Harrod, C., Shikano, T., Malinen, T., Merilä, J., 2011a. Species introduction promotes hybridization and introgression in *Coregonus*: is there sign of selection against hybrids? Mol. Ecol. 20, 3838–3855.
- Kahilainen, K.K., Siwertsson, A., Gjelland, K.Ø., Knudsen, R., Bøhn, T., Amundsen, P.A., 2011b. The role of gill raker number variability in adaptive radiation of coregonid fish. Evol. Ecol. 25, 573-588.
- Kahilainen, K.K., Thomas, S.M., Keva, O., Hayden, B., Knudsen, R., Eloranta, A.P., Tuohiluoto, K., Amundsen, P.A., Malinen, T., Järvinen, A., 2016. Seasonal dietary shift to zooplankton influences stable isotope ratios and total mercury concentrations in Arctic charr Salvelinus alpinus (L.)). Hydrobiologia 783, 47-63.
- Kahilainen, K.K., Thomas, S.M., Nystedt, E.K.M., Keva, O., Malinen, T., Hayden, B., 2017. Ecomorphological divergence drives differential mercury bioaccumulation in polymorphic European whitefish (*Coregonus lavaretus*) populations of subarctic lakes. Sci. Total Environ. 599–600, 1768–1778.
- Kahilainen, K.K., Thomas, S.M., Harrod, C., Hayden, B., Eloranta, A.P., 2019. Trophic ecology of piscivorous Arctic charr (Salvelinus alpinus (L)) in subarctic lakes with contrasting food-web structures. Hydrobiologia. 840, 227-243.
- Kasper, D., Palermo, E.F.A., Dias, A.C.M.I., Ferreira, G.L., Leitão, R.P., Branco, C.W.C., Malm, O., 2009. Mercury distribution in different tissues and trophic levels of fish from a tropical reservoir, Brazil. Neotrop. Ichthyol. 7, 751-758.
- Keva, O., Taipale, S.J., Hayden, B., Thomas, S.M., Vesterinen, J., Kankaala, P., Kahilainen, K.K., 2021. Increasing temperature and productivity change biomass, trophic pyramids and community-level omega-3 fatty acid content in subarctic lake food webs. Glob. Change Biol. 27, 282-296.
- Kidd, K.A., Muir, D.C.G., Evans, M.S., Wang, X., Whittle, M., Swanson, H.K., Johnston, T., Guildford, S., 2012. Biomagnification of mercury through lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush) food webs of lakes with different physical, chemical and biological characteristics. Sci. Total Environ. 438, 135-143.
- Kiljunen, M., Grey, J., Sinisalo, T., Harrod, C., Immonen, H., Jones, R.I., 2006. A revised model for lipid-normalizing 813C values from aquatic organisms, with implications for isotope mixing models. J. Appl. Ecol. 43, 1213-1222.
- Klein Tank, A.M.G., Wijngaard, J.B., Können, G.P., Böhm, R., Demarée, G., Gocheva, A., Mileta, M., Pashiardis, S., Hejkrlik, L., Kern-Hansen, C., Heino, R., Bessemoulin, P., Müller-Westermeier, G., Tzanakou, M., Szalai, S., Pálsdóttir, T., Fitzgerald, D., Rubin, S., Capaldo, M., et al., 2002. Daily dataset of 20th-century surface air temperature and precipitation series for the European climate assessment. Int. J. Climatol. 22, 1441-1453
- Kolka, R.K., Grigal, D.F., Verry, E.S., Nater, E.A., 1999. Mercury and organic carbon relationships in streams draining forested upland/peatland watersheds. J. Environ. Qual. 28, 766-775.
- Lavoie, R.A., Jardine, T.D., Chumchal, M.M., Kidd, K.A., Campbell, L.M., 2013. Biomagnification of mercury in aquatic food webs: a worldwide meta-analysis. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 13385-13394.
- Lê, S., Josse, J., Rennes, A., Husson, F., 2008. FactoMineR: an R package for multivariate analysis. J. Stat. Software 25, 1–24. Lee, Y.H., Iverfeldt, Å., 1991. Measurement of methylmercury and mercury in run-off, lake
- and rain waters. Water Air Soil Pollut. 56, 309-321.
- Lescord, G.L., Kidd, K.A., Kirk, J.L., O'Driscoll, N.J., Wang, X., Muir, D.C.G., 2015. Factors affecting biotic mercury concentrations and biomagnification through lake food webs in the Canadian high Arctic. Sci. Total Environ. 509-510, 195-205.
- Lescord, G.L., Clayden, M.G., Kidd, K.A., Kirk, J.L., Wang, X., O'Driscoll, N.J., Muir, D.C.G., **2018**. Assessing the utility of sulfur isotope values for understanding mercury concentrations in water and biota from high Arctic lakes. Arctic Sci. 5, 90–106.
- Lescord, G.L., Johnston, T., Branfireun, B.A., Gunn, J.M., 2019. Mercury bioaccumulation in relation to changing physicochemical and ecological factors across a large and undisturbed boreal watershed. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 76, 2165-2175.
- Macdonald, R.W., Harner, T., Fyfe, J., 2005. Recent climate change in the Arctic and its impact on contaminant pathways and interpretation of temporal trend data, Sci. Total Environ. 342, 5–86.
- Morel, F.M.M., Kraepiel, A.M.L., Amyot, M., 1998. The chemical cycle and bioaccumulation of mercury. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 29, 543-566.
- Nieminen, M., Palviainen, M., Sarkkola, S., Laurén, A., Marttila, H., Finér, L., 2018. A synthesis of the impacts of ditch network maintenance on the quantity and quality of runoff from drained boreal peatland forests. Ambio 47, 523–534.
- Obrist, D., Agnan, Y., Jiskra, M., Olson, C.L., Colegrove, D.P., Hueber, J., Moore, C.W., Sonke, J.E., Helmig, D., 2017. Tundra uptake of atmospheric elemental mercury drives Arctic mercury pollution. Nature 547, 201-204.
- Obrist, D., Kirk, J.L., Zhang, L., Sunderland, E.M., Jiskra, M., Selin, N.E., 2018. A review of global environmental mercury processes in response to human and natural perturbations: changes of emissions, climate, and land use. Ambio 47, 116-140.
- Ouédraogo, O., Chételat, J., Amyot, M., 2015. Bioaccumulation and trophic transfer of mercury and selenium in African sub-tropical fluvial reservoirs food webs (Burkina Faso). PLoS One 10, e0123048.
- Pacyna, E.G., Pacyna, J.M., Sundseth, K., Munthe, J., Kindbom, K., Wilson, S., Steenhuisen, F., Maxson, P., 2010. Global emission of mercury to the atmosphere from anthropogenic sources in 2005 and projections to 2020. Atmos. Environ. 44, 2487-2499.
- Pickhardt, P.C., Folt, C.L., Chen, C.Y., Klaue, B., Blum, J.D., 2002. Algal blooms reduce the up take of toxic methylmercury in freshwater food webs. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99, 4419-4423
- Post, D.M., 2002a. The long and short of food-chain length. Trends Ecol. Evol. 17, 269–277. Post, D.M., 2002b. Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: models, methods and assumptions. Ecology 83, 703-718.

10

N. Kozak, S.A. Ahonen, O. Keva et al.

Post, D.M., Pace, M.L., Hairston, N.G., 2000. Ecosystem size determines food-chain length in lakes. Nature 405, 1047–1049.

- Poste, A.E., Muir, D.C.G., Guildford, S.J., Hecky, R.E., 2015. Bioaccumulation and biomagnification of mercury in African lakes: the importance of trophic status. Sci. Total Environ. 506–507, 126–136.
- Poste, A.E., Hoel, C.S., Andersen, T., Arts, M.T., Færøvig, P.J., Borgå, K., 2019. Terrestrial organic matter increases zooplankton methylmercury accumulation in a brown-water boreal lake. Sci. Total Environ. 674, 9–18.
- R Core Team, 2019. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. 16. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Rasmussen, J.B., Rowan, D.J., Lean, D.R.S., Carey, J.H., 1990. Food chain structure in Ontario
- Rasmussen, J.B., Rowan, D.J., Lean, D.R.S., Carey, J.H., 1990. Food chain structure in Ontario lakes determines PCB levels in lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*) and other pelagic fish. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 47, 2030–2038.
- Razavi, N.R., Qu, M., Chen, D., Zhong, Y., Ren, W., Wang, Y., Campbell, L.M., 2015. Effect of eutrophication on mercury (Hg) dynamics in subtropical reservoirs from a high Hg deposition ecoregion. Limnol. Oceanogr. 60, 386–401.
- Riget, F., Jeppesen, E., Landkildehus, F., Lauridsen, T.L., Geertz-Hansen, P., Christoffersen, K., Sparholt, H., 2000. Landlocked Arctic charr (Salvelinus alpinus) population structure and lake morphometry in Greenland - is there a connection? Polar Biol. 23, 550–558.
- Sanei, H., Outridge, P.M., Goodarzi, F., Wang, F., Armstrong, D., Warren, K., Fishback, L., 2010. Wet deposition mercury fluxes in the Canadian sub-Arctic and southern Alberta, measured using an automated precipitation collector adapted to cold regions. Atmos. Environ. 44, 1672–1681.
- Schindler, D.W., Smol, J.P., 2006. Cumulative effects of climate warming and other human activities on freshwaters of Arctic and subarctic North America. Ambio 35, 160–168.
- Schroeder, W.H., Munthe, J., 1998. Atmospheric mercury an overview. Atmos. Environ. 32, 809–822.
- Schuster, P.F., Schaefer, K.M., Aiken, G.R., Antweiler, R.C., Dewild, J.F., Gryziec, J.D., Gusmeroli, A., Hugelius, G., Jafarov, E., Krabbenhoft, D.P., Liu, L., Herman-Mercer, N., Mu, C., Roth, D.A., Schaefer, T., Striegl, R.G., Wickland, K.P., Zhang, T., 2018. Permafrost stores a globally significant amount of mercury. Geophys. Res. Lett. 45, 1463–1471.
- Serreze, M.C., Walsh, J.E., Chapin, F.S., Osterkamp, T., Dyurgerov, M., Romanovsky, V., Oechel, W.C., Morison, J., Zhang, T., Barry, R.G., 2000. Observational evidence of recent change in the northern high-latitude environment. Clim. Change 46, 159–207.
- Sharma, S., Magnuson, J.J., Batt, R.D., Winslow, L.A., Korhonen, J., Aono, Y., 2016. Direct observations of ice seasonality reveal changes in climate over the past 320-570 years. Sci. Rep. 6, 1–11.
- Simoneau, M., Lucotte, M., Garceau, S., Laliberté, D., 2005. Fish growth rates modulate mercury concentrations in walleye (Sander vitreus) from eastern Canadian lakes. Environ. Res. 98, 73–82.
- Sjölander, P., 2011. What is known about the health and living conditions of the indigenous people of northern Scandinavia, the Sami? Global health action 4, 11.

- Stern, G.A., Macdonald, R.W., Outridge, P.M., Wilson, S., Chételat, J., Cole, A., Hintelmann, H., Loseto, L.L., Steffen, A., Wang, F., Zdanowicz, C., 2012. How does climate change influence arctic mercury? Sci. Total Environ. 414, 22–42.
- Streets, D.G., Devane, M.K., Lu, Z., Bond, T.C., Sunderland, E.M., Jacob, D.J., 2011. All-time releases of mercury to the atmosphere from human activities. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 10485–10491.
- Sumner, A.W., Johnston, T.A., Lescord, G.L., Branfireun, B.A., Gunn, J.M., 2019. Mercury bioaccumulation in lacustrine fish populations along a climatic gradient in northern Ontario, Canada. Ecosystems 23, 1206–1226.
- Takimoto, G., Post, D.M., 2013. Environmental determinants of food-chain length: a metaanalysis. Ecol. Res. 28, 675–681.
- Thomas, S.M., Kiljunen, M., Malinen, T., Eloranta, A.P., Amundsen, P.A., Lodenius, M., Kahilainen, K.K., 2016. Food-web structure and mercury dynamics in a large subarctic lake following multiple species introductions. Freshw. Biol. 61, 500–517.
- Ukonmaanaho, L., Starr, M., Kantola, M., Laurén, A., Piispanen, J., Pietilä, H., Perämäki, P., Merilä, P., Fritze, H., Tuomivirta, T., Heikkinen, J., Mäkinen, J., Nieminen, T.M., 2016. Impacts of forest harvesting on mobilization of Hg and MeHg in drained peatland forests on black schist or felsic bedrock. Environ. Monit. Assess. 188, 1–22.
- Ullrich, S.M., Tanton, T.W., Abdrashitova, S.A., 2001. Mercury in the aquatic environment: a review of factors affecting methylation. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 31, 241–293.
- UNEP, 2008. Guidance for Identifying Populations at Risk From Mercury Exposure (Geneva, Switzerland).
- van der Velden, S., Dempson, J.B., Evans, M.S., Muir, D.C.G., Power, M., 2013. Basal mercury concentrations and biomagnification rates in freshwater and marine food webs: effects on Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*) from eastern Canada. Sci. Total Environ. 444, 531–542.
- Vander Zanden, M.J., Fetzer, W.W., 2007. Global patterns of aquatic food chain length. Oikos 116, 1378–1388.
- Venables, W.N., Ripley, B.D., 2002. Random and Mixed Effects. Modern Applied Statistics with S. Statistics and Computing. Springer, New York, USA, pp. 271–300.Verburg, P., Hickey, C.W., Phillips, N., 2014. Mercury biomagnification in three
- Verburg, P., Hickey, C.W., Phillips, N., 2014. Mercury biomagnification in three geothermally-influenced lakes differing in chemistry and algal biomass. Sci. Total Environ. 493, 342–354.
- Wang, W.X., 2012. Biodynamic understanding of mercury accumulation in marine and freshwater fish. Adv. Environ. Res. 1, 15–35.
- Watras, C.J., Bloom, N.S., 1992. Mercury and methylmercury, in individual zooplankton: implications for bioaccumulation. Limnol. Oceanogr. 37, 1313–1318.
- Watras, C.J., Back, R.C., Halvorsen, S., Hudson, R.J.M., Morrison, K.A., Wente, S.P., 1998. Bioaccumulation of mercury in pelagic freshwater food webs. Sci. Total Environ. 219, 183–208.



Mercury (Hg) is a toxic metal endangering fish and human health, therefore recognizing its pathways of accumulation in the aquatic food webs is crucial for safety measurements. Given the variety of lake properties are threatened by ongoing climate change and human activity, the aim of this thesis was to distinguish key ecological factors potentially explaining Hg in the aquatic food webs.

In this study, the relationship between Hg and amino acids, growth dilution, bioaccumulation at the base of the food web, and biomagnification were considered with a link to molecular, biological, and environmental factors. To address these issues, food webs from 19 lakes from a watercourse with climate and productivity gradient on the border of Sweden and Finland were studied.

The results indicate only proline significantly decreased with increasing Hg. Moreover, cysteine low content can enhance Hg bioaccumulation in fish. Hg growth dilution was evident in six fish species and the most efficient dilution was observed in mesotrophic lakes with high prey availability in relation to total fish abundance. Cold, oligotrophic lakes showed higher Hg biomagnification mainly due to their less complex food webs in lakes with large catchments. Contrary, Hg at the base of the food web and in top predator increased in more complex food webs in eutrophic lakes despite Hg biodilution in lake total biomass.

Increasing fish age, high trophic level, slow growth, and low lipid food source (low C:N ratio), were decisive variables increasing Hg content in fish. In general, intermediate environmental conditions represented the best habitat supporting Hg growth dilution and biodilution.



Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences